

Some pages of this thesis may have been removed for copyright restrictions.

If you have discovered material in Aston Research Explorer which is unlawful e.g. breaches copyright, (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please read our <u>Takedown policy</u> and contact the service immediately (openaccess@aston.ac.uk)

The Role of Tissue Transglutaminase in the Progression of Colorectal Cancer

Oluseyi Cyril Ayinde Doctor of Philosophy

ASTON UNIVERSITY September 2017

©Oluseyi Cyril Ayinde, 2017 Oluseyi Cyril Ayinde asserts his moral right to be identified as the author of this thesis

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without appropriate permission and acknowledgement.

Aston University

The Role of Tissue Transglutaminase in the Progression of Colorectal Cancer A thesis submitted by Oluseyi Cyril Ayinde For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, 2017

Thesis Summary

There is a significant loss in the efficacy of the current therapeutic regime on advanced colorectal cancer, highlighting the need to understand the tumour progression process, and to identify potential prognostic and/or therapeutic targets. This study employs well characterised human primary and metastatic colorectal cancer cell lines (CRCs); RKO, SW480 SW620, and HCT116 to investigate the involvement of pro-inflammatory protein tissue transglutaminase (TG2) in tumour progression.

Cancer progression was assessed by evaluating Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT), cancer cell invasion, drug resistance and the ability of CRCs to form spheroid containing cancer stem cells. TG2's expression was found to correlate with the advancement of the original tumour, markers of EMT, cell invasion, drug resistance, and cancer stemness. Manipulation of TG2 expression in the different CRCs by shRNA or TG2 transduction confirmed the relationship between TG2, EMT, tumour invasion and drug resistance.

TGF β 1 was shown to regulate TG2 expression and EMT in primary tumour cell lines by both canonical and non-canonical (RKO and SW480) signalling pathways. TGF β 1 also induced TG2 in the highly advanced HCT116 cells. However, the metastatic SW620 cell line was non-responsive to TGF β 1, but TG2 was associated with the increased presence of nuclear β -catenin in these cells, and TG2's inhibition/knockdown led to an increased interaction between β -catenin and ubiquitin as determined by co-immunoprecipitation. Interestingly, β -catenin and TG2 were found to be highly expressed in spheroids containing cancer stem-like cells only formed in the aggressive SW620 and HCT116 cell lines. These cancer stem cells were associated with heightened EMT, cellular invasion and angiogenic potential, which was attenuated following TG2 inhibition. TG2 may play a role in tumour progression in human CRCs through its involvement in EMT and the acquisition of cancer stem cell-like properties and may hold both prognostic and therapeutic potentials in colorectal cancer.

Acknowledgements

While I am responsible for this thesis, it is however a product of years of interaction, motivation and inspiration by, a large number of friends and colleagues.

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for His grace and strengthening me through this journey. My sincere gratitude goes to my Supervisor, Professor Martin Griffin, for the opportunity to work on this project and be a part of his Lab. I am also grateful for his mentoring, encouragement, patience, commitment and the invaluable knowledge he has impacted on me. My gratitude also goes to Dr Zhuo Vivian Wang for her dedication, tutelage in the laboratory and commitment to ensuring my success in this project.

I would also like to thank Dr James Brown and Dr Russell Collighan for their help, advise, encouragement and support throughout this study.

Many thanks to members of Lab MB633 past and present, without whom the past few years would have gone by very slowly.

A big thank you to my Wife and soul mate, Esther, to whom my gratitude is beyond words. Thank you to my parents, and my sisters who have always supported me and are always there when I need them.

Finally, I also wish to thank the Aston University School of Life and Health sciences for their financial and technical support.

Thesis Summary	2
Acknowledgements	3
List of Tables	9
List of Figures	10
List of Abbreviations	13
1.1 INTRODUCTION	17
1.2 Cancer	
1.2.1 Colorectal Cancer	19
1.2.1.1 Aetiology of Colorectal Cancer	19
1.2.1.2 Current Treatment for Colorectal Cancer	20
1.3 The Transglutaminase Family	21
1.3.1 Transglutaminase 1 (Keratinocyte transglutaminase)	22
1.3.2 Transglutaminase 3 (Epidermal Transglutaminase)	22
1.3.3 Transglutaminase 4 (Prostate transglutaminase)	23
1.3.4 Transglutaminase 5	23
1.4 TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE	24
1.4.1 Structure of TG2	25
1.4.2 Regulation of TG2 Gene expression	26
1.4.3 REGULATION OF TG2 ACTIVITY	
1.4.4 Externalization of TG2	
1.5 PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF TG2	31
1.5.1 Intracellular Function of TG2	31
1.5.2 Plasma membrane Functions of TG2	32
1.5.3 Extracellular Function of TG2	
1.6 THE ROLE OF TG2 IN PATHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS	34
1.6.1 TG2 and Tumour Progression	35
1.6.1.1 TG2 is involved in sustaining proliferative signals	
1.6.1.2 TG2 is employed by Tumour Cells to Evade Growth Suppressors	
1.6.1.3 Tumour Promoting Inflammation	
1.6.1.4 Deregulating Cellular Energetics	
1.6.1.5 Role of TG2 in angiogenesis during cancer progression	
1.6.1.6 Activating Invasion and Metastasis	
1.6.1.6.4 TG2 enhances autophagy resistance in Tumour cells	42
1.7 Cell Signalling aberrations in colorectal cancer	44
1.7.1 Pathogenic Classification of CRCs	44
1.7.2 Cytokines and signalling pathways associated with colorectal cancer	45

Table of Contents

1.7.2.1 WNT Signalling Pathway	45
1.7.2.2 TGF β 1: A pleiotropic cytokine associated with EMT and tumour progression	
(canonical and non-canonical)	47
1.7.2.2.1 TGFβ/SMAD signalling pathway	48
1.8 Colorectal cancer stem cells	52
1.8.1 Tumour spheroid culture as an in vitro method for cancer stem cell (CSC) enrichn	nent 53
1.9 Aims and Objectives	54
Chapter 2	56
2.0 Materials and Methods	56
2.1 Materials	56
2.1.2 Chemicals	56
2.1.3 Equipment	57
2.1.4 Cell Lines	57
2.2 METHODS	58
2.2.1 Cell culture techniques	58
2.2.1.1 Culture conditions of cells	58
2.2.1.2 Passaging of Adherent Cells	58
2.2.1.3 Cell counting using haemocytometer	58
2.2.1.4 Freezing and defrosting of cell lines	58
2.2.2 Lentiviral Transduction	59
2.2.2.1 Lentivirus production of TG2 plasmids	59
2.2.2.2 Lenti-X viral concentration	60
2.2.2.3 Lentiviral Titre value	60
2.2.2.4. Viral transduction for epithelial CRCs in submerged culture	60
2.2.3 Preparation of whole cell lysate	61
2.2.4 Protein Concentration	61
2.2.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate- Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	61
2.2.6 Western Blotting of Proteins	63
2.2.7 Immunodevelopment of Western blots	63
2.2.8 Stripping and re-probing of nitrocellulose membrane	65
2.2.9 Detection of whole cell lysate TG2 activity via Biotin Cadaverine incorporation	65
2.2.10 Cell viability analysis using XTT Assay	66
2.2.11 Chemosensitivity Assay	66
2.2.12 Statistical analysis	67
Chapter 3	69
3.0 TG2 correlates with tumour progression, and epithelial to mesenchymal transition in v	itro
	69

3.1Introduction	69
3.2 Aim and Objectives	72
3.3METHODS	73
3.3.1 Determining Cell Morphology	73
3.3.2 Cell Invasion assay	73
3.3.3 Cell Adhesion Assay	74
3.3.4 Cell motility as measured by cell scratch/wound assay	74
3.3.5 In situ TG2 Activity assay	74
3.3.6 Immunofluorescence (IF) Staining	75
3.3.7 RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis	75
3.3.8 Reverse Transcription of RNA to cDNA	76
3.3.9 Reverse transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	77
3.4 RESULTS	79
3.4.1 Characterisation of CRCs on basis of Invasion, Cell Motility, EMT, Drug resistan and TG2 expression and activity levels.	ice 79
3.4.1.1 Cell morphology and cellular proliferation	79
3.4.1.2 Invasive capacity amongst the three cell lines	81
3.4.1.3 Assays to determine capacity for adhesion and motility	82
3.4.1.4 Markers of Epithelial to mesenchymal Transition and CRC disease progression are upregulated in metastatic cell SW620	on 84
3.4.1.5 Metastatic cell line SW620 exhibit high drug resistance	86
3.4.1.6 TG2 is highly expressed in the Metastatic CRC disease model	89
3.4.2 TG2 expression and activity is associated with cellular invasion, EMT, cell motility and drug resistance	91
3.4.2.1 TG2 may be required for EMT in this CRC model	91
3.4.2.3 Empty vector transduction cells are comparable to the wt CRCs	97
3.4.2.3 TG2 expression correlates with expression of EMT transcription Factors	97
3.4.2.4 TG2 inhibitor 1-155 is a potent inhibitor of TG2 at small doeses	98
3.4.2.5 Cellular inhibition of TG2 attenuates EMT in CRCs	99
3.4.2.6 TG2 induces in-vitro cellular invasion in the SW480 and SW620	.102
3.4.2.7 TG2 fosters in vitro cell motility in CRCs	.104
3.4.2.8 TG2 may promote a drug resistance phenotype in CRCs	.106
3.5 Discussion	.108
3.6 Conclusion	.114
4.0 TG2 Induces EMT via multiple cellular signalling mechanisms in colorectal cancer ce	ells
	.116
4.1 INTRODUCTION	.116
4.2 Aims and Objectives	.118

4.3 METHODS	119
4.3.1 Dot Blotting for Proteins	119
4.3.2 Detection of secreted TGFβ1 by ELISA	119
4.3.3 Cell Surface TG2 activity assay	120
4.3.4 Cytosolic and Nuclear Extraction of Proteins	120
4.3.5 Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP)	122
4.3.6 Measurement of biotin-X-cadaverine incorporation into cellular TG2 protein substrates	122
4.4 RESULTS	123
4.4.1 TGF β 1 induces TG2 and EMT in CRCs via both canonical and non-canonical matrix	eans 123
4.4.1.1TGFβ1 induces TG2 in Primary CRCs RKO and SW480	123
4.4.1.2 TGFβ1 induces TG2 in a dose-dependent fashion	125
4.4.1.3 TGFβ1 induces EMT in CRCs following Smad activation	126
4.4.1.2 TGFβ1has no effect on EMT in SW480 cells transduced with TG2	128
4.4.2 TGFβ1 induces EMT in primary CRCs RKO and SW480 by non-canonical signalling involving extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)	130
4.4.2.1 TGFβ1 activates extracellular signal kinase (ERK) in Primary CRCs	130
4.4.2.2 Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) may play a role in TGF β 1 induc TG2 expression	ed 132
4.4.3 TG2 and TGFβ1 contribute to a positive feedback loop	134
4.4.3.1 TG2 correlates with cellular TGFβ1 in CRCs	134
4.4.3.2 TG2 inhibition reduces cellular and matrix-bound TGFβ1	136
4.4.3.3 Inhibition of Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) reduces c-JUN and cellular TGFβ1 expression	l 138
4.4.3.4 TG2 induces activation of Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) may	
increase TGFβ1 expression	140
4.4.4 TG2 induces EMT via multiple mechanisms in the different colon cancer cell lin	es.
4.4.4.1 Characterisation of CDCs for Wat/R sciencilling	142
4.4.4.1 Characterisation of CKCs for whit p-caterin Signaling	142
ubiquitination	143
4.4.4.3 TG2 interacts with cellular β -catenin	145
4.4.4 4 TG2 interacts with cellular β -catenin and the consequent nuclear translocation β -catenin is integrin and Src-independent in SW620 cells	on of 147
4.4.4.5 TG2 inhibition potentiates β -catenin ubiquitination	149
4.4.5 Extracellular TG2 may be necessary for TG2 induced EMT in Primary CRCs	150
4.4.6 Cytoplasmic TG2 may be essential for TG2 induced EMT in colorectal metastati cell line SW620	с 152

4.5 DISCUSSION	.154
4.6 Conclusion	.159
Chapter 5	.161
5.0 TG2 is upregulated in colorectal tumour spheroids characterised with stem-like	
phenotype	.161
5.1 INTRODUCTION	.161
5.2 AIM AND OBJECTIVES	.163
5.3 METHODS	.164
5.3.1 Tumour Spheroid Formation Assay on Poly-HEMA coated Plates	.164
5.3.2 Passaging of Tumour Sphere cells	.164
5.3.3 Poly-HEMA Coating of cell culture plates	.164
5.3.4 Immunophenotyping by Flow Cytometry	.165
5.3.5 Dot Blotting for Proteins	.165
5.5.6 Matrigel endothelial cord formation assay	.166
5.3.7 Soft Agar Colony Formation	.166
5.4 RESULTS	.167
5.4.1 Colorectal cancer stem cell phenotype correlates with the aggressive nature of the cancer	, .167
5.4.2 CD44 and transcription marker of stem cells is upregulated in Spheroid cells	.169
5.4.3 TG2 and EMT is upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells	.172
5.4.4 Colorectal stem-like cells display an invasive phenotype in vitro	.176
5.4.5 TG2 plays a role in the formation of spheroids	.178
5.4.6 Stem cell regulator β -catenin is upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells	.180
5.4.7 TG2 may regulate β -catenin expression in colorectal cancer stem cells	.182
5.4.9 Tumour Spheroids containing cancer stem cells promote increased angiogenesis .	.185
5.4.10 TG2 induced β-catenin expression increases VEGF release into culture medium inducing angiogenesis in endothelial cells	.188
5.5 DISCUSSION	.191
5.6 Conclusion	.194
6.0 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE WORK	.196
6.1 DISCUSSION	.196
6.2 Future Work	.208
References	.210

List of Tables

- Table 1.1 Transglutaminase location and Function
- Table 1.2 Anti-Wnt Therapeutics in human Phase 1 studies
- Table 1.3 Anti- TGF β 1 signalling Therapeutics in human Phase 1 studies
- Table 2.1 TG2 shRNA target sequences
- Table 2.2 Composition of SDS-Resolving Gel
- Table 2.3 Composition of SDS-Stacking gel
- Table 2.4 List of primary antibodies used and their source
- Table 2.5 List of secondary antibodies used and their source

Table 3.1 PCR Mix

Table 3.2 Primer sequences for PCR

Table 5.1 Required amount of poly-HEMA solution for dish coating

List of Figures

- Figure 1.1 Transamidating activity of Transglutaminase 2.
- Figure 1.2 TG2 protein secondary Structure and Function
- Figure 1.3 Regulation of TG2 gene expression (TGM2)
- Figure 1.4 TG2 3D Structure regulates Function
- Figure 1.5 TG2's evolving cellular interactome
- Figure 1.6 Hallmarks of Cancer
- Figure 1.7 Cellular changes during EMT

Figure 1.8. TG2 is involved in multiple cellular mechanisms that drive inflammation and EMT in fibrosis and cancer

- Figure 1.9 Overview of the Wnt/β-catenin Pathway
- Figure 1.10 Smad-dependent and -independent transforming growth factor β (TGF β) pathways
- Figure 3.1.1 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition Promotes Tumour Progression
- Figure 3.4.1. Physical characterisation of CRCs- RKO, SW480, and SW620.
- Figure 3.4.2 Characterisation on the invasive potential of CRCs.
- Figure 3.4.3 Metastatic cell line is distinct on the basis of cell motility and adhesion
- Figure 3.4.4. Characterisation of CRCs on EMT and markers of disease severity
- Figure 3.4.5. Drug Response of CRCs to 5-Fluorouracil (5FU)
- Figure 3.4.6. Drug Response of CRCs to doxorubicin.
- Figure 3.4.7 Characterisation of CRCs for TG2 expression level.
- Figure 3.4.8 Transduction efficiency of TG2 shRNA in SW620 and SW480 cells
- Figure 3.4.9 TG2 expression correlates with expression of EMT markers.
- Figure 3.4.10 TG2 expression corresponds with EMT in CRCs

Figure 3.4.11 Lentiviral manipulation of TG2 expression affects cellular morphology and TG2 activity

Figure 3.4.12 WT CRCs show comparable TG2 and EMT markers expression to control vector transduced cells

- Figure 3.4.13 TG2 knockdown reduces cellular expression of EMT transcription factors in SW620 cells.
- Figure 3.4.14 Treatment of CRCs with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 does not affect cell viability of CRCs
- Figure 3.4.15 Cellular inhibition of TG2 attenuates EMT
- Figure 3.4.16 TG2 plays a role in increased cellular Invasion in CRCs
- Figure 3.4.17 TG2 expression or activity impacts on cell motility of CRCs.
- Figure 3.4.18 TG2 expression may modulate chemoresistance in CRCs
- Figure 4.3.1 Flow chart of subcellular Fractionation.
- Figure 4.4.1 CRCs express elements of the TGF_β1signalling pathway
- Figure 4.4.2 TGF^{β1} induces TG2 expression in primary CRCs RKO and SW480
- Figure 4.4.3 Increasing TGF^{β1} concentration increases TG2 expression
- Figure 4.4.4 TGFβ1 induces EMT in primary CRCs RKO and SW480.

Figure 4.4.5. TGF^{β1} does not significantly affect EMT in SW480 cells with ectopic TG2 expression

- Figure 4.4.6 TGFβ1 activates ERK1/2 signalling in primary CRCs RKO and SW480
- Figure 4.4.7 ERK1/2 plays a role in TGF β 1 induced TG2.
- Figure 4.4.8 TG2 correlates with TGFβ1 expression and release into cell culture media.
- Figure 4.4.9 TG2 inhibition reduces cellular and matrix bound TGFβ1
- Figure 4.4.10 In vitro Cell surface TG2 activity in primary CRCs
- Figure 4.4.11 ERK1/2 activation correlates with cellular TGF^β1 expression
- Figure 4.4.12 TG2 is associated with ERK1/2 activation and subsequent cellular TGF_{β1} expression

Figure 4.4.13 Western blotting showing the characterisation of some of the elements of the β -catenin signalling pathway

Figure 4.4.14 TG2 facilitates nuclear accumulation of β-catenin in metastatic SW620 cells

Figure 4.4.15 TG2 interracts with β -catenin in metastatic SW620 cells

- Figure 4.4.16 Expression of Src signalling molecules in CRCs with altered TG2 expression.
- Figure 4.4.17 Src interacts with β -catenin in a TG2 independent manner in SW620 cells.
- Figure 4.4.18 TG2 inhibition facilitates β -catenin interaction with ubiquitin in metastatic SW620 cells
- Figure 4.4.19 Extracellular TG2 may play a role in TG2 induced EMT in primary CRCs

Figure 4.4.20 Inhibition of extracellular TG2 does not affect EMT in metastatic SW620 cells

- Figure 4.5.1 Proposed mechanism of TG2 induced expression of TGF_{β1} and TGF_{β1} regulation of TG2
- Figure 4.5.2. Proposed mechanism of TG2 regulation of β -catenin
- Figure 5.4.1Aggressive cancer cell lines form spheroids in non adherent cell culture.
- Figure 5.4.2 In vitro Spheroid Formation
- Figure 5.4.3 Spheroid cells display stem like properties.
- Figure 5.4.4 Flow cytometry detection of CD44 in monolayer and spheroid cells

Figure 5.4.5 TG2 and EMT is upregulated in Spheroid cells with stem cell like properties.

Figure 5.4.6 TG2 knockdown or inhibition attenuates EMT in HCT116 cells.

Figure 5.4.7 Empty Vector transduction has comparable TG2 and EMT profile to wild type cells

Figure 5.4.8 TG2 inhibition reduces invasiveness of colorectal cancer spheroids with stem cell properties in SW620 cells.

Figure 5.4.9 TG2 inhibition reduces invasiveness of colorectal cancer spheroids with stem cell properties in HCT116 cells

- Figure 5.4.10 TG2 induces a colorectal stem cell like property in SW620 and HCT116 cells
- Figure 5.4.11 Intestinal stem cell regulator β -catenin is overexpressed in Spheroid derived

Figure 5.4.12 TG2 governs intestinal stem cell regulator β -catenin

Figure 5.4.13 ERK 1/2 inhibition reduces spheroid formation

Figure 5.4.14 Spheroid containing colorectal cancer stem like cells induce angiogenesis in vitro

Figure 5.4.15 Angiogenic factors are over expressed in colorectal cancer spheroids containing stem cells.

Figure 5.16 TG2 inhibition reduces the release of VEGF from CRC spheroids.

Figure 5.4.17 TG2 knockdown or Inhibition reduces VEGF expression in CRCs.

Figure 6.1 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition plays an essential role in Tumour Progression

Figure 6.2. Proposed mechanism of TG2 regulation of EMT and stem cell formation in colorectal cancer cells

Figure 6.3 TG2 promotes EMT, drug resistance, cancer stem cell formation, angiogenesis and tumour Progression in colorectal cancer cells

Figure 6.4. TG2 as a potential Target in regulating colorectal cancer progression.

List of Abbreviations

Αβ	Amyloid beta- protein			
AP-1	Activator protein 1			
ATP	Adenosine 5'- triphosphate			
BRAF	V-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1			
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin			
Ca_2^+	Free Calcium ions			
CaCl ₂	Calcium Chloride			
CCl ₄	Carbon tetrachloride			
CD	Celiac disease			
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid			
c-MYC	V-myc avian myelocytomatosis viral oncogene			
	homolog			
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide			
CSC	Colon cancer stem cells			
CRCs	Colorectal cancer cells			
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenvlindole			
DLK	Dual leucine zipper bearing kinase			
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagles' medium			
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide			
DNA, cDNA, gDNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid, complementary			
/ /8	deoxyribonucleic acid, genomic deoxyribonucleic acid			
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide			
DTT	Dithiothreitol			
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence			
ECM	Extracellular matrix			
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid			
EGF	Epithelial growth factor			
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition			
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase			
EV	Empty vector			
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase			
FBS	Foetal Bovine serum			
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate			
FN	Fibronectin			
FXIII	Factor XIII			
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase			
GDP	Guanosine 5'diphosphate			
GTP	Guanosine 5'- triphosphate			
GTPase	Guanosine 5'- triphosphatase			
GSK-3	Glycogensynthase kinase-3			
h	hour/ hours			
HD	Huntington's disease			
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma			
HKP	Horseradish peroxidase			
HS H 1	Heparan sulphate			
	Interleukin - I			
112-0 IvaD	Interleukin - 0 Indikiton of 40			
IKD INIZ	IIIIIDIIOFOF-KD			
	CJuli IN-terminal Kinases Kilodolton			
мја 1 рр	Kiloualloll Lymphoid onhoncor hinding foster			
LEF I TRD	Lympholu enhancer-officing factor			
TT ht	Large fatent rorp officing protein			

Μ	Molar			
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase			
MEK	MAPK kinase 1			
MET	Mesenchymal-epithelial transition			
Min	minute/ minutes			
ml	Milliliters			
MLH1	MutL homologue 1			
MMR	Mismatch repair			
mM	Millimolar			
MMPs	metalloproteinase			
MSI	Microsatellite Instability			
MSS	Microsatellite stabile			
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin			
ΝFκB	Nuclear factor kappa - light chain enhancer of activated B			
	cells			
nM	Nanomolar			
nm	Nanometer			
NO	Nitric oxide			
⁰ C	Degree Celcius			
OCT 3/4	Octamer-3/4			
OPD	<i>o</i> -phenylenediamine			
ORF	Open reading frame			
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis			
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline			
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction			
PDI	Protein disulphide isomerase			
nH	Negative log of hydrogen ion concentration			
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3, kinases			
PKCa	Protein kinase C alpha			
РКСб	Protein kinase C delta			
PLC	Phospholipase C			
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride			
RA	Retinoic acid			
RAF	Ranidly accelerated fibrosarcoma			
RAS	Rapidry accelerated norosarconia Rat sarcoma			
Rh	Retinoblastoma gene			
RNA. mRNA	Ribonucleic acid messenger ribonucleic acid			
RNase	Ribonuclease			
ROS	Reactive oxygen species			
SMAD 2. 3	Mothers against decapentanlegic homolog 2-3			
SDS 2, C	Sodium dodecyl sulphate			
SDS- PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate- polyacrylamide gel			
	electrophoresis			
shRNA	short hairpin ribonucleic acid			
SOX2	Sex determining region Y (SRY)-related high mobility			
	group (HMG) box 2			
TEMED	N.N.N'.N'-tetramethylene diamine			
TBE	Tris/Borate/Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid			
TG	Transglutaminase			
TG2	Tissue transglutaminase			
TGase	Transglutaminases			
TGFβ1	Transforming growth factor beta 1			
· TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor - alpha			
Tris	Tris (Hydroxymethyl)-amino ethane			
VEGF	Vascular Endothelia growth factor			

Vascular Endothelia growth factor receptor 1,2		
volume/volume		
Wingless type		
weight/ volume		
G- force		
Sodium 3'-[1-(phenylamino-carbonyl)-3,4-tetrazolium]-bis		
(4-methoxy-6-nitro) benzene sulfonic acid hydrate		
Zebularine		
Zonal occludin		
Micro		
Microlitre		
Micromolar		

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer in the world and a major cause of morbidity and mortality. Although advances have been made in the treatment of CRC over the last decade with the introduction of new surgical techniques, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy, the overall survival rate of patients with CRC has not shown marked improvement (Liu et al., 2011). Survival of the disease is highly dependent upon the stage of disease at diagnosis and typically ranges from a 90% 5-year survival rate for cancers detected at the localized stage; 70% for regional; to 10% for people diagnosed with distant metastatic cancer (Leng et al., 2013). Metastasis plays a critical role in the poor prognosis, and more than one-third of patients with CRC will ultimately develop metastatic disease. The poor survival rate in metastatic cancer is partly due to increased aggressiveness of the cancer and reduced response rates to chemotherapy. Longley et al., (2003) reported a 10–15% response rate of advanced CRCs to 5fluorouracil (5FU) a single first-line treatment in advanced CRC.

The bulk of carcinoma cells generally exhibit predominantly epithelial characteristics. However, in order to invade, disseminate to distant tissues and subsequently form metastatic colonies, neoplastic epithelial cells must shift, at least transiently, into a more mesenchymal phenotype. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) is a physiological process found in embryonic development, tissue remodelling, wound healing and fibrosis (Fan et al., 2012) however in neoplasms it is a critical step in the progression of tumour cells from the *in situ* carcinoma to distant metastases. Furthermore, recent reports also suggest that EMT results in the acquisition of other properties involved in carcinoma progressions, such as increased resistance to apoptosis, drug resistance, apoptosis and the acquisition of stem cell-like properties (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

Tissue transglutaminase is a multifunctional enzyme involved in a number of cell functions including the post-translational modification of proteins, as a scaffold protein in cell adhesion and as a cell signalling protein (Griffin et al., 2002, Eckert et al., 2014). TG2 also acts as an important part of a pro-inflammatory response and has been associated with EMT in both fibrosis and cancer (Wang et al., 2017). TG2 is associated with various physiological and pathological conditions (Wang et al., 2012). Clinical studies have correlated TG2 expression in metastatic cancer and poor survival outcomes of ovarian, breast and colon cancer patients (Hwang et al., 2008, Oh et al., 2011). Studies also suggest

that TG2 mediates several aspects of cancer cell behaviour, including motility, invasion, growth, and survival (Verderio et al., 1999, Wang and Griffin, 2013, Kumar and Mehta, 2013). Although recent studies in different cancer cell types suggest a role for TG2 in EMT as highlighted by a possible crosstalk between TG2 and three critical pathways in EMT i.e. TGF β 1, WNT- β -catenin and NF κ B (Mann et al., 2006, Cao et al., 2012), there still remains a number of conflicting reports on the importance of TG2 in cancer progression with respect to its pro and/or anti-cancer roles (Torricelli et al., 2013, Kotsakis et al., 2011, Fok and Mehta, 2007). This may in part be accounted for by the pleiotropic nature of TG2 owing to its multifunctional roles (Kotsakis et al., 2011).

Consequently, this study will attempt to understand the role of TG2 in human colorectal cancer by examining the correlation of TG2 expression with CRC disease stage. Using EMT as a threshold for progression in a myriad of dysregulated cellular processes preceding tumour metastasis and tumour drug resistance the importance of TG2 in facilitating EMT will be investigated and the mechanism(s) which TG2 and its partner proteins uses to facilitate EMT will be elucidated.

1.2 Cancer

Cancer is a pathological condition characterised by uncontrolled cell growth, metastasis, and invasion. It is the world's largest cause of non-communicable disease-related death after hypertension and heart-related pathologies (Chhabra et al., 2009). The aetiology of cancer as a disease can be associated with the need of incipient cancer cells to acquire the traits that enable them to become tumorigenic and ultimately malignant. In this regard Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) have described eight different capabilities or hallmarks of cancer cells which include: the ability of cancer cells to evade growth suppressors and avoid immune detection; possess replicative immortality, invasion and metastasis; ability to induce angiogenesis and possession of genome instability and resistance to cell death; deregulation of cellular energetics, sustaining proliferative signal and promoting inflammation.

1.2.1 Colorectal Cancer

In the United Kingdom, colorectal cancer accounts for 12% of all diagnosed cancers per year (37,514 people diagnosed/year. It is the third most common cancer affecting women (after breast and lung cancer) and men (after prostate and lung cancer). The incidence of colorectal cancer is strongly related to age, with nearly 85% of all cases arising in people aged 60 years or over (CRUK, 2017). Clinically colorectal cancer is classified using the Dukes' staging system, ranging from stage A to stage D with stage A being the less severe stage. The Dukes' system of classification is used to describe the extent of invasion or spread of a tumour, which is related to overall survival. For instance, colorectal cancer patients classified as stage D have a 3% survival chance compared with a Dukes' stage A classification with an 83% overall chance of survival; estimated over a five-year period (Campbell et al., 2001).

1.2.1.1 Aetiology of Colorectal Cancer

The aetiology of colorectal cancer can be varied and complex, including genetic, somatic, lifestyle and inherited mutations. Inflammation, diet type, hormones, gut flora and energy balance have been reported to play some significant role in the development of CRCs (Slattery and Fitzpatrick, 2009). There are broadly two molecular alterations that lead to increased function of oncogenes and loss of tumour suppressor genes. The first is the clonal selection of cells, which allows for the accumulation of a plethora of defects in a cancer cell. The conversion of cellular genes into oncogenic variants can result from specific point mutations or rearrangements that alter gene structure and function, and this describes the second major classification. In general majority of the mutations or inactivation of tumour suppressor genes are somatic and not hereditary in CRCs as often found in other cancer types. It is estimated that only 15-30% of CRCs have a hereditary component. Furthermore, the majority of hereditary CRCs are as a result of the hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) syndromes, and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and other closely related variant syndromes (Fearon, 2011). Certain genes are frequently mutated in CRCs, and in a study by Muzny et al., (2012) covering 276 somatic genes APC, *TP53, KRAS, PIK3CA, FBXW7, SMAD4, TCF7L2*, and *NRAS.; CTNNB1, SMAD2, FAM123B* (also known as *WTX*), *SOX9, ACVR2A, APC, TGFBR2, MSH3, MSH6, SLC9A9*,

BRAF(V600E) and TCF7L2 were the most frequently mutated genes. They further showed in 195 CRC tumours that there were recurrent alterations in the WNT, MAPK, PI3K, TGF β 1 and p53 pathways, and amongst these mutations, two signalling pathways stood out as being affected the most by mutations. The WNT signalling pathway was altered in 93% of all tumours assessed, similarly the TGF β signalling pathway was characterised by mutations in the TGF β R1, TGF β R2, ACVR2A, ACVR1B, SMAD2, SMAD3 and SMAD4 in 27% of the non-hypermutated and 87% of the hypermutated tumours.

Tissue transglutaminase a multifunctional protein- enzyme has been reported to interact with both WNT and TGF β signalling in pathologies such as carcinomas (Cao et al., 2012, Condello et al., 2013) and in fibrosis (Nyabam et al., 2016). However, little has been reported on the role of TG2 in these signalling pathways in colorectal cells.

1.2.1.2 Current Treatment for Colorectal Cancer

First line treatment for colorectal cancer is surgery followed by chemotherapy to try to kill off residual cancer cells (Goodnight et al., 2000). Surgery is curative in most patients, however cancers cells left from the primary site after surgery or patients with either circulating tumour cells or with metastatic lesions will require further chemotherapy. The most common chemotherapeutic treatment for advanced colorectal cancer has been 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) since its development in 1957 by Heidelberger (Jordan, 2016). The 5-FU molecule is bio-transformed within cells into an active metabolite that interferes and inhibits DNA synthesis and repair by forming a stable ternary complex with thymidylate synthase (TS) (deGramont et al., 1997). In a bid to increase the efficacy of chemotherapy other chemotherapeutic drugs have been developed that are 5-FU analogues (Goldberg and Gill, 2004). For instance, fluoropyrimidine (Capecitabine) is a prodrug of 5-FU. Fluoropyrimidine is converted to 5-FU by thymidine phosphorylase (TP) and/or uridine phosphorylase (UP), enzymes which are more active in tumour cell (Longley et al., 2003). This improves the specificity of Fluoropyrimidine as a 5-FU based drug in tumour cells as against normal cells.

Various combination therapies have been developed to further boost the efficacy of chemotherapy for instance fluoropyrimidine (Capecitabine) a prodrug of 5-FU has been used in combination with leucovorin (folinic acid) and irinotecan (also known as CPT-11, a topoisomerase I inhibitor) in a chemotherapeutic cocktail referred to as FOLFIRI [FOL from folinic acid, F from 5-FU and IRI from

irinotecan]; another combination strategy involves fluoropyrimidine and folinic acid combined with oxaliplatin (a platinum-based compound that forms DNA adducts) referred to as FOLFOX [OX from oxaliplatin] (Goldberg and Gill, 2004).

Toxicity of the various chemotherapeutic drugs mentioned can lead to serious side effects including, nausea, diarrhea, neurotoxicity, pulmonary toxicity and interstitial pneumonia are among the major limitations for patient treatment (Montagnani et al., 2011)

A number of new drugs that aim to improve efficacy of treatment while reducing side effects, include S-1, bevacizumab (Avastin), cetuximab (Erbitux), panitumumab, adriamycin (doxorubicin hydrochloride), mitomycin, 5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine (5'-DFUR) and uracil-tegafur (UFT) which have been developed (Andre and Schmiegel, 2005), with response rates of CRCs to combination therapy now high. Subsequent retreatment following a relapse is however usually unsuccessful due to the development of resistance (Peters and Vangroeningen, 1991), and resistance to chemotherapeutic agents remains one of the major reasons for the death of colon cancer patients after surgery. Therefore, it is essential that new strategies are developed that can re-sensitise CRCs to 5-FU-based therapies or by the finding of new therapeutic targets which needs a better understanding of the mechanisms that cause drug resistance in CRCs. It is for this reason researcher are beginning to explore the potential role of tissue transglutaminase in tumour progression.

1.3 The Transglutaminase Family

Transglutaminases (TGs EC 2.3.2.13) are a family of Ca²⁺ dependent enzymes that are structurally and functionally related. These enzymes are involved in post-translational modification of proteins by catalysing protein-protein cross-linking, amine incorporation and site-specific deamidation (Mehta et al., 2010). The cross-linking activity of these enzymes is associated with an acyl-transfer reaction between the γ -carboxamide group of peptide-bound glutamine and the ε -amino group of peptide-bound lysine, resulting in a ε -(γ -glutamyl)lysine isopeptide bond. In general, TGs are widely distributed in nature and have been identified in micro-organisms, plants, invertebrates, and vertebrates. In mammals, eight TG isoenzymes including one TG-like protein have been identified at the genomic level. These

are keratinocyte transglutaminase (TG1), epidermal transglutaminase (TG3), prostate transglutaminase (TG4), trangutaminases 5,6, and 7; factor XIII, erythrocyte band 3.2, and TG2 (Brabletz, 2012).

1.3.1 Transglutaminase 1 (Keratinocyte transglutaminase)

Transglutaminase 1, (TG1) is a membrane-bound and soluble transglutaminase which is involved in the terminal differentiation of the cornified envelope in keratinocytes (Itoh et al., 2013), whereas an inactive zymogen of the enzyme exists and is activated only during the terminal differentiation of keratinocytes to form the cornified envelope. TG1 has also been found in cell-cell adheren junctions in lung, liver and kidney epithelial cells and has been reported to be localised with cell-cell adheren junction proteins such as E-Cadherin and zona occludens, (Hiiragi et al., 1999). Physiologically TG1 has been shown to be relevant in the keratinization process, as found in TG1 null mice which showed defective keratinization in epidermal development. Additionally, it was observed that there was no compensatory mechanism from other transglutaminases as the TG1 knockout in the mice led to fatality resulting from dehydration (Martinet, 2003).

1.3.2 Transglutaminase 3 (Epidermal Transglutaminase)

Transglutaminase 3 (TG3) has been found in the inner root sheath of the hair canal (Steinert et al. 1999) and the distal end of the outer root sheath (Thibaut et al., 2009). TG3 performs protein crosslinking activity of trichohyalin and keratin intermediate filaments, which make up the structure of the hair follicle, giving the hair tensile strength and shape (Lee et al., 1996). Like TG1, TG3 exists as an inactive zymogen, which undergoes proteolytic activation into its active complex of 50/27 kDa transglutaminase. TG3 activity has been found to be predominately located in inner root sheath of the hair canal and hair shaft (Thibaut et al., 2009); thus suggesting a structural role for TG3 where it supports scaffolding.

Transglutaminase	Function	Gene	Cellular localisation	Tissue distribution
TG1	Keratinocyte differentiation	TGM1	Cytosol, membrane	Epidermis
TG2	Multiple	TGM2	Cytosol, membrane, nucleus, extracellular matrix	Ubiquitous
TG3	Cell envelope formation	TGM3	cytosol	Squamous epithelium
TG4	Semen coagulation, protection of spermatozoa	TGM4	unknown	Prostate
TG5	Keratinocyte differentiation, Cell envelope formation	TGM5	unknown	Ubiquitous
TG6	Unknown	TGM6	Unknown	Unknown
TG7	Unknown	TGM7	Unknown	Ubiquitous
FXIIIA	Blood coagulation	F13A1	Cytosol, extracellular	platelets
Band 4.2	Erythrocyte membrane integration	EBP42	membrane	Cells of the erythroid lineage

Table 2.1 Transglutaminase location and Function

1.3.3 Transglutaminase 4 (Prostate transglutaminase)

Transglutaminase 4 (TG4) is a 77kDa protein located in the prostate where it is stimulated by androgens (Dubbink et al., 1996). In rats, TG4 is a glycosylated protein, and plays a role in the formation of the copulatory track, by masking the antigenicity of male gamete preventing sperm cells from immune destruction after copulation. Similarly, TG4 in human is has been reported to be essential in male reproduction. However increased mRNA expression of TG4 has been associated with prostate cancer; and increased TG4 in sera has been identified as a male-specific autoantigen in male infertility associated with Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 (APS1)(Landegren et al., 2015, Iismaa, 2016).

1.3.4 Transglutaminase 5

Transglutaminase 5 is a ubiquitous transglutaminase about 81kDa protein and has been associated with terminal differentiation of the cornified envelope and hair follicle, as an active enzyme (Candi et al., 2001). In keratinocytes, TG5 has been found to be deposited in the cytosol and localized perinuclearly

(Candi et al., 2001). TG5 has also been found to co-localise with vimentin which acts as an acyl donor in intracellular filament network of fibroblasts and thus may play a role in epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Candi et al., 2001, Iismaa et al., 2009).

1.4 TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE

Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) is the most characterized member of the transglutaminase family and is constitutively expressed in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and myofibroblasts as well as in a number of organ-specific cell types (Akimov et al. 2000) where its function is often associated with its location within the cell type. Although the protein is mainly localized in the cytosol, it can also be found extracellularly, bound to the cell surface, deposited to the matrix or intracellularly in the mitochondria and in the nucleus (Belkin 2011).

TG2 is a structurally and functionally complex protein, with both intracellular and extracellular functions including cross-linking, GTP-hydrolyzing activities (GTPase) (Johnson and Terkeltaub 2005), a protein disulphide isomerase (PDI) function and a serine/threonine protein kinase activity (Hasegawa et al., 2003). In general, TG2 play an essential role in biologic systems in maintaining tissue stabilization, repair and immediate defense against injury or infection. However aberrant expression and activity of TG2 in tissues contribute significantly to a host of disease processes, including neurodegenerative diseases, autoimmune diseases such as celiac disease, rheumatoid arthritis, tissue fibrosis and cancer (Kumar and Mehta 2013).



Figure 1.1. The transamidating activity of Transglutaminase 2. (A) Water can be used as an acyl acceptor in deamidating glutamine. (B) The acyl chain of an amino acid can be conjugated to the side chain amide of glutamine, thereby post modifying the glutamine structure. (C) An isopeptide bond is formed when the ε -group of a peptide bound lysine is the acyl-acceptor resulting crosslinking of two proteins (Modified from Nurminskaya and Belkin (2012).

1.4.1 Structure of TG2

The human TG2 is a 78 kDa monomeric protein consisting of 687 amino acids (Griffin et al., 2002). It is composed of four domains which comprises of an N-terminal b-sandwich domain, a catalytic core, and two C-terminally located b-barrels (**Figure 1.2**). These domains are made up of amino acids from 1–139, 140–454, 479–585, and 586–687, respectively existing in various secondary structures (Jang et al., 2014). Domains 1, 3, and 4 are folded in b-structures and domain 2 contains a α -helical secondary structure (Pinkas et al., 2007). The active site of the enzyme is located in the second domain which serves as the core catalytic domain and consists cysteine 277, histidine 335, and aspartate 358, arranged in a charge-relay system (Pinkas et al., 2007). The catalytic domain is hidden from contact with peptidylglutamine substrates due to overlayering of domains 3 and 4 in a resting or compact conformation thus conferring transamidating inhibitor roles to the third and fourth domains (Bergamini et al., 2011). During activation of the enzyme, the interaction between domain 2, domains 3 and 4 breaks down after the binding of Calcium ions, a cofactor in the transamidating activity. The catalytic activity of TG2 requires high calcium (>1 mM) and low GTP (<9 μ M), essentially making intracellular TG2 a

cryptic enzyme under physiologic conditions due to the physiological low intracellular Ca2⁺ ion concentration and high GTP concentration, and thus locking the enzyme in its role as a G-protein, and other non transamidating functions (Grenard et al., 2001).



Figure 1.2 TG2 protein secondary Structure and Function

The TG2 protein consists of four distinct domains which perform different functions. The N-terminal β -sandwich domain modulates TG2 Fibronectin interaction. The β -sandwich thus functions as an anchor for TG2 in the ECM. The transglutaminase activity of TG2 is performed by the catalytic core domain which also holds the binding site for Ca2⁺ a cofactor in the catalysis. The Barrel 1 domain contains a guanosine-tri/di-phosphate (GTP/GDP) -binding site which plays an important role in TG2-mediated signalling pathways. The C-terminal Barrel 2 domain under certain conditions (e.g., in GTP-bound form) can recruit and activate phospholipase C and contributes to the pro-inflammatory functions of TG2.

1.4.2 Regulation of TG2 Gene expression

TG2 is encoded by the gene *TGM2* in humans which is consists of 32.5Kb located in chromosome 20q11-12 (Gentile et al., 1991) and consists of 13 exons and 12 introns. The *TGM2* promoter is characterized by a retinoic acid (RA) response element (RRE) located 1.7 kb upstream from the initiation site, an interleukin-6 specific cis-regulatory element located within first the 4.0 kb of the promoter. Upstream of the open reading frame (ORF), classic TATAA and CAAT boxes are found along with sequences to bind transcription factors NF-kB and Sp-1, a TGF β 1 response element (GAGTTGGTGC) located 868 base pairs upstream, and two activator protein (AP)-2-like response elements located approximately 634 and 183 base pairs upstream from the transcription initiation site is responsible for tissue-specific expression of the gene, and also contains the elements that convey the retinoid specificity in

the induction of the transcription of the TG2 gene (Bergamini et al., 2011). In general, the expression of TG2 is suggested to be controlled mainly at the transcription level (Griffin et al., 2002) and is regulated by an array of transcriptional inducers which act either directly or indirectly and have been identified to include inflammatory cytokines, such as tumour growth factor beta (TGF β), tumour necrosis factor TNFa (Chiocca et al., 1988), interleukin 1 and 6 (IL-1 and IL-6)(Oh et al., 2011), interferons and several steroid hormones (chiefly glucocorticoids and progesterone); vitamin D (particularly in macrophages); and retinoids (Figure 1.3). It has been reported that the TG2 gene contains regulatory elements for several transcriptional factors, for example, two tandem RREs, which bind the retinoid receptors RAR and RXR. RA promotes the expression of TG2 via its interaction with its receptors to promote the formation of RAR/RXR heterodimers or RXR/RXR homodimers, which triggers the transcription of the gene (Mehta et al., 1996). With regards to TG2 expression by inflammatory cytokines, TNF α can induce the expression of TG2 either directly through a responsive element at the TG2 promoter or through activation of the NFkB system. TGFB1 also induces the expression of TG2 via multiple pathways, in mouse it has been shown that TGF β 1 can directly induce TG2 via a response element on the TG2 gene promoter additionally TGFβ may also induce TG2 via TGFβ activated kinase 1 (TAK1) activation of NFkB (Cao et al., 2012).

Cacciamani et al., (2002) posits that DNA methylation alongside alterations in the chromatin structure may also play a role in TG2 expression. In this regard, the TG2 promoter region can be highly methylated at CpG islands, silencing the gene and thus making the promoter region a regulatory site for methylation and demethylation (Lu and Davies 1997). This was further shown by Ai et al., (2008) in breast cancer cells where hypermethylation at the CpG islands in the TG2 promoter resulted in the lack of expression of TG2. Similar observations were made in non-small cell lung cancer (Park et al., 2010) and in glioma (Dyer et al., 2011). Histone deacetylases may also down-regulateTG2 promoter activity by leaving the DNA bound to its histone proteins. Overall, TG2 is can be described as a stress response protein and is generally up-regulated under stress conditions.



Figure 1.3 Regulation of TG2 gene expression (*TGM2*). Inflammatory and hypoxic elements regulate TG2 gene expression. Retinoic acid response and glucocorticoid response elements are located in the promoter region of *TGM2*. Retinoic acid response elements. Glucocorticoid response element (-1399 bp), NF- κ B (-1338 bp), IL-6 response element (-1190 bp), AP-2 (-634 bp), HRE (-367 bp).

1.4.3 REGULATION OF TG2 ACTIVITY

Adding to the complexity of TG2 is its ability to exert opposing effects depending on its localization and predominant activity. However, three major regulators of TG2 activity are Ca²⁺, GTP/GDP, and redox potential. Binding of Ca²⁺ ions to TG2 promotes its catalytically active 'open' or 'extended' conformation. Binding to GTP or GDP, in contrast, promotes the catalytically inactive 'closed' or 'compact' conformation (Agnihotri et al., 2013). Under physiological conditions, TG2 exists as a latent enzyme intracellularly as a result of the low Ca²⁺ levels and the inhibitory effect of GTP/GDP (Klöck and Khosla, 2012). The regulatory effect of GTP on TG2 activity has been well reported in vitro studies (Jang et al., 2014). Smethurst and Griffin (1996) confirmed in electropermeabilised islets of Langerhans that the binding of GTP to TG2 leads to conformational changes which results in reduced Ca²⁺ affinity and loss of activity. In the catalytically inactive or compact form, TG2 serves as a scaffold protein or a signal transduction GTP-binding protein and regulates signalling pathways by binding and altering the function or stability (or both) of certain effector proteins (Agnihotri et al., 2013).

In a similar fashion, nitric oxide (NO) is a potent inhibitor of TG2. NO is a powerful antioxidant and acts both by controlling activity of guanylate cyclase (which is crucial in several critical processes as,

e.g., vascular responsiveness and immunologic responses) and in a more direct way by promoting protein post-translational modification mainly through a Ca^{2+} -sensitive nitrosylation of multiple cysteine residues (Telci et al., 2009) but also at tyrosine residues. Nevertheless, under extreme conditions of cell stress or trauma after the disturbance or loss of Ca^{2+} homeostasis, TG2 may be activated to its catalytically active extended form and cause cross-linking of intracellular proteins, as is observed during apoptosis or necrosis (Agnihotri et al. 2013).



Figure 1.4 TG2 3D Structure regulates Function. 3D structure of TG2 showing the four domains. (A) Represents the structure of TG2 bound to GDP in the closed conformation, in which the active site of the catalytic domain is shielded from both Ca^{2+} and substrates. (B) Represents TG2 in the extended form, where Ca^{2+} binds and opens the catalytic triad for substrate binding and subsequent enzymatic reaction. Here an inhibitor is shown bound to the catalytic site of TG2. (Modified from Pinkas et al., 2007)

On the other hand, the extracellular milieu has a considerably lower concentration of GTP/GDP and abundance of free calcium, and thus it is safe to say that TG2 can be expected to be present in a catalytically active form. However, most extracellular TG2 is enzymatically inactive as a result of disulfide bonding between Cys230 and Cys370; and Cys370-Cys371. The state of the disulfide bond between these cysteine residues depends on the oxidizing conditions in the extracellular environment. The inter-strand disulfide bond between Cys230 and Cys370 facilitates the formation of the more stable Cys370-Cys371 disulfide bond that inactivates TG2. Reactivation of TG2 can be achieved either under

favourable redox potential or by protein cofactor thioredoxin 1. Once activated, TG2 can crosslink extracellular matrix (ECM) component proteins and stabilize the matrix for increased cell attachment, cell motility, and outside-in signalling cues resistance and a metastatic phenotype (Agnihotri et al., 2013). In addition, Magnesium ions (Mg^{2+}) which are also essential for the hydrolysis of both GTP and ATP. Mg^{2+} - ATP induces a conformational change in TG2 which inhibits GTPase but does not interfere with the cross-linking activity, while Mg^{2+} -GTP binding induces a different conformation which inhibits cross-linking activity without affecting the ATPase activity of TG2 (Lai et al. 1998). In general, the complexity of regulation of TG2 is brought about by changes in the properties of the enzyme in relation to its subcellular distribution (Piacentini et al., 2014).

1.4.4 Externalization of TG2

TG2 externalization does not follow the classical ER/Golgi pathway, this is due to the absence of a hydrophobic leader sequence (Verderio et al., 2004), and in the past, it was hypothesised that TG2 could not be secreted in healthy cells under physiological conditions except during stress or cellular damage when TG2 was thought to leak out of the cell into the ECM. However, Griffin and co-workers showed for the first time that increased expression of TG2 in Swiss embryonic fibroblast led to TG2 increase in the ECM and that this event was independent of external or stress-related stimuli (Verderio et al 1999). Till date, the secretion pathway of TG2 remains unclear, and several mechanisms have been identified involving integrins (Nurminskaya and Belkin, 2012) and syndecans (Wang et al., 2012). However, a consensus appears to involve the TG2 N terminal β -sandwich domain, and that a closed TG2 conformation is critical for externalisation (Badarau et al., 2015). More so, heparan sulphate (HS) binding site in TG2 may be required for the deposition of TG2 in the ECM via the shedding of syndecan-4, a member of the heparan sulphate proteoglycans, as mutations in the HS-binding of TG2 has been shown to limit TG2 matrix deposition a finding made in two independent studies (Lortat-Jacob et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012). This is especially significant in fibrosis as it has been shown in vivo in renal fibrosis model, as sydecan 4 (Sdc4)-null mice subjected to either unilateral ureteric obstruction or aristolochic acid nephropathy (AAN) in order to mimic kidney fibrosis displayed significantly reduced extracellular TG2 and TG2 activity when compared to Sdc4 wt mice (Scarpellini et al., 2014). The use

of inhibitors or antibodies that target TG2-Sydecan 4 interaction may thus hold therapeutic value as the crosslinking activity of TG2 plays a role in the stabilization of the ECM components, such as FN and collagens, and has been reported to be important in the release of active TGFβ1 from the Latent TGFβ binding protein (LTBP) (Verderio et al., 1999).

1.5 PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF TG2

TG2 plays an enigmatic enzyme owing to its multifunctional status, and it thus plays diverse roles in normal physiology, some of which are still unclear. Basically, TG2 is involved in protein transamidation and signalling activity, which alternatively predominate over each other ending in the enzyme location and milieu (Park et al., 2010). However, a growing body of evidence is suggestive of the role of TG2 in several biological and physiological processes including cell adhesion, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, wound healing and matrix stabilization (Agnihotri et al. 2013).

1.5.1 Intracellular Function of TG2

The transamidating reactions catalysed by TGs are potentially irreversible, and significantly alter the substrates by either affecting their solubility in the case of protein cross-linking, or altering surface charge by conversion of a neutral glutamine residue into a positively charged secondary amine following polyamidation or into a negatively charged glutamate residue; it is for this reason that TG2 is kept latent in the cell activated only during periods of cellular stress, imbalance in Ca²⁺ homeostasis or extreme insult (Bergamini et al. 2011). However, enzyme kinetic studies are beginning to shed light on a transient open TG2 conformation in equilibrium with a TG2 closed conformation (Keillor et al., 2015).

TG2 role in cellular apoptosis is still contradictory, Piacentini et al., (1991) reported that TG2 catalytic activity is increased in dying cells. Activated TG2 irreversibly crosslink cellular proteins resulting in the formation of a detergent-insoluble protein scaffold which modifies the cell's organization leading to ultra-structural changes characteristic of cells undergoing apoptosis. The insoluble TG2-catalyzed protein scaffold stabilizes the integrity of dying cells allowing for efficient phagocytosis and thus preventing the leakage of harmful intracellular components and the consequent inflammatory responses and scar formation in nearby tissue (Cho et al. 2010). Other studies also suggest that TG2 promotes

apoptosis by polymerising leucine zipper-bearing kinase (DLK) which subsequently increasing its kinase activity and activation of the JNK pathway in NIH-3T3 mouse fibroblasts and human breast epithelial cancer cells MDA-MB-231 (Robitaille et al., 2008). However previous findings suggest that increased expression of TG2 may prolong cell survival by preventing apoptosis in breast cancer cells (Herman et al., 2006).

Reports also indicate that TG2 may influence transcriptional or signalling events by acting as a scaffolding protein with several intracellular proteins involved in important physiological processes (Kumar et al. 2012). TG2 also exhibit a protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) function which is independent of Ca²⁺ or GTP. The TG2 PDI activity can mediate post-translational protein modifications. (Hasegawa et al., 2003). For instance, TG2 PDI has been reported to be crucial in maintaining the correct assembly of the mitochondrial ADP/ATP transporter adenine nucleotide translocator 1 (ANT1) (Herman et al., 2006). TG2 has also been shown to have intrinsic protein kinase activity, employing as phosphoryl donor. This suggests that TG2 may be involved in kinase activity with its ATP-binding site. This kinase activity targets serine and threonine residues in basic proteins such as histones, insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 (IGFBP-3) and oncoprotein p53. In addition to these TG2 has many binding proteins such as PLC81 (Hwang et al., 1995; Kang et al., 2002), PKA anchor protein 13 (Lewis et al., 2005), Rac1 (Kim et al., 2010), and NFkB (Kumar and Mehta 2012) which are localized in the cytoplasm. There are numerous factors that might contribute to the regulation of intracellular TG2 asides from Ca²⁺, for example, pH variations, endogenous nitric oxide, protein nitrosylation levels or monoamines (serotonin, histamine, dopamine, and norepinephrine, etc.) (Nadalutti et al., 2011).

1.5.2 Plasma membrane Functions of TG2

TG2 is located on the plasma membrane where the GTPase activity dominates. In the plasma membrane where the transaminating and cross-linking activity of TG2 remains inhibited, and the enzyme acts as an intracellular G-protein in response to endocrine-like factors and functions in intracellular signal transduction (Nakaoka et al., 1994). The plasma membrane role of TG2 may also include organization of the actin cytoskeleton, modification of extracellular ligands and receptors, control of growth and

metastatic spreading of tumour cells, terminal differentiation of specialized tissues, and modulation of local inflammatory responses (Kumar et al., 2014).

1.5.3 Extracellular Function of TG2

In keeping with some of the intracellular roles as a scaffolding protein not requiring transamidating activity, TG2 can also function in a similar fashion in the extracellular environment either at the cell surface where it may act as integrin co-receptor for the binding of Fibronectin (FN) via the 42-kDa gelatin fragment or following TG2's deposition into the (Extracellular matrix) ECM where it acts as a heterocomplex with FN in the binding of cell surface heparan sulphate proteoglycans (Bergamini et al., 2011). TG2 is thought to be retained on the cell surface by its interaction with FN (Akimov et al., 2000) and syndecans (Wang et al., 2012). Furthermore, FN cross-linking mediated by TG2 offers FN protection from degradation. Aside from TG2's interaction with FN extracellularly, TG2 is also associated with integrin receptors in several different cell types via binding to the extracellular domains of the β_1 , β_3 and β_5 integrin subunits (Akimov et al. 2000). Based on the interaction between TG2 with FN or integrins, one can theorise that TG2 plays a role in the cell adhesion process. TG2's interaction with integrins may also be a stable non-covalent one independent of the transamidating activity of TG2 (Akimov et al. 2000). Although the binding sites for TG2 within integrins are still unknown, it has been demonstrated that integrin-TG2 complexes have a 1:1 stoichiometry and that TG2 on the cell surface is bound to integrin receptors in a FN-independent manner (Akimov et al. 2000). Additionally, TG2 can help stabilise the matrix by crosslinking collagen and by supporting the activation of TGF β (Verderio et al., 1999). TG2 also exists in the ECM as a structural protein and may also function as an ECM protein in RGD-independent cell adhesion (Verderio et al., 2003). In this regard, TG2 bound to the FN matrix compensates for anoikis induced by RGD synthetic peptides in a protein kinase C (PKC a) and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) dependent mechanism. In addition, a recent study has shown that GTPbound TG2, when present in the ECM, can induce hypertrophic differentiation of chondrocytes through a α 5 β 1 integrin-dependent and FAK-associated cell adhesion process (Tanaka et al., 2007). Cell surface TG2 is highly sensitive to the proteolytic degradation mediated by membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs), thought to be primarily involved in ECM degradation (Kessenbrock

et al., 2010). It has been reported that proteolysis of TG2 by MT1-MMP specifically suppresses cell adhesion and migration to fibronectin (Belkin et al., 2011).

1.6 THE ROLE OF TG2 IN PATHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS

TG2 has been implicated in an array of pathological states: autoimmune disorders (including celiac disease), maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY) (Bernassola et al., 2002), neurodegenerative disorders (Bergamini et al., 2011)including Huntington's, Alzheimer's, and Parkinson's diseases, inflammation (Kumar and Mehta 2013), fibrosis (Nyabam et al., 2016) and cancer (Kumar et al., 2012).



Figure 1.5 TG2 evolving cellular interactome. TG2 interaction with multiple cellular (inter and extracellular) partners (green stems experimental, blue stem predicted). TG2 is involved with multiple protein partners in affecting cellular processes. Interactions were modelled using STRING (*Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins*).

1.6.1 TG2 and Tumour Progression

The role of TG2 in cancer progression has been highly contested in the literature and can be found to have pleiotropic roles owing majorly to its multifunctional and ubiquitous nature (Kotsakis et al., 2011). It is suggested that in primary tumours, TG2 expression is usually reduced while increased TG2 expression is observed in chemoresistant and secondary metastatic tumours (Kotsakis and Griffin, 2007). In addition, it has been shown that TG2 influences several aspects of cancer cell behaviour, including motility, invasion, growth, and survival (Collighan and Griffin 2009). In performing this role, it is proposed that TG2 can make use of either its catalytic cross-linking, GTP binding or other protein function to mediates signal transduction via phospholipase C, focal adhesion kinase and PI3K activation. The extent to which TG2 may be relevant in cancer has been reported in many cancer cell types, including pancreatic carcinoma (Mehta and Han, 2011), breast carcinoma (Agnihotri et al., 2013), malignant melanoma (Yang et al., 2014), ovarian carcinoma (Cao et al., 2012), lung carcinoma (Park et al., 2010), Mesothelioma (Zonca et al., 2017) and glioblastoma. Furthermore increased TG2 expression in cancer cells has been linked to increased drug resistance, metastasis and poor patient survival (Chhabra et al., 2009).

Ai et al., (2008) have shown that that epigenetic silencing of TG2 expression may attenuate drug resistance, metastasis, and poor patient survival. However, Jones et al., (2006) have reported that TG2 may play an inhibitory role in tumours as injection of active TG2 into melanoma tumours inhibited tumour progression due to increased crosslinking of ECM proteins such as collagen and blocked the tumour growth. These observations suggest that TG2 may affect several aspects of tumour progression in a cell type-specific manner.

Hanahan and Weinberg, (2011) have described ten different capabilities or hallmarks of cancer cells to include the ability of cancer cells to evade growth suppressors, avoid immune detection, possess replicative immortality, invasion and metastasis, inducing angiogenesis possessing genome instability, resisting cell death, deregulating cellular energetics, sustaining proliferative signals and promoting inflammation (**Figure 1.6**). Depending on the cancer cell type, TG2 has been shown to facilitate some of these hallmarks.


Figure 1.6 Hallmarks of Cancer. Cancer cells acquire the following traits to maintain their oncogenic status. These hallmarks are potential points for targeted therapy. A review of the literature suggests that TG2 may facilitate some of these traits in various tumour cells and may indicate that TG2 could hold therapeutic value in cancer cells

1.6.1.1 TG2 is involved in sustaining proliferative signals

TG2 can regulate cell signalling pathways that promote cell survival, cell motility, cell attachment, and invasive behaviour (Mehta and Han, 2011). Nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) has been shown to be necessary for cellular proliferation in human breast cancer cells by promoting S-phase progression (Biswas et al., 2004). Verma and Mehta (2007) have shown that TG2 can form a direct complex with NF κ B p50/p65 dimers in the cytoplasm and modify its affinity for I κ B α . More so it has also been reported that I κ B α the inhibitory component of NF κ B is a good substrate for TG2 and that it can be crosslinked to form an insoluble cytosolic polymer that is unable to bind and sequester NF κ B cytosol.

More recently has shown that TG2 can also associate with p65 in the nucleus and redirect it to noncanonical targets, including the TG2 gene itself, leading to the formation of a positive feedback loop in cancer (Kim et al. 2010). Furthermore, Li et al., (2011) demonstrated that TG2 mediates tumours necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing factor (TRAIL) resistance and cell migration through c-FLIP and MMP-9. More so, TG2 can interact with integrins, as TG2- mediated clustering of integrin potentiates outside-in signalling. Integrin-TG2 interaction modulates the integrin-dependent activation of FAK, (Ranganathan et al., 2007, Condello et al., 2013).

1.6.1.2 TG2 is employed by Tumour Cells to Evade Growth Suppressors

TG2 has been shown to play a role in the down-regulation of tumour suppressors in various cancer cells and via multiple mechanisms involving both intra and extracellular role of TG2. In renal carcinoma cells, it has been reported that TG2 mediated the expression of p53 a tumour suppressing protein. It was shown that TG2 directly cross-linked the DNA binding domain of p53, leading to p53 depletion *via* autophagy (Ku et al., 2014). Other reports also show that TG2 can bind to p53 irrespective of its mutation leading to ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation of p53 (Visvader and Lindeman, 2008). In neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y, TG2 expression was associated with increased protection of cells from topoisomerase II inhibitor etoposide. This study further showed that the protective effect of TG2 was associated with the transamidation active form of the enzyme, because overexpression of the wild-type TG2, but not its transamidation inactive C277S form, resulted in a pronounced suppression of caspase-3 activity as well as p53 phosphorylation during etoposide-induced stress (Kumar et al., 2014b).

1.6.1.3 Tumour Promoting Inflammation

Chronic inflammation is an important driving force that provides a favourable platform for cancer's progression. NF κ B is considered central to inflammation-induced tumours progression. As discussed earlier NF κ B can facilitate TG2 expression non-canonically through the ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) signalling or by binding to two independent consensus sites in the *TGM2* promoter region, resulting in a feedback loop as TG2 also facilitate activation of NF κ B. In addition, TG2 in turn

complexes with NF κ B, the TG2-NF- κ B complexes binds to the *HIF-1* α promoter and results in its transcriptional regulation and expression. Increased expression of HIF-1 α then modulates the expression of downstream genes that activate EMT, angiogenesis, and acquisition of stem cell-like traits (Agnihotri et al., 2013). In addition, other reports have shown that TG2 expression is up-regulated in the presence of other inflammatory signals such as TGF β , IL-6, and TNF α all of which also induce EMT (Eckert et al., 2014).

1.6.1.4 Deregulating Cellular Energetics

Cancer cells survive by switching on to glycolysis for energy production this is in part due to the fact that tumour cells proliferate at a level where it is physiologically impossible for an extensive distribution of blood vessels. This condition is regarded as the Warburg effect. Kumar et al., (2014c) have shown that the genetic alterations leading from upregulation of TG2 involve the upregulation of various glycolytic enzymes. The major mechanism responsible for metabolic reprogramming is the upregulation of expression of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) 1α , a transcription factor that shifts energy production from mitochondrial to glycolytic sources in hypoxic regions of tumours.

1.6.1.5 Role of TG2 in angiogenesis during cancer progression

Angiogenesis is a very important stage in tumour development as tumour cells require a blood supply to grow and metastasize (Hillen and Griffioen, 2007, Zhang et al., 2001). The role of TG2 in angiogenesis is still unclear and very mixed (Fan et al., 2012). TG2 can support a stable ECM, which displays an anti-angiogenic property and can inhibit proliferation and spread of malignant cells mainly due to the collagen cross-linking caused by TG2 (Jones et al., 2006). Experiments have shown that over production of collagen due to TG2 stabilizes the ECM preventing blood vessel formation and may be a pathway undertaking by TG2 in exacerbating fibrosis (Haroon et al., 1999), it has been shown that administration of TG2 can stop angiogenesis without causing cell death. This is done by increasing the protein build up in the ECM (Jones et al., 2006). However, Griffin and co-workers, in their work identified that extracellular inhibition of TG2 activity using its specific inhibitors led to inhibition of angiogenesis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells via a reduction in VEGFR2 signalling (Wang et al., 2013), and have shown that inhibition of TG2 activity blocked the vascular mimicry, where the vascular structures are derived from the tumour itself (Jones et al., 2013).

1.6.1.6 Activating Invasion and Metastasis

1.6.1.6. EMT, Cancer Invasiveness, Drug resistance and TG2

In normal physiology, Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) is a dynamic and essential process required in reprogramming epithelial cells during embryonic development. However persistent reactivation of EMT in adulthood is associated with various pathologic conditions including cancer and fibrosis (Kumar and Mehta 2013, Nyabam 2016). Recent studies have implicated EMT as the first necessary step in metastatic dissemination and tumour progression. Cells undergoing EMT acquire the ability to degrade the basement membrane as a result of increased activity of matrix metalloproteases (such as MMP2, MMP3, and MMP9); and these cells migrate through the ECM to populate different areas during cancer progression (Kumar and Mehta, 2013). Ilyas et al., (1997) suggests that EMT is essential for the development of drug-resistant phenotypes in cancer cells, and enables them to become invasive at the early stage of the disease.

EMT can be induced by a variety of different stimuli (growth factors / cytokines) including Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Transforming Growth Factor (TGF β), Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Receptor (PDGFR), Wnt and Hedgehog (Christiansen and Rajasekaran, 2006). TGF β is a major inducer of EMT, resulting in suppressed expression of various epithelial proteins such as E-cadherin and enhanced mesenchymal proteins such as fibronectin and vimentin. TGF β operates as both a tumour suppressor and promoter by acting via Smad (e.g. Smad 2 and 4) or non-Smad (e.g. c-Myc, PI3-kinase and MAPK) pathways (Morris et al., 2010). Key targets of TGF β signalling are the transcriptional repressors of Ecadherin; upregulation of Snail, Slug and Twist, Zeb-1 and Zeb-2. Wnt signalling is also a key regulator of EMT during cancer progression. The canonical β catenin-dependent Wnt signalling pathway results in the nuclear accumulation of β -catenin. This causes transcriptional activation of target genes, involved in EMT, through the lymphoid enhancer factor 1 (LEF-1)/TCF transcription factors. These include vimentin and fibronectin, which are both markers of a mesenchymal morphology (Nawshad et al., 2007).

1.6.1.6.2 Key Alterations and Factors That Govern EMT

A number of key alterations occur during EMT, and several markers have been identified, that distinguish epithelial and mesenchymal cells (Figure 1.7). During EMT, the polarized epithelial cells, which normally interact with the basement membrane via its basal surface, undergo multiple biochemical changes that enable them to acquire a mesenchymal phenotype. Initially the perturbation of cellular junctions is required. This requires the loss of adherens junctions, loss of tight junctions, gap junctions and desmosomes (Voulgari and Pintzas, 2009). The 'cadherin switch' where epithelial cells downregulate E-cadherin and up-regulate N-cadherin is often associated with EMT. This results in the breakdown, or loosening, of cell-cell contacts and the cells adopt a more migratory phenotype due to the pro-migratory role of N-cadherin (Wheelock et al., 2008). Changes in the cytoskeleton is also common to promote the necessary structural machinery for cellular migration. Another key marker of EMT in this regard, is vimentin, an intermediate filament family member which is commonly used as a mesenchymal cell marker. In order to detach from the ECM and initiate migration or invasion during EMT, cells require matrix metalloproteinases- a set of enzymes that cleave structural proteins of the ECM enable degradation of the basement membrane. MMPs, specifically MMP2 and MMP9 are associated with mesenchymal cells and are upregulated in EMT. For example, MMP activities enable the degradation of the basement membrane and ECM to allow the more motile and invasive N-cadherin expressing mesenchymal-like colon cancer cells to infiltrate into the surrounding tissues and body circulatory systems (Wheelock et al., 2008, Curran and Murray, 2000). The transcriptional control of EMT is maintained by Zeb-1, Zeb-2, Twist1 Snail, and Slug which effectively turn on the EMT process (Agnihotri et al., 2013).



Figure 1.7 Cellular changes during EMT. Epithelial cells lose cell polarity, epithelial cell tight junctions with significant cytoskeletal reorganisation. The TGF β , Wnt and Notch signalling process play a role in activating Snail, Slug and Zeb 1/2-transcription factors that regulate EMT. (Modified from Aroeira et al., 2007).

1.6.6.3.3 The Role of TG2 in EMT

TG2 as a proinflammatory protein has been shown in certain cancer and fibrotic models to induce promote EMT (Agnihotri et al., 2013, Eckert et al., 2014, Ku et al., 2014, Condello et al., 2013, Nyabam et al., 2016, Verderio et al., 2004), although, other studies also report that TG2 role in the ECM may perturb EMT (Kotsakis and Griffin 2007). In general TG2-mediated EMT in cancer cells have been reported to also confer metastasis, invasiveness, drug resistance, apoptotic resistance and a tumorigenic phenotype (Budillon et al., 2013). In breast cancer, Mehta and colleagues found that that Stable expression of TG2 in mammary epithelial cells resulted in the loss of epithelial markers (E- cadherin) and gain of mesenchymal markers (vimentin, fibronectin, N-cadherin, e.t.c). More so TG2-expression exhibited a significant increase in Snail1, Twist1, and Zeb1 transcription repressors which was

accompanied by increased invasiveness and the ability to form colonies in agarose (Agnihotri et al., 2013). Similar findings have been reported in the breast (Kumar et al., 2010a, Morin et al., 1997), Squamous (Fisher et al., 2015a), prostrate, and ovarian (Cao et al., 2008) cancer. The inhibitory role of TG2 in EMT in certain cell context has been shown with cell surface TG2 which modulates cell migration in an ECM dependent way and proteolytic degradation of cell surface TG2 by membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) in gliomas and fibrosarcomas, resulting in increased cellular motility of tumour cells on FN (Kotsakis and Griffin 2007). Taken together TG2 may play an important role in EMT in cancer cells either by enhancing cell signalling processes that promote EMT in on the one hand or inhibiting cell migration by crosslinking the matrix.

1.6.1.6.4 TG2 enhances autophagy resistance in Tumour cells

Studies by Akar et al., (2007) have identified a potential new role of TG2 in tumour cells autophagy resistance. It was demonstrated that protein kinase C-delta (PKCδ) constitutively protected cells from autophagy by up-regulating TG2 expression in pancreatic cancer cells and significant autophagic cell death was observed following downregulation of TG2 by siRNA or by PKCδ inhibition.



Figure 1.8. TG2 is involved in multiple cellular mechanisms that drive inflammation and EMT in fibrosis and cancer. TG2 interacts with fibronectin and induces integrin clustering, which leads to activation of Src, PIP3 and downstream activation of NFκB via phosphorylation of AKT. Extracellular TG2, via interaction with the ECM, can induce mechanical sheer stress that releases TGFβ from its latent TGFβ complex. Canonical TGFβ operates via Smad2/3 and activates TGFβ activated kinase 1 (TAK1), which in turn activates NFκB. Intracellular TG2 can bind NFκB, thus preventing its interaction with NFκB inhibitory unit (IKBα). Activated NFκB can translocate into the nucleus where it upregulates inflammation, EMT, or induces TG2 by binding to the *TGM2* promoter. Alternatively, intracellular TG2 can complex NFκB and TG2 facilitates the translocation of the complex into the nucleus to induce Hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF 1α). Non-canonical TGFβ signalling activates extracellular kinase (ERK) which induces c Fos and proliferation. Canonical TGFβ signalling activates Smad4 which also induces TG2 expression by binding to the *TGM2* promoter site. Extracellular TG2 interaction with fibronectin and integrin activates Src, which inhibits proteasomal degradation of β-catenin. In addition, extracellular TG2 interaction with LRP5/6, a co-receptor with frizzled in canonical Wnt signalling facilitates β-catenin stability and nuclear translocation and β-catenin acts as a transcription factor for cell cycle regulators and EMT.

1.7 Cell Signalling aberrations in colorectal cancer

The pathogenesis of CRC varies and depends on the extent of genetic or epigenetic changes. These changes may follow multiple stages as theorized by Fearon and Vogelstein (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990, Fearon, 2011), and the direct specific event within this sequence leads to CRC, by contributing to the "initiation" of neoplastic transformation of healthy epithelium and/or determining the "progression" towards more malignant stages of the illness (Meguerditchian and Bullard Dunn, 2013). The gastrointestinal tract is responsible for food digestion and absorption. These routine activities result in damage to the surface epithelium and replenishment of lost epithelium from abrasion is mediated by leucine-rich repeat containing G protein-coupled receptor (Lgr5) expressing intestinal stem cells (ISC) (van der Flier and Clevers, 2009). The ISCs proliferate from the crypt of the intestine and differentiate into various cell types, including enterocytes, Paneth cells, goblet cells, enteroendocrine cells, tuft cells, and M cells. The proliferation and differentiation of the ISCs are mediated by various signalling pathways along the crypt-villus axis, including Wnt, BMP, EGF, TGF β and Notch pathways. Prominently the Wnt pathway is the primary driving force in the maintenance and proliferation of ISCs. This, therefore, suggests that any one of the signalling pathways above may play a role in the progression of CRCs (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015).

1.7.1 Pathogenic Classification of CRCs

On the basis of the pathogenesis of human CRCs, CRCs can be broadly classed into two groups based on their molecular profiles; non-hypermutated microsatellite stable (MSS) CRCs and hypermutated microsatellite instability (MSI) cancers. MSS CRCs constitute the clear majority, where loss of the tumor suppressor APC is the early event to initiate adenoma formation (Muzny et al., 2012). Subsequent cancer progression requires stepwise accumulation of other mutations, such as in *KRAS*, *PI3K*, *TGF* β , *p53*, and/or *SMAD4*, which is known as the multistep somatic evolution model. On the other hand, around 10–15% of CRCs are caused by defective DNA mismatch repair (MMR) machinery that is often associated with *MLH1* hypermethylation (Vilar and Tabernero, 2013). These are characterized by the presence of insertions or deletions of nucleotides in microsatellite repeat regions widespread across the genome, hence their name as MSI tumors (Vilar and Tabernero, 2013).

1.7.2 Cytokines and signalling pathways associated with colorectal cancer

Wnt, BMP, EGF, TGF β , and Notch pathways are crucial for intestinal stem cell maintenance, and deregulation in any of these pathways may result in tumour initiation or progression (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015).

1.7.2.1 WNT Signalling Pathway

Wnt signalling is a key mediator of β -catenin signal transduction through processes involving phosphorylation and ubiquitin-mediated degradation. This regulation involves the cytoplasmic β catenin destruction complex, consisting of AXIN, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), casein kinase 1 (CK1), and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3). In the absence of the Wnt ligand, β -catenin is phosphorylated by CK1 and GSK3 in the complex, followed by recruitment of the E3 ligase β TrCP to the complex for ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation (**Figure. 1.9**).



Figure 1.9 Overview of the Wnt/\beta-catenin Pathway. Wnt plays a crucial a role as an agonist to the LRP5/6 and Frizzled transmembrane receptor activating Dishevel and inhibiting the APC-Axin death complex which targets β -catenin and recruits E3 ligase β TrCP for proteasomal degradation of the former. Wnt activation of Dishevel promotes β -catenin translocation to the nucleus from the cytoplasmic and membrane pool where in conjunction with its binding partner Lymphocyte enhancement factor/T-cell factor (Lef-1/Tcf) act as transcription factors for cell cycle regulation, EMT and cell differentiation (Adapted from Sheikh et al., 2014).

However, with the engagement of Wnt to Frizzled (FZD) and low-density lipoprotein-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) receptors, the β -catenin destruction complex is recruited to the membrane, where β TrCP is dissociated from the complex. In the GIT Wnt signalling is crucial for stem cell maintenance and tissue homeostasis and its aberrant activation, loss of function of the β -catenin death complex, or mutation of β -catenin results in many human diseases including cancers and metabolic diseases (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). Wnt signaling can proceed via a canonical β -catenin-dependent pathway and the noncanonical β -catenin-independent (planar cell polarity) pathway. However, it has been purported that the canonical pathway plays a role both in the physiology and pathology of the adult GIT, where it maintains stem cells in the crypts and when activated by mutation results in

gastrointestinal tract (GIT) related cancers including colorectal cancers including both MSS and MSI CRCs (Muzny et al., 2012). Inactivating mutations of tumour suppressor gene *APC* is the key mechanism for which the Wnt signalling pathway is activated in MSS CRCs. Whereas in MSI CRCs MMR defects result in high mutation rates in the entire genome known as the hypermutation phenotype. Consequently, there are frequent mutations observed in multiple oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes, including those associated with the APC/ β -catenin/Tcf pathway (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). Following the significant role of aberrant Wnt signalling on CRC various therapeutic molecules have been designed to target various aspects of the pathway and are now being used for human clinical studies (Bahrami et al., 2017).

Compound	Target Molecule (Action)	Cancer type	
LGK974 (Wnt 974)	O-acyl transferase Porcupine (Inhibitor)	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma, BRAF mutant Colorectal cancer, upstream wnt dependent tumours	(Liu et al., 2013)
Vanituctumab	Frizzled receptors (Inhibitory antibody)	Solid tumours	(Bahrami et al., 2017)
OMP-54 F28	Frizzled-8 receptor (decoy receptor)	Solid tumours	(Le et al., 2015)
PRI-724	Creb binding protein (CBP)- β-catenin interaction (CBP/ β-catenin antagonist)	Advanced solid tumours	(Nagaraj et al., 2015, Bahrami et al., 2017)

Table 1.2 Anti-Wnt Therapeutics in human Phase 1 studies

1.7.2.2 TGFβ1: A pleiotropic cytokine associated with EMT and tumour progression (canonical and non-canonical)

Tumour growth factor beta 1(TGF β 1) is a pleiotropic cytokine, associated with various pathological conditions including cancer and fibrosis (Nyabam et al., 2016, Cao et al., 2012), and TGF β expression has been studied in a large panel of cancer types, including prostate, breast, lung, colorectal, pancreatic, liver, skin cancers, and gliomas (Neuzillet et al., 2015). The role of TGF β 1 in tumour progression is mixed with potential antitumor roles during the initiation process of a tumour, to a protumour role as the tumour progresses, designating TGF β as a pleiotropic cytokine (Principe et al., 2014). In the early-

stage tumours, the TGF β pathway promotes cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. However, at advanced stages, TGF β 1 promotes cancer cell motility, invasion, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), and cell stemness, promoting tumour progression and metastasis (Neuzillet et al., 2015).

1.7.2.2.1 TGFβ/SMAD signalling pathway

The TGF β /SMAD signalling pathway consists of TGF β receptor type I (TGF β RI) and type II type II (TGF β RII) and SMAD proteins (Munger and Sheppard, 2011)- **Figure 1.10**. TGF β is secreted as part of an inactive complex of latent TGF β bound non-covalently to its propeptide, latency associated protein (LAP) forming the small latent complex (SLC) (Verderio et al., 1999). In turn, the SLC is bound covalently to a large TGF β binding protein (LTBP) to form the large latent complex (LLC) (Munger et al., 1997). TGF β is released from LTBP by crosslinking and mechanical shear stress in the ECM. Free active TGF β acts as a ligand canonically to TGF β RII which in turn complexes with TGF β RI, and then phosphorylates SMAD2, which binds to SMAD4. The SMAD2/4 complex translocates into the nucleus inducing the CDK inhibitors, p15 and p21, leading to growth arrest. However, mutations in the TGF β receptors (Jonson et al., 2001, Biswas et al., 2008) and SMAD signalling proteins (Fleming et al., 2013), and/or a non SMAD dependent TGF β signalling inhibits the antitumor role of TGF β and cooperate with other genetic alterations (RAS-RAF-MAPK) to promote turnour initiation and progression (Morris et al., 2010). Mutations inactivating the *SMAD4* gene have been found in 16%–25% of colorectal cancer cases (Xu and Pasche, 2007), and alterations in the *SMAD2* gene has also been reported in 6% of cases (Takayama et al., 2006).



Figure 1.10 Smad-dependent and -independent transforming growth factor β (**TGF** β) **pathways**. TGF β is sheared from the large latent complex (LLC) in the ECM, where it later binds to TGF β RI and TGF β RII. The kinase activity of TGF β receptors are necessary for transducing canonical TGF β signalling by phosphorylating Smads2/3. Activated receptor-associated Smads can form a heterotrimeric complex with Smad4, which interacts with other co-factors in the nucleus to regulate the expression of TGF β target genes.In addition, downstream intracellular signalling may also be transduced via smad independent pathways including the MEK/Erk, the Rho-like GTPases, the phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase/Akt (PI3K/Akt) and the p38/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways to regulate biological responses such as epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), cell adhesion, migration and survival. (Adapted from Papageorgis and Stylianopoulos 2014).

TG2 has been reported to play a role in the release of TGF β 1 from the large latent complex (LLC) by

crosslinking LLC via the latent TGF^{β1} binding protein 1 (LTBP-1) to the extracellular matrix, thus

facilitating the release of the small latency complex (SLC) comprising the inactive $TGF\beta 1$ bound to

latency associated peptide (LAP) (Nunes et al., 1998, Telci et al., 2009).

Compound	Target Molecule (Action)	Treatment stage	
Fresolimumab (GC1008)	TGFβ1,2,3 (ligand Inhibitor)	Phase I/II Renal carcinoma, melanoma, mesothelioma, glioma, breast cancer	(Morris et al., 2014, Stevenson et al., 2013)
FANG [™] Vaccine	TGFβ1,2 (Ligand inhibitor)	Melanoma, CRC, ovarian cancer	(Senzer et al., 2012)
Galunisertib	TGFβR1 (Receptor inhibitor)	Phase II in Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, liver cancer, glioma, gliobastoma	(Rodón et al., 2015, Fujiwara et al., 2015, Brandes et al., 2016)
PF-03446962	TGFβR1 (Receptor inhibitor)	Phase I/II Liver cancer, mesothelioma, CRC	(Simonelli et al., 2016, Wheatley-Price et al., 2016)
IMC-TR1 (LY3022859)	TGFβRII (receptor inhibitor)	Phase I solid tumours	(Tolcher et al., 2017)

Table 1.3 Anti- TGFβ1 signalling Therapeutics in human Phase 1 studies

K-ras

Mutation in K-ras is common in various cancers particularly in gastroenterological cancers, including colorectal, pancreatic, and bile duct cancers. K-ras mutations may account for 15%–68% of sporadic colorectal adenomas and in 40%–65% of cancers (Takayama et al., 2001). Mutations in K-ras constitutively activates a variety of effector pathways, including RAF/MAPK, JNK, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K), leading to constitutive growth promotion (**Figure 1.11**). Other downstream target gene of K-ras injclude cyclin D1, DNA methyltransferase, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) genes (Downward, 2003).

The potential tumour promoting role of TGF β in cancer cells has led to the development of therapeutic targets in the pathway, which have progressed to clinical trials (**Table 1.3**)



Figure 1.11 Colorectal cancer Progression and frequently mutated pathway. Left panel shows the progression of CRCs from normal epithelium to full blown carcinoma. Left panel frequently mutated molecules in Apoptotic, P53, PI3-Akt, TGF β 1 and Wnt signalling pathways in CRCs. Red typeset indicate frequently mutated genes (Oncogenes- β -catenin, K-Ras; Tumour suppressors-APC, DCC, TGF β RII, Smad2, Smad4, Bax p53) in CRCs, and grey highlight show pathways used by only microsatellite unstable CRCs(MSI). Mutations in tumour suppressors in the TGF β 1 pathway may regulate the pleiothropic nature of TGF β 1 and promote the pro-tumour role of TGF β 1 against its antitumour role. Mutations in APC and β -catenin also subvert the canonical Wnt signalling pathway to a more sinister one in CRCs (Kanehisa et al., 2017).

1.8 Colorectal cancer stem cells

An emerging concept in the biology of cancer cells is the cancer stem cells. These cells have selfrenewing properties and ability to differentiate into diverse tumour population (Han et al., 2013). The emergence of cancer stem cells (CSC) was first established in the hematopoietic system and has now been progressively found in solid tumours such as breast (Kumar et al., 2010), ovarian (Cao et al., 2012), squamous (Fisher et al., 2015b), brain (Singh et al., 2003), hepatomas (Cao et al., 2011) and colorectal cancer (Fan et al., 2012). The origin of cancer stem cells is still debatable with one school of thought suggesting that cancer stem cells arise during developmental or tissue repair process either by cell fusion or horizontal gene transfer (Bu and Cao, 2012). These developmental or repair processes are often circumvented by tumour cells to enhance tumour survival and progression. On the other hand, it is postulated that gene mutations in normal stem cells, progenitor cells or differentiated cells may also drive the formation of CSCs (Ciurea et al., 2014).

In colorectal cancer, the CSC form the hierarchy of tumours and populate circulating tumour cells, possess metastatic, and drug resistant phenotypes (Willis et al., 2008). The current chemotherapeutic intervention in CRCs target hyperprolferative cells, but CSCs due to their stem cell phenotype are less proliferative and are usually not targeted. They may then acquire the necessary mutations that make them resistant to treatment, and once the bulk (non cancer stem cell population) of the tumour has been eradicated the reduced tumour mass triggers the potentially drug resistant CSCs to replicate, differentiate proliferate and build a highly drug resistant tumour (Hu and Fu 2012).

EMT a process in embryonic development and wound healing has been reported to play a role in driving colorectal cancer stem cells (Mani et al., 2008, Fan et al., 2012). It has been reported that EMT enhances the transcription of stem cell transcription factors such as Oct, Sox, and Nanog in cancer cells (Fan et al., 2012). Tissue transglutaminase has also been reported to play a role in the maintenance of a stem cell like phenotype in some cancers (Zonca et al., 2017). The consensus is that TG2 enables the formation of cancer stem cells by upregulating transcription factors associated with stem cells (Eckert et al., 2015).

1.8.1 Tumour spheroid culture as an *in vitro* method for cancer stem cell (CSC) enrichment

Despite significant advances in cancer research the isolation, identification and characterization of tumour initiating cells (cancer stem cells) remains incompletely established especially in colon cancer. In general, the isolation of cancer stem cells relies heavily on exploiting the properties or characteristics of cancer stem cells, and could involve isolation based on their functional or immunogenic properties (Islam et al., 2015). The antigenic approach exploits a variety of cell surface markers, including CD133, CD44, CD34, CD24, epithelial-specific antigen (EpCAM/ESA), CD166, CD29, Lgr5, CD49f and ALDH-1 which are expressed in cancer stem cells (Islam et al., 2015). Functional isolation of CSC uses various characteristics, including anchorage independent growth, chemoresistance, self-renewal, asymmetric division, and pluripotency. Over the last years spheroid cultures (SC), a form of functional isolation that relies on the anchorage-independent growth properties of stem cells have been used to enrich cancer stem cells in brain (Singh et al., 2003), breast (Agnihotri et al., 2013), and colon tissue (Todaro et al., 2007). It is well accepted that SC preserve more faithfully the characteristics of original tumours, including gene expression profiles, tumour heterogeneity and tumour morphology, compared to regular adherent cultures. Additionally, spheroids mirror the 3D cellular context and relevant pathophysiological gradients of *in vivo* tumours (Todaro et al., 2007).

1.9 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this study is to investigate the role(s) of TG2 in colorectal carcinoma progression and to identify its potential as a prognostic and therapeutic biomarker in the human disease. To fulfil this aim a pair of isogenic colorectal carcinoma cells, SW480 (primary colon carcinoma- Duke's B classification) and SW620 (lymph metastatic carcinoma Duke's C classification) have been employed, to investigate the role of TG2 in tumour progression. These two cell lines have been validated as an *in vitro* model of colon cancer progression from a primary tumour to metastatic disease and have retained relevant phenotypes despite long-term culture *in vitro* (Hewitt et al., 2000). In addition, a third colorectal cancer cell line RKO with a different monoclonal origin was assessed to gain a wider sense of TG2's role in human colon cancer progression. To fully delineate the potential role of TG2 in cancer stem cell formation a more aggressive colorectal cancer cell line, HCT116 with Duke's D classification was also studied.

To achieve the aim the following objectives were set:

Objective 1: Characterise CRCs for markers of disease severity to validate disease progression including epithelial to mesenchymal transition, invasion, and drug resistance.

Objective 2: By epigenetic manipulation of TG2, investigate the role of TG2 in epithelial to mesenchymal transition, invasion, and drug resistance. Following which the mechanism through which TG2 may influence these processes would be investigated.

Objective 3: Using an *in vitro* cancer stem cell enrichment culture assess the role of TG2 in colorectal cancer stem cell enrichment and behaviour vis-à-vis EMT, drug resistance, invasion and angiogenesis.

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

Chapter 2

2.0 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.2 Chemicals

General chemicals used in this study where obtained from Sigma UK unless specified elsewhere.

Sigma Aldrich, UK

- ITS-Insulin, Transferrin, Sodium Selenite medium, 10X
- Diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)
- SIGMAFAST® OPD tablets
- Fibronectin
- Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)
- Protein A and G Sepharose beads
- Ponceau S stain (P7170): 0.1 % (w/v) Ponceau S and 5% (w/v) acetic acid ready to use.

Melford (UK)

• Acrylamide (29:1)

Life Technologies Ltd (UK)

- Lipofectamine® 2000
- TRIzol ®

Qiagen (UK)

• RT² First strand Kit

Pierce (UK)

• Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin

Trevigen (UK)

• 2,3-bis-(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium-5-carboxanilide (XTT)

Vector Laboratories (UK)

• Vectashield hard set mounting medium with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2- phenylindole)

Cell Signalling

• ERK inhibitor PD98059, CST, USA

R&D Systems

- human rTGFβ1
- TGF β 1 1 neutralising antibody

Aston University (Prof Martin Griffin's Lab)

- R281:(N-benzyloxycarbonyl(CBZ)-L-phenylalanyl-6-dimethylsulfonium-5-oxo-Lnorleucine) (Jones et al., 2006)
- R283: (1,3-dimethyl-2-[(oxopropyl)thio] imidazolium. (Jones et al., 2006)
- R294: cell impermeable TG2 inhibitor (Griffin et al., 2008)
- 1-155: Peptido-mimetic cell-permeable TG2 inhibitor (Badarau et al., 2015)

2.1.3 Equipment

- Epifluorescent microscope Leica Microsystem (Milton Keynes, UK) MWG (USA)
- Primus 96 thermal cycler Stratagene (UK)
- GEL box (G:BOX F3) Syngene (UK)

2.1.4 Cell Lines

Human colorectal cancer cell lines RKO, SW480, SW620 and HCT116 were a kind gift from Dr Chris

Tselepsis (University of Birmigham).

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Cell culture techniques

2.2.1.1 Culture conditions of cells

Human colorectal cancer cell lines RKO, SW480, SW620 and HCT116 were cultured in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO₂. All the cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM) (Lonza, UK) containing 10% (v/v) FBS (Gibco, UK), 1% (v/v) nonessential amino acids (Gibco, UK), unless otherwise indicated. For polyhema coated low attachment plates pre-coated with Poly-HEMA , SW620 and HCT 116 cells were cultured in serum free DMEM/F12 (1:1) (Lonza, UK) containing 2% (v/v) serum free supplement B27 (Invitrogen, UK), 20ng/ml EGF, 0.4% bovine serum albumin and 4 µg/ml insulin (Complete spheroid media).

2.2.1.2 Passaging of Adherent Cells

Cell lines were passaged to keep them at low density or to be seeded for experiments. For cell passaging the complete cell culture medium (DMEM) and 0.25% (w/v) trypsin in 2mM EDTA were pre-warmed prior to use. The adherent confluent (at least 90% confluency) cells were washed once with serum free DMEM to remove dead cells and debris. The cells were then treated with Trypsin for 5 min at 37^oC for the cells to detach. The cells were then collected in complete medium to inactivate the trypsin and centrifuged at 300g for 5 min. The supernatant was then discarded and the cell pellet was re-suspended in complete growth medium. Subsequently the cells were seeded into tissue culture flasks to obtain the desired confluency.

2.2.1.3 Cell counting using haemocytometer

Cells to be counted were collected as described in **Section 2.2.1.2** with 10μ l of cell suspension from each cell line introduced into the haemocytometer. By means of an inverted microscope, the cells were counted in four separate chambers, neglecting the cells present on the top and right corner lines. The cell numbers obtained were multiplied by a factor of 10^4 to determine the cell number present per ml. The desired seeding density was achieved by diluting down the stock cell suspension.

2.2.1.4 Freezing and defrosting of cell lines

The cells were trypsinised and counted as described above in Sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.3

and subsequently re-suspended in freezing mixture which is composed of 10% (v/v) cell culture grade DMSO in heat-inactivated FBS. The cells were then distributed as 1ml aliquots into cryogenic vials and kept at -20°C for 1 h. Subsequently, the cryogenic vials were kept in -80°C for at least 24 h and stored in liquid nitrogen for a long-term storage.

2.2.2 Lentiviral Transduction2.2.2.1 Lentivirus production of TG2 plasmids

To produce lentiviral particles, human embrayonic kidney cells- HEK293FT were transfected and used as viral packaging cells (Wang et al., 2013). HEK293FT cells were cultured in T75 flasks in DMEM medium supplemented with 2mM L-glutamine, 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated FBS, 1mM sodium pyruvate, 400µg/ml G418 (the antibiotic is omitted immediately after defrosting and prior to transfection) and 1x Nonessential amino acids (NEAA). For plasmid transfection, the HEK293FT cells were passaged as described in **Section 2.2.2** and allowed to reach 80% confluency, after which the medium was changed and then transfected with viral packaging mix containing packaging plasmidpPax, viral envelop VSV-G, and the DNA of interest in a ratio a 9µg: 4.5 µg: 6µg with Lipofectaminc® 2000. The transfection mixture was incubated at room temperature for 20 min to form the complex, and then added to the packaging cells drop by drop with gentle mixing. The transfected cells were incubated in cell culture conditions for 72 h within which the viral particles were released into the medium. After this incubation period, the infectious medium was carefully collected and centrifuged at 500×g for 10 min to remove the cell debris and viral aggregates. The supernatant was collected aseptically and stored for viral isolation and concentration.

Taxon	Number (#)	Gene	Clone ID	Target Seq
		Symbol		
Human	shRNA1	TGM2	TRCN000000240	5' AGAAATACCGTGACTGCCTTA 3'
Human	shRNA2	TGM2	TRCN000000241	5' ACAGCAACCTTCTCATCGAGT 3'
Human	shRNA3	TGM2	TRCN000000243	5'TGAGAAATACCGTGACTGCCT 3'
Human	shRNA4	TGM2	TRCN000000239	5'CCACCCACCATATTGTTTGAT 3'

Table 2.1 TG2 shRNA target sequences (Sigma Aldrich ,UK)

2.2.2.2 Lenti-X viral concentration

Virus purification and concentration was performed using the Lenti-X virus concentrator. The clarified medium from **Section 2.2.2.1** was incubated with Lenti-X virus concentrator at the ratio of 3:1 (clarified media: concentrator), and gently inverted to mix. The mixture was incubated overnight at 4°C. Following the incubation, the viral particles were pelleted at $1,500 \times g$ for 45 min at 4°C. The supernatant was carefully discarded without disturbing the pellet. The viral pellet was then carefully re-suspended in DMEM complete cell culture medium with 1/10th of the original volume used, aliquoted into 200µl aliquots and stored at -80 °C.

2.2.3 Lentiviral Titre value

Lentiviral titre was determined using the Lenti-X® Go-stix. To determine the titre, 20µl of the concentrated viral particle solution (Section 2.2.2.2) was added to the Lenti-X® Go-stix kit and 4 drops of Lenti- X® concentrator buffer was added. This was allowed to stand for 15 min. The presence of two visible bands (one for control and one for test) is used to qualitatively detect viruses, and the intensity of the test band used to predict viral density.

2.2.2.4. Viral transduction for epithelial CRCs in submerged culture

CRCs were seeded at 5 x 10^5 cells into 35 mm Petri dishes and allowed to reach 80% confluency. Prior to transduction, 700 µl of fresh complete cell culture media was added to the cells. 100 µl aliquot of Lentiviral particles with the desired DNA was then added to the wells drop by drop with gentle agitation to mix the viral particle and medium. Following 24 h incubation, second round of transduction was carried out. Cells were passaged two times before characterisation of TG2 expression and activity.

2.2.3 Preparation of whole cell lysate

Adherent CRC lines were seeded into 60mm cell culture Petri dishes and allowed to reach 80-90% confluency. After washing once with ice cold PBS pH7.4, the cells were lysed in cell lysis buffer [50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, with 1% (v/v) Nonidet, 0.5% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% (w/v) SDS, 1mM benzamidine, 1mM NaF, 1mM Na₃VO₄ and freshly added 0.1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and 1% (v/v) protein inhibitor cocktail] and incubated for 30 minutes on ice. For spheroid cells, the spheroid suspension was collected and centrifuged at $300 \times g$ for 5 min at 4°C. Following washing once with ice-cold PBS, pH7.4, the cell pellets were centrifuged at $300 \times g$ for 5 min at 4°C and gently suspended in 100µl of lysis buffer and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Cell lysates were then pre-cleared by centrifugation at $300 \times g$ for 10 min at 4°C. The samples were stored at -80° C until use.

2.2.4 Protein Concentration

The protein content of cellular extracts was determined using the commercial kit from Bio-Rad based on the Lowry method (Lowry et al., 1951). Different concentrations of BSA solution (ranging from 0.0-1.0mg/ml) were used as standards. 5µl of BSA standards or whole cell lysates were added to a 96well plate in triplicate. 25µl of Reagent A was added to the wells, followed by 200µl of Reagent B, and incubated for 15 min at room temperature. The absorbance was read at 750nm using a plate reader and the values were plotted as a standard graph to aid in determining the protein concentration of the cell samples.

2.2.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate- Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

SDS-PAGE was performed as introduced previously (Wang et al., 2012). Following the protein concentration assay (**Section 2.2.4**), the protein extracts that contained the desired amount of protein were dissolved in a 1:1 ratio with 2x Laemmli sample buffer (Sigma Aldrich) (Yoo et al., 2012) and denatured via boiling for 5 min and then stored at -80 °C until needed in the SDS-PAGE. The SDS gels consisted of a stacking gel (containing 30% Acrylamide, Tris-HCL/SDS, pH 6.8, 10% ammonium persulphate and TEMED) and resolving gels that varied between 8-12% (w/v) polyacrylamide (containing 30% Acrylamide, Tris-HCL/SDS, pH 8.8, 10% ammonium persulphate and TEMED)

according to the molecular weights of the target proteins. The resolving and stacking gels were prepared as indicated in the **Table 2.3** below. The resolving gels were prepared using the BioRad mini gel system and isopropanol was poured onto the top of the gel to fill the gel system and provide the gel with a uniform flattened upper surface. The gels were then allowed to polymerise for 45 min to 1 h at room temperature. After polymerization of the resolving gel, the upper surface was washed thoroughly using distilled water. Excess water was removed from the gels, and the stacking gels were prepared (Table 2.4) and poured into the glass spacers and a 10-well comb was inserted into the stacking gel solution to form the sample wells.

Following polymerization of the stacking gel, the comb was carefully removed and the wells were washed with the SDS-PAGE running buffer containing 25mM Tris-HCl, 192mM Glycine and 0.1% (w/v) SDS, pH 8.3/8.4. Cell lysates containing denatured proteins in Laemmli buffer were loaded into the wells. Electrophoresis was initially carried out at 90V to allow the proteins to migrate through the stacking gel and then at 120V to aid protein migration through the resolving gel until the bromophenol blue tracking dye of the Laemmli buffer is seen to reach the bottom of the resolving gel.

	Acrylamide (v/v) Gel percentage		
	8%	10%	12%
30% (v/v) Acrylamide	6.0ml	7.5ml	9.0 ml
4x Tris HCl/SDS, pH8.8	7.5ml	7.5ml	7.5ml
dH2O	16.5ml	15.0ml	13.5ml
10% (w/v) Ammonium Persulphate	0.10ml	0.10ml	0.10ml
TEMED	0.020ml	0.020ml	0.020ml

	Table 2.2	Composition	of SDS-reso	lving Ge
--	-----------	-------------	-------------	----------

Table 2.3 Composition of SDS-stacking gel

	Stacking Gel
30%(v/v) Acrylamide	0.65ml
4x Tris HCl/SDS, pH6.8	1.25ml
dH2O	3.05ml
10% Ammonium Persulphate	0.025ml
TEMED	0.005ml

2.2.6 Western Blotting of Proteins

The proteins previously resolved by SDS-PAGE were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using a Bio-Rad wet transfer system as per previously established protocols (Wang et al., 2012). The fibre pads and nitrocellulose sheets were cut to gel size and pre-soaked in ice cold transfer buffer [48.8mM Tris, 39mM Glycine and 20% (v/v) methanol]. The gel holder cassette was placed open and a sponge was placed on the black coloured surface of the cassette. The pre-soaked fibre pads were then placed on the sponge, on top of which the gel was placed. The soaked nitrocellulose paper was then laid on top of the gel, followed by the pre-soaked fibre pad and finally the sponge. A roller was used to remove any trapped air bubbles. The cassettes were then assembled and inserted into the apparatus used for blotting so that the membrane side faces the anode electrode. The apparatus was then filled with ice cold transfer buffer. The electro-transfer of the proteins in the gel was performed for 2 h at 200mA. The success of the transfer of proteins on to the nitrocellulose membrane was confirmed by the presence of high molecular weight markers on the membrane.

2.2.7 Immunodevelopment of Western blots

Following the transfer, the nitrocellulose membrane was blocked with blocking buffer [5% (w/v) nonfat milk in TBS-Tween, pH7.4] for 1h at room temperature and then probed with different primary antibodies (**Table 2.5**) overnight with shaking at 4°C. The next day, the membrane was washed 4 times for 15 min each and then probed with the suitable secondary antibody diluted in blocking buffer (1:1000) for 2 h with shaking at room temperature. The membrane was then washed again with 1x TBS-Tween, 4 times for 15 min each. Immuno-detection of the blots was completed using the Amersham enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL) system kit (G.E Healthcare) according to the manufacturers' protocol. Reagents A and B were mixed in a 1:1 ratio and 1ml of the mixture was added onto each blot. Following 1 min of incubation, the membranes were wrapped in cling film. The chemiluminescent signals were detected using a Gensys imaging system.

Tris buffered saline (10x)- 1.5M NaCl in 0.2M Tris base.

1x TBS-Tween (1x Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween 20).

Primary Antibody	Source	Purpose	
Twist	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	EMT transcription factor	
Slug	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	EMT transcription factor	
β -catenin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
p-Src(Y416)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
Src	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
GAPDH	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Housekeeping protein	
Vimentin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Mesenchymal Marker	
αSMA	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Mesenchymal Marker	
N cadherin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Mesenchymal Marker	
TGFβ receptor 1	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
TGFβ receptor II	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
p-Smad 3	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
Smad 2/3	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
ERK1/2	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
p-ERK (T202/Y204)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
C-Jun	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
TGFβ1	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling	
β1 Integrin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling/Adhesion	
β3 Integrin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Signalling/Adhesion	
Nanog	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Stem cell transcription factor	
Sox	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Stem cell transcription factor	
Oct-4	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Stem cell transcription factor	
CD44	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Stem cell Marker	
	Santa Cruz Riotachnology Inc. UK	Transcription factor of	
1111, 10	Santa Cruz Diotechnology Inc, OK	angiogenesis	
VEGF	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Angiogenesis	
ZO-1	life Technologies, UK	Epithelial Marker	
TG2	Neomark Pierce UK	Cellular Protein	
Fibronectin	Sigma Aldrich, UK	Mesenchymal Marker	
S100A4	AbD Serotek	Tumour progression/ metastasis	
LDH	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, UK	Cytoplasmic Marker	
Lamin A/C	Abcam , UK	Nuclear Marker	

Table 2.4 List of primary antibodies used and their source

Table 2.5 List of secondary antibodies used and their source

Secondary Antibody	Source	Isotype
Swine anti-rabbit HRP	DAKO, DENMARK	Rabbit
conjugated		
Goat anti-mouse HRP	DAKO, DENMARK	Mouse
conjugated		

2.2.8 Stripping and re-probing of nitrocellulose membrane

To determine that equal amounts of protein was loaded onto each well during the SDS-PAGE gel were equal, or to re-probe for any other specific protein, the primary and secondary antibodies used to previously detect the protein of interest on the membrane was taken off from the blot using stripping buffer. The nitrocellulose membranes were immersed in stripping buffer pH 6.7 (65mM Tris HCL, 2% (w/v) SDS, 100mM 2-mercaptoethanol-freshly added) and incubated between 50-60 °C for 30min in an oven, with occasional shaking. The stripping buffer was then discarded and the blots were washed four times (15 min each) with 1x TBS-Tween, pH 7.4 at room temperature with gentle agitation. The membrane was then blocked in the blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. The immune-development was later performed with relevant antibodies followed by immune detection as described in **Section 2.2.7** using the ECL system.

2.2.9 Detection of whole cell lysate TG2 activity via Biotin Cadaverine incorporation

The transglutaminase activity of TG2 was measured via biotin cadaverine incorporation on to immobilised N,N-dimethylcasein as described previously by (Jones et al., 2006). 50µl of 10mg/ml of casein in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 was used to pre-coat the 96 well plates and left-over night at 4°C. After washing the wells three times with 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, whole cell lysate protein (obtained as described in (**Section 2.2.3**) was diluted in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 to a final concentration of 500µg/ml along with 0.1 mM biotin-cadaverine (Zedira Germany), 1mM DTT and 10mM CaCl₂. 400 ng/well of human recombinant TG2 (Zedira Germany) in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 containing 1mM DTT, 0.1 mM biotin cadaverine, 10mM EDTA (negative control) or 10mM CaCl2 (positive control) was used as the control samples. 100µl of the mix above of sample and controls were added into 96well plates in triplicate and incubated for 2 h at 37 °C. After incubation, the sample and control solutions were discarded and the biotin cadaverine incorporated onto the casein layer was washed with 1xTBS-Tween, three times and then blocked with blocking buffer (heat inactivated 3% (w/v) bovine serum albumin in 50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4) for 30 min at 37 °C. The biotin cadaverine incorporated into FN was incubated with Extravidin-peroxidase conjugate (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) diluted in blocking buffer (1:1000) for 1 h at 37°C. The wells were again washed three times with 1xTBS-Tween, and once with

TBS and the reaction was developed by the addition of 100µl of developing buffer containing SIGMAFAST OPD (o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride) [Sigma, Uk] tablets in 20mls of distilled water to yield a ready to use buffered solution that contains OPD and urea hydrogen peroxide. The development of colour was terminated using 50µl 3N HCl and the absorbance was read at 490nm using a Spectrafluor plate reader.

2.2.10 Cell viability analysis using XTT Assay

The XTT assay was used to measure cell viability and proliferation of the colorectal cancer cell lines. XTT assay is based on the principle that the cleavage of the yellow tetrazolium salt to form an orange formazen dye only transpires in metabolically viable cells and was performed in accordance with the manufacturers' instructions (Trevigen, USA). The formazen dye formed can be directly quantified using a Spectrafluor plate reader. To test the viability of cells. 3000 cells were seeded into 96 well plates in 100µl with complete medium and left to incubate in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% (v/v) CO₂. Iml of XTT labelling agent was mixed with 20µl of electron coupling reagent, and 30µl of the resultant mixture were added into each well and incubated for 4h in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO₂. Following the incubation period, measurement of the orange formazen dye was performed by taking absorbance measure using a SpectraFluor plate reader at a wavelength of 490nm, and the reference wavelength used was 690nm. The background wavelength of 690nm was subtracted from the absorbance values obtained from 490nm.

2.2.11 Chemosensitivity Assay

Chemosensitivity assays were used to assess chemo resistance in CRCs. The assay was based on the traditional adherent monolayer cell culture system, and measuring cell viability using the XTT reagent (Trevigen USA). Cells were collected, counted and seeded as described in **Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3**, and allowed to adhere for 4h before treatment with varying doses of 5 fluorouracil (5FU) and doxorubicin in 100µl of fresh complete cell culture media. After the duration of the treatment. Cell viability was measured as described in **Section 2.2.9** and the relative survival of cells treated with either 5 FU or doxorubicin was compared to that of the control vehicle (DMSO- Sigma, UK) treated cells.

2.2.12 Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm S.D. The data shown are derived from a representative experiment undertaken in triplicate. The differences between control and compound treated samples were determined using statistical software (GraphPad Instat software package). Comparisons among different groups were performed by student T-test or by an analysis of variance using ANOVA, where applicable. Significant differences between control and treatment groups were analysed by Bonferonni's Multiple Comparison Test. Statistical significant difference between data sets was defined in the text by *p* < 0.05 (two-sided).

Chapter 3

TG2 correlates with tumour progression and epithelial to mesenchymal transition *in vitro*

Chapter 3

3.0 TG2 correlates with tumour progression, and epithelial to mesenchymal transition in vitro

3.1Introduction

Cancer metastasis describes the progression of cancer from the primary tumour microenvironment to its establishment at distant sites, by way of the lymphovascular system (Lugassy and Escande, 1997). In many cancer treatments, metastatic cancer implies a need for the use of a higher grade medical intervention, to identify, and treat the cancer. In spite of this, the 5-year survival rates for metastatic cancer patients remain very poor. Metastasis involves several stages, such as the activation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (**Figure 3.1.1**), during which cancer cells lose all cell-cell contact and substrate adhesion ; gain local invasion -enabling malignant cells to degrade the basal lamina, the special extracellular matrix that organises and separates epithelial tissues from the stroma ; intravasate, during which tumour cells pass through the walls of blood vessels and enter the bloodstream; the ability to survive in the bloodstream; extravasation, whereby tumour cells exit the bloodstream; and establishment of tumour cells in the tissues of the organ where metastasis will form by a reversal of EMT called Mesenchymal to Epithelial Transition (MET) (Arvelo et al., 2016).



Figure 3.1.1 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition Promotes Tumour Progression. Epigenetic triggers in epithelial cells drive EMT, leading to loss of cell polarity, integrins and eventual gain of a mesenchymal phenotype which drives invasion, drug resistance and intravasation into the surrounding vasculature. Surviving circulating cells then revert to an epithelial phenotype via mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) at a secondary site to attach and seed a metastasis (Modified from Heerboth et al., 2015).

In colorectal cancer, the SW480 and SW620 cell lines have been validated as an *in vitro* model to study tumour progression (Hewitt et al., 2000). The SW480 cell line originated from a surgical specimen of a primary tumour of a moderately differentiated colon adenocarcinoma (grade 4, Duke class B). The SW620 cell line was established from a biopsy of a metastatic spread to the abdominal wall of the same patient (Leibovitz et al., 1976). Both of these cell lines represent an isogenic pair and have been used for a number of biochemical, immunological, and genetic studies on colon cancer (Kubens and Zänker, 1998, Zhao et al., 2007). Additionally, both SW480 and SW620 represent the microsatellite stable (MSS) subset of colorectal cancer based on molecular origins. The RKO cell line is a primary CRC cell line with a microsatellite instability (MSI) molecular basis, and it is for this reason that it may be generally regarded to be less aggressive or invasive than SW480 as it has been suggested that an MSI tumour is less invasive or aggressive compared to its corresponding MSS cancer (Rosty et al., 2014).

EMT has been identified as a crucial biological step for tumour metastasis and predicts a poorer 5-year survival in clinical colorectal cancer studies (Shioiri et al., 2006). This can be determined in vitro by assessing the expression of protein markers of EMT. Increased insensitivity to chemotherapy has been associated with metastasis, tumour progression (Agnihotri et al., 2013) and EMT (Kumar et al., 2010). In clinical studies, TG2 has been correlated with a poor 5-year survival and may play a role in EMT in cancer and fibrosis (Oh et al., 2011, Nyabam et al., 2016, Hwang et al., 2008). It has thus become important to identify potential biomarkers in colorectal cancer progression particularly as the genetic, especially the cytogenetic basis of colorectal cancer metastasis remains poorly understood. All the more so, as multiple studies in breast (Kumar et al., 2010), ovarian (Cao et al., 2008, Hwang et al., 2008), pancreatic (Mehta and Han, 2011) and lung cancer (Park et al., 2010) seem to be pointing to TG2 as a culprit in the progression of the disease by facilitating EMT and drug resistance. Therefore, a comparison between the primary (SW480-MSS), metastatic (SW620-MSS) human colorectal cancer cells may help identify oncogenic processes that are selectively upregulated in metastatic progression; and by studying all three cell lines the identity of common markers across the two broad molecular spectrums of CRCs-MSI or MSS may be identified. Additionally, since some clinical data suggests elevation of TG2 in patient tissue with poorer 5-year survival in CRCs, identifying if a similar trend is

obtainable in in vitro studies, and associating TG2 with processes that progress the disease may provide a clearer understanding of TG2's potential role in CRC and its potential as a prognostic marker or therapeutic target may then be established.
3.2 Aim and Objectives

The general aims of this chapter are: (i) to establish factors associated with tumour progression, and validate the current cell lines on these indices as showing a progression of the disease from primary to a metastatic tumour; and (ii) to determine if TG2 expression was related with progression of CRC in the current cell model.

Individual Objectives

- Characterise RKO, SW480, and SW620 for markers of progression including invasion and drug resistance to conventional CRC chemotherapy
- 2. Identify Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition as a cellular process in tumour progression in the current cell model by assessing both morphological and molecular markers of EMT
- Determine if disease progression in the current CRC model correlates with the expression and activity of TG2.
- 4. Manipulate TG2 expression via lentiviral transduction and identify the role of altered TG2 expression on EMT, drug resistance, invasion and cell motility
- 5. Explore the potential of TG2 specific small molecule inhibitors in attenuating cancer progression in CRCs.

3.3METHODS

3.3.1 Determining Cell Morphology

To make observations on cell morphology, cells were collected as described in **Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3**. 1.0 X10⁶ cells were seeded (approx. 80% confluency) into 35mm Petri dishes and allowed to adhere for 16h, after which cellular morphology was assessed and images captured using a phase contrast microscope.

3.3.2 Cell Invasion assay

Prior to the invasion assay cells were serum starved by seeding 1.0X10⁶ cells in 35mm Petri dish (approx. 80% confluency) in serum-free ITS (Insulin transferrin sodium selenite media supplement-Sigma Aldrich, UK) containing media for 16h. 3µM pore size inserts in an accompanying 24 well format plate (Corning plate) were coated with 33.3µl of 100µg/ml collagen IV in PBS. Following serum starvation Cell were collected, suspended (Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3) and seeded at a density of 1.0X10⁵ per 100µl in serum-free media containing 1xITS. To the bottom chamber of the Transwell inserts of a 24 well plate, 600µl of 10% (v/v) serum in DMEM (complete media) was added. To the coated Transwell 1.0X10⁵ cells per 100µl of ITS media was added each insert placed in the wells of the plates. The plates were incubated for 24h in cell culture conditions. Following incubation, the Transwell inserts were removed from the plates and the media was discarded and a cotton-tipped applicator was used to remove any remaining cells that had not migrated from the top of the membrane without damaging it. Following this, the cells that were embedded in the Transwell insert were fixed with 650µl of 70% (v/v) ethanol added into the well of the 24-well plate for 10min. After which excess alcohol was discarded from the inserts and the Transwell membrane allowed to dry (typically 10-15 min). 620µl of 0.2% (v/v) crystal violet was added to the well of the 24-well plate and then the inserts introduced into the wells containing crystal violet and incubated at room temperature for 5-10 minutes, to stain the cells. Following staining the inserts were removed and excess crystal violet discarded, again the inserts were washed gently 3 times with PBS, pH 7.4 to remove the excess crystal violet, and the Transwell membrane was allowed to dry. The invasive cells were viewed underneath an inverted microscope and a cell count was made under x10 objective. Images of the cells were also captured.

3.3.3 Cell Adhesion Assay

To perform the cell adhesion assay adherent cells were collected and collected as described in **Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3**. Cells were seeded 2.5×10^4 in 100µl per well, and cell adhesion was observed every 20min for 2h. After which the cells were fixed with 3.7% (w/v) formaldehyde in PBS, pH 7.4 for 15 minutes at room temperature. Formaldehyde was discarded and the wells were gently washed 3 times with PBS, pH 7.4. After the wash cells were permeabilised with 0.1% (v/v) Triton in PBS, pH 7.4 for 15 min at room temperature, and then wash with PBS 3 times. The cytosol of the cells was then stained with May-Grunwald (Sigma, UK) for 15 min at room temperature, excess stain was removed and washed off with PBS 3 times. Giemsa (Sigma UK) was used for nuclear staining and was introduced into the wells and incubated for 20min at room temperature. Excess stain was removed and washed off with dH₂O, 3 times and the wells left to air dry. Numbers of cells adhered were counted under the X10 objective of a phase contrast microscope and Images from each well was then captured.

3.3.4 Cell motility as measured by cell scratch/wound assay

The cell scratch assay was used to measure cell motility. To evaluate the *in vitro* migratory profile of the CRC cells 2.5×10^5 cells were seeded into 24 well plates and allowed to adhere and settle for 16h in 0.5ml 10%(v/v) serum-containing, non-essential amino acid supplemented growth medium (complete growth medium) and maintained under cell culture conditions (**Section 2.2.1**). Following 16h incubation, a scratch was made on the monolayer across each well by using a 10µl pipette tip. The cell culture media was then changed to 1% (v/v) serum containing DMEM cell culture media supplemented with non-essential amino acids, and incubated for 2h in cell culture conditions, after which the cell culture media was changed to fresh 1% (v/v) serum containing DMEM cell culture media supplemented with non-essential amino acids. Images at time 0h was captured via phase contrast microscope and the cells were then incubated in cell culture conditions for 24 h after which images were taken using a phase contrast microscope and the percentage wound closure determined by ImageJ® software.

3.3.5 In situ TG2 Activity assay

TG2 incorporation of FITC-cadaverine into cells was detected using fluorescent microscopy. The CRCs (80,000 cells) were seeded into an 8-well chamber slide and incubated overnight. The next day, the cells were exposed to fresh complete medium containing 0.5mM FITC -cadaverine and incubated for 16 h (Nicholas, *et al.* 2003). Following the incubation, the medium was removed and the cells were washed gently three times with PBS, pH 7.4 and then fixed with pre-chilled methanol (-20^oC) and then incubated for 15 min at -20^oC. The cells were then washed three times with PBS, pH 7.4 and air dried. Nuclei were visualized by 4-,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining (Vectashield; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) Fluorescent Imaging was performed using an inverted fluorescent microscope Leica DM1400B and the resulting images were analysed using Leica LAS AF Image browser software.

3.3.6 Immunofluorescence (IF) Staining

Immunofluorescent staining was performed as previously described by (Wang et al., 2013). CRCs were plated on chamber slides (BD Biosciences) 80,000 cells per chamber and allowed to adhere for 48h under cell culture conditions. After fixation in 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde, cells were permeabilized using 0.2% (v/v) Triton X-100 in phosphate- buffered saline (PBS; 15 min) and blocked for 1 h with 3% (w/v) bovine serum albumin in PBS. Subsequently, cells were incubated for 1 h with the appropriate primary antibodies in blocking buffer at room temperature, followed by 1 h incubation with the FITC-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody (DAKO Denmark) or TRITC anti-rabbit secondary antibody (DAKO Denmark). Nuclei were visualized by 4=,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining (Vectashield; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Fluorescent Imaging was performed using an inverted fluorescent microscope Leica DM1400B and the resulting images analysed using Leica LAS AF Image browser software.

3.3.7 RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis

TRIZOL Reagent (Invitrogen-Life Technologies) was used to isolate the total RNA from adherent cell monolayer as instructed in the manufacturers' protocol (Rio et al., 2010). Adherent CRCs at approximately 80-90% were washed once with ice-cold PBS. The cells were collected and lysed directly in 1 ml of TRIZOL reagent with the cell scraper. The cell solution in TRIZOL was vortexed thoroughly

and incubated for 1min. To the resulting cell lysate, 0.2 ml of chloroform was added and vortexed vigorously for 15 seconds after which the samples were incubated for 2 to 3 min at room temperature. The samples were then centrifuged at 12,000x g for 15 min using a refrigerated centrifuge (4°C). Following centrifugation, the lysate separates into a colourless upper aqueous phase, an interphase and the red phenol-chloroform phase which is the lower phase. The cellular RNA is present in the aqueous phase. The upper aqueous phase was carefully collected in a fresh tube, and the RNA precipitated with the addition and incubation of 500µl of isopropyl alcohol at room temperature for 10min. The precipitated RNA was collected by centrifugation at 12,000x g for 10 min at 4°C. The RNA pallet was washed twice with 1ml of 75 %(v/v) ethanol by vortexing and centrifugation at 7,500x g for 5 min at 4°C. Each time the supernatant was discarded and the pellet retained. The final washed RNA pellet was then air dried for 15 min and then subsequently dissolved in DEPC-treated RNase free water by gentle pipetting. The dissolved RNA samples were analysed spectrophotometrically using a Nanophotometer (IMPLEN, Munchen, Germany) to determine the purity of the RNA (A260/A280) obtained as well as the concentration of RNA in the sample.

3.3.8 Reverse Transcription of RNA to cDNA

cDNA synthesis from RNA was performed Using the Qiagen[®] RT² First Strand Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol. 5ng of RNA template from each cell line was added to the master mix of genomic elimination mixture (2µl of 5x gDNA elimination buffer) to get rid of any genomic contaminants. 10µl of RNase free water was added to the gDNA elimination buffer and gently mixed prior to incubation at 42°C for 5 min. The tube was chilled on ice for 1 min and for each reaction tube a reverse transcription (RT) enzyme cocktail was made containing 4µl of 5x RT buffer mix, 1µl of a primer and external control mix, 2µl of a RT enzyme mix and RNAse free water to make up a total volume of 10µl per reaction. This was added to 10µl of the genomic DNA elimination mix and mixed gently pipetting up and down. The mixture was incubated for 15 min at 42°C and heating the tube to 95°C for 5 min stopped the reaction. To each mix of 20µl, 91µl of RNase free water was added and mixed. This mix containing the cDNA was then used for PCR.

3.3.9 Reverse transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

RT-PCR was performed on cDNA obtained from the CRCs, the PCR reaction was performed using Taq DNA Polymerase kit from ThermoFisher according to the manufacturer's instructions. The solutions were initially kept on ice after being thawed completely. The reaction mix for the PCR was made up as follows;

Tuble ett T ett film		
Component	Volume	Final conc.
10X PCR buffer minus Mg	10 µl	1X
10 mM dNTP mixture	2 µl	0.2 mM each
50 mM MgCl ₂	3 µl	1.5 nM
Primer mix (10 µM each)	5 µl	0.5 μM each
Template DNA	1–20 µl	n/a
Taq DNA Polymerase (5 U/μl)	0.2–0.5 µl	1.0–2.5 units
Autoclaved distilled water	to 100 µl	

Table 3.1 PCR Mix

Following the constitution of the PCR mix. A typical PCR thermal cycler program was set up as outlined below; using 30-35 cycles of PCR amplification. The PCR tubes were first incubated in a thermal cycler at 94°C for 3 minutes to completely denature the template. 30-35 cycles of denaturing at 94°C for 45 seconds, annealing 55°C for 30 seconds and extension for 72°C for 90 seconds was performed. After the completion of the PCR cycle, the tubes were incubated for an additional 10 min at 72°C and the reaction maintained at 4°C for subsequent loading or stored at -20°C for long storage. After the PCR reaction was performed, 10ng of the PCR products were mixed with the loading dye and run on a 1.5% agarose gel in TAE buffer and analysed by gel electrophoresis.

Table 3.2 Primer sequences for PCR

Primer (Sigma Aldrich, UK)	Forward	Reverse
N-Cadherin	5'-aacagcaacgacgggttagt-3'	5'-cagacacggttgcagttgac-3
Zeb 2	5'-caagcetetgtagatggtee-3'	5'-atcgcgttcctccagttttct-3'
GAPDH	5'-tgcaccaccaacttgcttagc-3'	5'-ggcatggactgtggtcatgag-3'

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 Characterisation of CRCs on basis of Invasion, Cell Motility, EMT, Drug resistance and TG2 expression and activity levels.

3.4.1.1 Cell morphology and cellular proliferation

SW480 and SW620 cells have different morphology in culture. Light microscopy with a phase contrast microscope reveals that most of the SW480 cells have a spreading, epithelial-type morphology when growing on tissue culture plastic (**Figure 3.4.1A**). In contrast, its metastatic counterpart SW620 displays an ovoid to elongated morphology. The RKO cells have a similar cellular morphology to SW480. **Figure 3.4.1A** suggest that the morphological characteristics of SW480 and RKO cells are indicative of predominately epithelial cell-like features compared to SW620 cells. **Figure 3.4.1B** shows the differences in the proliferative potential of the three CRCs. RKO and SW480 proliferate at similar rates over the 3-day (72h) period. However, SW620, the metastatic cell line, exhibits a significantly (P<0.05) lower proliferation rate compared to both RKO and SW480 after 24h as assessed by XTT cell viability assay.

В



RKO

SW480





Figure 3.4.1. Physical characterisation of CRCs- RKO, SW480, and SW620. (A) Morphological differences in CRCs. Equal number of cells were seeded and allowed to reach ~80% confluency over 16h. Cell morphology was captured using an inverted microscope at 40x magnification. Images are representative (n=3). (B) Cell proliferation of RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells. 3000 cells were seeded in 96 well plates under cell culture conditions and cell proliferation determined by cell viability of cells using XTT as described in Section 2.2.11 Absorbance at 630nm was subtracted from absorbance at 490nm to correct for smudges (* P<0.05, n=3, mean \pm S.D)

3.4.1.2 Invasive capacity amongst the three cell lines

The cell invasion assay was used to assess the invasive potential of CRCs and used to validate progression in the current CRC model. Tumour invasion describes an inherent characteristic of cancer cells to degrade and permeate the basement membrane. Collagen IV coated 3.0 μ M inserts were used to mimic the basement membrane and used in assessing the invasive capacity of the three cell lines RKO SW480 and SW620. In **Figure 3.4.2** a count of cells that have invaded the matrix is shown and the metastatic cell line-SW620 displayed the highest potential for invasion and was significantly (p<0.05) higher than both primary cancer cell lines SW480 and RKO. More so, the SW480 cells displayed a significantly higher (P<0.05) invasive potential over the RKO cells.



Figure 3.4.2 Characterisation on the invasive potential of CRCs. (A) Representative images of crystal violet stained cells that have invaded collagen IV and the Transwell inserts. Images were captured using phase contrast microscope with the 10X objective. (B) Cell count of stained cells after invasion assay as described in Section 3.3.3. Cells were counted in the 10X objective field from 10 different fields of view (n=3, mean \pm S.D). (* statistical (p<0.05) difference between RKO and SW480, statistical difference between SW480 and SW620, ~ statistical difference between SW620, SW480, and RKO.

3.4.1.3 Assays to determine capacity for adhesion and motility

Following the morphological changes observed among the cell lines, and the differences in invasion potential *in vitro* an *in vitro* assay for cell motility and adhesion were used to analyse factors that might underlie these differences in tumour cell invasiveness. **Figure 3.4.3A** shows representative images of the cell scratch assay over 24h. Primary cells SW480 exhibited significantly (P<0.05) increased wound closure compared to SW620. Similarly, RKO cells were also significantly more motile than SW620 cells. Although SW480 cells showed higher percentage wound closure than RKO cells, this difference was not significant. Following the observation of the cell scratch assay, a cell adhesion assay was performed (**Figures 3.4.3B and C**); RKO and SW480 cells displayed a progressive increase in attachment between 0.5 and 2 h on cell culture plates. At 2h, there were significantly (P<0.05) more SW480 and RKO cells than SW620 cells adherent on the cell culture plates. Additionally, RKO and SW480 showed significant increases in cell spreading when compared to SW620 cells (**Figure 3.4.3D**).



Figure 3.4.3 Metastatic cell line is distinct on the basis of cell motility and adhesion (**A**) Images of cell scratch or wound assay. Wound closure was monitored over 24h as described in **Section 3.3.5**. Representative images at the 20x objective. (* SW620 significantly different from SW480, **SW620 significantly different from RKO, ~RKO significantly different from SW480 p<0.05; n=3. mean±S.D (**B**) Representative images of cytoplasmic (light purple) and nuclear stained (dark purple) stained cells attaching to cell culture plate after 2h of seeding as described in **Section 3.3.4**. Blue arrows show attached cells with cell spreading (distinct cytoplasmic and nuclear stain). Black arrow shows non spreading attached cells. (**C**) Bar chart showing the number of adhered cells after 2h of equal cell seeding, cells were counted at the 10X objective (**D**) Ratio of spread cells to the total number of cell as viewed under the 10X objective (* SW620 significantly different from SW480, ~SW620 significantly different from SW480, mean±S.D).

3.4.1.4 Markers of Epithelial to mesenchymal Transition and CRC disease progression are upregulated in metastatic cell SW620.

EMT has been associated with disease progression, drug resistance and invasiveness in many cancer types and proven to be an authentic marker of tumour progression. In **Figure 3.4.4**, protein expression of EMT markers was assessed in RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells by Western blotting. Mesenchymal cell markers fibronectin (FN), vimentin, and N-cadherin had a significantly (p<0.05) higher expression in metastatic cell line SW620 compared to its isogenic primary cell line SW480 and RKO. Consistent with this observation epithelial cell marker ZO1 expression was significantly higher in the primary cell lines SW480 and RKO compared to SW620. To further establish the metastatic potential of SW620, proteins associated with metastasis and tumour progression; S100A4 and alpha smooth muscle actin (α SMA) were determined by western blotting in whole cell lysates of the CRCs. Only SW620 cells expressed significant and detectable amounts of the two proteins.



Figure 3.4.4. Characterisation of CRCs on EMT and markers of disease severity. Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates of CRCs were used for detection of epithelial marker ZO1, mesenchymal cell markers vimentin, fibronectin (FN), myofibroblast cell marker α smooth muscle actin (α SMA), and metastatic cell marker S100A4. GAPDH was used as a measure of equal protein loading. These markers were analysed by Western blotting as described in **section 2.2.6**. Blots are representative (n=3). Bar chart shows the densitometry ratios of protein expression of the EMT marker proteins against GAPDH. (n=3; mean±S.D) *-statistically significant from RKO, **-statistically significant from RKO and SW480

3.4.1.5 Metastatic cell line SW620 exhibit high drug resistance

Following the observation of the phenotypic and invasive differences between the metastatic cell line and the two primary cell lines, it was important to characterise the cells' response to the conventional CRC chemotherapy drug 5 Fluorouracil (5FU). **Figure 3.4.5** shows a dose-response assay with 5FU performed to determine the sensitivity of cells to 5FU. Growth inhibition was monitored in a dosedependent manner in all three CRC cells, 5FU treatment resulted in different degrees of inhibition. The metastatic cell line SW620 displayed a significant (p<0.05) resistance to 5FU at doses (25-200µg/ml) during a 48-72h incubation when compared to primary cell lines RKO and SW480. Responses to 5FU by SW480 and RKO cells were similar. The drug-resistant of SW620 was also confirmed with doxorubicin with the metastatic cell line exhibiting significant resistance and higher viability to doxorubicin at (50-200 ng/ml) compared to the two primary cell lines SW480 and RKO during the 48-72h treatment period (**Figure 3.4.6**). No significant difference was found amongst the three cell line response to either 5Fu or doxorubicin within the first 24h of treatment. These findings, as well as other characterisation of the CRC's on cancer progression, confirm that SW620 metastatic cell line exhibits a progressive phenotype when compared to the two primary cancer cell lines.



Figure 3.4.5. Drug Response of CRCs to 5-Fluorouracil (5FU). 3000 cells/well were seeded in 96 well plate and treated with 5FU (25-200 μ g/ml) 4h post seeding. DMSO was used as control vehicle for control cells. Cells were maintained under cell culture conditions and cell viability assessed by XTT at the different incubation periods. Cell viability of treated cells was measured as a percentage of control cells. (*SW620 significantly different from SW480 and RKO, p<0.05; n=3, mean±S.D)



Figure 3.4.6. Drug Response of CRCs to doxorubicin. 3000 cells/well were seeded in 96 well plate and treated with doxorubicin (10-500ng/ml) 4h post seeding. DMSO was used as control vehicle for control cells. Cells were maintained under cell culture conditions and cell viability assessed by XTT at the different incubation periods. Cell viability of treated cells was measured as a percentage of control cells. (*SW620 significantly different from SW480 and RKO, p<0.05; n=3, mean \pm S.D).

3.4.1.6 TG2 is highly expressed in the Metastatic CRC disease model

After assessing the parameters associated with cancer progression including EMT, drug resistance and *in vitro* invasion and characterising the CRC cell lines for these parameters, it was now important to identify if TG2 was also associated with these characteristics. In **Figure 3.4.7A** TG2 protein epression was assesed via Western blotting and shows that TG2 is constitutively and significantly (p<0.05) expressed in the metastatic cell line SW620 compared to the two primary cell lines SW480 and RKO, with SW620 cells expressing about ~12-folds higher TG2 compared to SW480 cells. SW480 expressed ~7-folds the level of TG2 detected in RKO cells. Since TG2 is an enzyme, whose activity can be easily detected. In **Figure 3.4.7B** TG2 crosslinking cataytic activity over a 2h period was assayed for in whole cell lysates of the three cell lines and confirmed the results of the Western blot, with SW620 cells exhibiting significantly higher TG2 activity in the whole cell lysates compared to SW480 and RKO. Although SW480 possesed higher TG2 activity than RKO, it was however not significant. Furthermore to validate this finding TG2 *in situ* incorporation of FITC-cadavarine was measured by fluorescent microscopy (**Figure 3.4.7C**) which confirmed findings observed using Western blotting and TG2 activity in whole cell lysates, with SW620 cells exhibiting higher fluorescent intensity than primary cells SW480 and RKO.



Figure 3.4.7 Characterisation of CRCs for TG2 expression level. (A)Whole cell expression of TG2. Whole cell lysates of CRCs were used for detection of cellular TG2. GAPDH was used as housekeeping protein and a measure of equal protein loading. Blots are representative, bar chart show densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH *-statistically significant from RKO, **-statistically significant from RKO and SW480) (B) TG2 whole cell lysate activity as measured by biotin cadavarine incorporation into casein coated wells (*SW620 significant from SW480, ** SW620 significant from SW480, p<0.05; n=3, mean±S.D). (C) Fluorescent image of FITC-cadavarine incorporation *in situ* (Section 3.3.5). Fluorescent imaging was performed using an epifluorescent microscope and images are representative of two independent experiments.

3.4.2 TG2 expression and activity is associated with cellular invasion, EMT, cell motility and drug resistance

Next the involvement of TG2 in cell adhesion, cell motility, cell invasion and drug resistance was investigated. TG2 expression was silenced by a lentiviral construct containing shRNA for TG2 in the TG2 expressing SW620 and SW480 cells, conversely human TG2 was ectopically expressed by lentiviral construct in RKO cells. Additionally, TG2 was pharmacologically inhibited using TG2 site specific small molecule inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) to treat cells and determine the effect of TG2 inhibition on cellular activities. The toxicity of 1-155 and the different lentiviral treatments was investigated in the three CRCs by monitoring their effects on cell viability. Neither of these treatments affected the viability of the cells (**Figures 3.4.14** and **3.4.18C** respectively).

3.4.2.1 TG2 may be required for EMT in this CRC model

TG2 expression was silenced in SW480 and SW620 cells by transduction of cells with TG2 shRNA. The efficiency of the different shRNA constructs on TG2 expression and corresponding effect on the expression of EMT markers is shown in **Figure 3.4.8.** Following stably manipulating TG2 expression by stable ectopic expression in RKO, and silencing in SW480 and SW620 the effect TG2 expression on EMT was determined. In **Figure 3.4.9** increase in TG2 expression by viral trasduction in RKO cells led to significantly (p<0.05) increased expression of mesenchymal markers, including vimentin and FN, and a significant decrease in epithelial tight junction marker Zonal occludin 1 (ZO-1). The expression level of these EMT markers was significantly reversed once TG2 was downregulated by transduction of TG2 shRNA in SW480 and SW620 cells. TG2 downregulation by shRNA also restored levels of ZO-1. More so by monitoring the mRNA levels of EMT markers by reverse transcriptase PCR, TG2 expression was associated with increased mRNA levels of N cadherin, and Zeb 2 an EMT transcription factor in SW620 and RKO cells with manipulated TG2 expression levels (**Figure 3.4.10A**). These changes in EMT markers with TG2 expression were validated in SW620 cells and RKO cells by immunofluorescence staining of Vimentin, Fibronectin and ZO-1 (Figure 3.4.10B).



Figure 3.4.8 Transduction efficiency of TG2 shRNA in SW620 and SW480 cells. Representative Western blotting for TG2 and EMT markers expression following transduction with various lentiviral TG2 shRNA constructs. Blots are representative of 2 independent experiments. Ratios indicate mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression of the proteins normalised to GAPDH.



Figure 3.4.9 TG2 expression correlates with expression of EMT markers. (A) Representative Western blotting for TG2 and EMT markers in CRCs following TG2 expression increased by viral transduction (TG2) or reduced by transduction with TG2 shRNA (SW480shRNA and SW620shRNA) and their corresponding transduced empty vector (EV) controls. GAPDH was used as housekeeping protein and used to normalise protein loading. EMT markers were analysed by Western blotting. (B) Relative densitometry ratios of protein expression of the proteins against GAPDH. (n=3; mean \pm S.D) *-statistically significant from EV cells.



Α

В



Figure 3.4.10 TG2 expression corresponds with EMT in CRCs. (**A**)Semi-quantitative RT-PCR for EMT marker N-cadherin and transcription factor Zeb2in TG2 manipulated RKO and SW620 cells, PCR blots are representative of 2 independent experiments performed in duplicate. GAPDH was used as housekeeping gene. Ratios indicate mean relative densitometry ratios of mRNA levels of the genes against GAPDH (**B**) Immunofluorescent detection of TG2 and EMT marker epitopes by fluorescence microscopy in TG2 manipulated cells and their corresponding controls (EV). Representative image (n=3).

3.4.2.2 TG2 expression induces a fibroblast like morphology in CRCs

Since TG2 expression altered the EMT potential of the cells, we next determined if TG2 expression would also alter the morphology of the cells. By manipulating TG2 expression in RKO, SW480 and SW620 the morphology of these cells (**Figure 3.4.11A**) altered with TG2 expression. The images show that increasing TG2 expression correlated with an elongated, fibroblast like appearance in cells ,while loss of TG2 expression coincided with a cuboidal, more epithelial cell like morphology. **Figure 3.4.11B**, shows that upon shRNA treatment, TG2 cellular catalytic activity is significantly (p<0.05) reduced by about 75% in SW620 cells and almost 80% in SW480 cells and conversely when TG2 is ectopically expressed in RKO cells TG2 cellular catalytic activity is significantly increased by over 800%, confirming the stable expression or knockdown of TG2 in these cells following TG2 gene manipulation.



Figure 3.4.11 Lentiviral manipulation of TG2 expression affects cellular morphology and TG2 activity (A) Representative images of cell morphology of CRCs transduced with TG2 shRNA or wt TG2. Equal number of cells were seeded and 48h later images were taken at $40\times$ objective magnification. (n=3) (B) TG2 whole cell lysate activity as measured by biotin cadavarine incorporation into casein coated wells (Section 2.2.9) (* statistical difference between RKO EV and RKO TG2, # statistical difference between SW480 EV and shRNA cells,~ statistical difference between SW620 EV and shRNA cells p<0.05; n=3, mean±S.D).

3.4.2.3 Empty vector transduction cells are comparable to the wt CRCs.

To eliminate any non-specific effect of the lentiviral construct on TG2 and cellular protein markers associated with EMT, a comparison of the effect of control plasmid (Empty vector-EV) on TG2 and EMT was carried out by Western blot and in **Figure 3.4.12** it can be seen that the empty vector containing cell which has plasmids that encode the Lentivirus showed comparable expression of TG2, and EMT markers- ZO1 and vimentin, as the control wt cells in the RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells. Additionally the figure also confirms the knockdown of TG2 by shRNA in SW480 and SW620 cells and the over 50 fold increase in TG2 expression in RKO cells transduced with the TG2 vector. Moreover, this confirms that the shRNA sequence selected to target TG2 expression (**Figure 3.4.8**) in SW620 and SW480, effectively and stably silenced TG2 in SW620 and SW480 cells respectively.



Figure 3.4.12 WT CRCs show comparable TG2 and EMT markers expression to control vector transduced cells. Representative Western blotting for EMT markers ZO1 and vimentin in whole cell lysates of wt cells, cells transduced with empty vector (EV, control cells) and cells transduced with lentiviral particles containing human TG2 (TG2) or shRNA targeting human TG2 (shRNA) in RKO, and SW480 and SW620 cells respectively(n=2).

3.4.2.3 TG2 expression correlates with expression of EMT transcription Factors.

After observing that TG2 expression correlates with the expression of EMT markers, and that TG2 expression resulted in a marked fibroblast like cellular morphology in these epithelial CRCs, it became necessary to determine the effect of TG2 expression on upstream regulation of EMT. **Figure 3.4.13** shows that knockdown of TG2 in the metastatic high TG2 expressing cell SW620 resulted in a corresponding significant (p<0.05) loss of approximately 60% in the expression of Slug and Twist. Slug and Twist are important transcription factors of EMT and upregulation of these proteins lead to

EMT in epithelial cells (Agnihotri et al., 2013). What this data suggests is that TG2's role in EMT is upstream of these two transcription factors in the EMT process.



Figure 3.4.13 TG2 knockdown reduces cellular expression of EMT transcription factors in SW620 cells. Representative Western blot showing that TG2 expression correlates with increased expression of transcription factors of EMT (Slug and Twist) in SW620 (EV) control cells or SW620 cells transduced with TG2 shRNA (shRNA). Bar chart show relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3), *-statistically different from EV cells (p<0.05).

3.4.2.4 TG2 inhibitor 1-155 is a potent inhibitor of TG2 at small doeses

TG2 site specific cell permeable inhibitor 1-155 developed at Aston University was used to inhibit TG2 in RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells. 1-155 was chosen amongst an array of developed inhibitors due to its potency with an IC50 of 6nM (Badarau et al., 2015, and a dose of 1 μ M which is specific for TG2 (Badarau et al., 2015). To establish that the 1 μ M concentration of TG2 inhibitor used did not pose any toxic effect on the CRCs- RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells, the cell viability of cells treated with 1-155 with a dose range of (0.1-2 μ M) was determined. (**Figure 3.4.14**) 1-155 at varying doses (0.1-2 μ M) did not affect cell viability after a 48h treatment, with cell viability in 1-155 treated cells showing a comparable levels tothe control vehicle (DMSO) treated cells.



Figure 3.4.14: Treatment of CRCs with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 does not affect cell viability of CRCs. Effect of TG2 inhibition by 1-155 on cellular proliferation of CRCs over 48h incubation period. Cell proliferation was assessed via measuring cell viability with the XTT assay. Control cells received the control vehicle DMSO (n=2, mean \pm S.D). Corrected absorbance was obtained at (490-630)nm.

3.4.2.5 Cellular inhibition of TG2 attenuates EMT in CRCs

Figure **3.4.9** shows that TG2 expression correlates with expression of EMT markers, and following the establishment of the non toxic effects of 1-155 on cell viability of the CRCs, cells were treated with 1-155 (1 μ M) for 48h . **Figure 3.4.15 A and B** shows that treatment of SW480 and SW620 with the TG2 site specific inhibitor 1-155 (Badarau et al., 2015) significantly (p<0.05) reduced the expression of TG2 by about 50% in both SW620 and SW480 cells. Additionally inhibition of TG2 with 1-155 resulted in significantly reduced expression of EMT markers vimentin and fibronectin by about 30%

and 50% respectively when compared to the control cells. Additionally the expression of transcription factors Slug and Twist 1 in SW620 cells was significantly reduced compared to the detectable amounts shown in the control cells. 1-155 treatment also significantly enhanced expression of the epithelial tight junction protein ZO-1 by around 1.34 and 1.51 fold respectively in SW480 and SW620 cells when compared to control cells. Similarly in RKO cells transduced with TG2 (**Figure 3.4.15C**), treatment with TG2 inhbitor 1-155 significantly reduced expression of the EMT marker fibronectin (~70%) and upregulated ZO-1 (~1.97 fold) compared to control cells. Expression of EMT markers in the inhibited, TG2 transduced cells was similar to the amounts detected in the empty vector treated cells. However, expression of TG2 which is under the control of a viral promoter in these cells was not affected by TG2 inhibition.



Figure 3.4.15 Cellular inhibition of TG2 attenuates EMT (**A**) Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates from SW620 empty vector control cells (EV) and SW620 cells transduced with TG2 shRNA or control EV cells treated with TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M). Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO. (**B**) Representative Western blot of SW480 empty vector control cells and SW480 cells transduced with TG2 shRNA (SW480shRNA) or EV cells treated with TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M). Control EV cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO. (**C**) Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates from RKO EV cells treated with the vehicle control DMSO and RKO cells transduced with TG2 (RKO TG2) or RKO-TG2 cells treated with TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M). All treatments were performed for 48h prior to cell lysis. Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3, mean±S.D). *-Statistically different from EV cells, **-statistically different from EV and shRNA cells.

3.4.2.6 TG2 induces in-vitro cellular invasion in the SW480 and SW620

As shown in Section 3.4.1.2, the invasive potential of cells was significantly (p<0.05) increased in the SW620-metastatic cell line compared to the two primary cell lines SW480 and RKO. In Figure 3.4.16 TG2 silencing in SW480 and SW620 resulted in a significantly reduced invasive capacity of the cells *in vitro*. However, increasing TG2 expression in RKO cells did not markedly increase the invasive potential of the cells. A similar trend was observed with the CRCs treated with the inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M), as inhibiting TG2 in SW480 and SW620 significantly reduced the ability of the cells to degrade collagen IV and invade the Transwell inserts compared to the control cells however, TG2 inhibition led to comparable levels of invasion observed in the TG2 knockdown cells.



Figure 3.4.16 TG2 plays a role in increased cellular Invasion in CRCs. (A)Representative images of crystal violet stained cells that have invaded the collagen IV and the Transwell inserts. Images were captured using phase contrast microscope at the 10X objective. For 1-155 (1 μ M) treated cells, cells were pre-treated with 1-155 for 24h prior to seeding cells and were further treated with 1-155 (1 μ M) after cell seeding for the duration of the experiment. EV, shRNA and TG2 viral treated cells were treated with DMSO, the control vehicle. (B) Cell count of stained cells after invasion assay as described in **Section 3.3.2**. Cells were counted in the 10X objective field from 10 different field of each insert. (*- statistically difference between SW480 EV and SW480 shRNA, **-statistically difference between SW480-EV and 1-155 treated cells; # Statistical difference between SW620-EV and SW620 shRNA, ~statistical difference between SW620-EV and 1-155 treated cells. Statistical significance set as p<0.05, n=3, mean±S.D).

3.4.2.7 TG2 fosters in vitro cell motility in CRCs.

In Section 3.4.1.3 RKO and SW480 cells displayed higher wound closure in a cell scratch assay, compared to SW620 cells. TG2 expression in the three CRCs showed a significant (p<0.05) effect on cell motility. In Figure 3.4.17A TG2 knockdown by shRNA in SW480 cells resulted in ~50% closure of the wound as against ~78 % wound closure in the control cells. More so TG2 inhibition by 1-155 $(1\mu M)$ led to ~55% wound closure which was also significantly less relative to the control cells. The effect of TG2 inhibition and shRNA knockdown on cell motility in these cells were comparable although TG2 inhibited cells scored a higher wound closure percentage. In the SW620 cells a similar trend was observed with TG2 knockdown resulting in ~19% wound closure versus the ~38% wound closure observed in the control cells. TG2 inhibition further reduced cell motility to about 15% wound closure albeit non-significant when compared to the knockdown cells. As a proof of concept TG2 was ectopically expressed in low expressing TG2 cells-RKO, resulting in a significantly increased cell motility with around 98 % wound closure in TG2 transduced cells compared to ~70% in the empty vector cells. When RKO cells made to ectopically express TG2 were treated with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 $(1\mu M)$ cell motility was significantly less when compared to the control EV cells (Figure 3.4.17C). These data suggesst that TG2 expression was associated with significant increase in cell motility in all three CRCs.



Figure 3.4.17 TG2 expression or activity impacts on cell motility of CRCs. Cell migration of cells assessed by monitoring wound closure was determined by a cell scratch assay monitored over 24h as described in (Section 3.3.4). Images are representative at 20x objective. For 1-155 (1µM) treated cells, cells were pre-treated with 1-155 for 24h prior to seeding cells and were further treated with 1-155 (1µM) after cell seeding for the duration of the experiment. EV, shRNA and TG2 viral treated cells were treated with DMSO, the control vehicle. (* ,#• indicates a statistical significant difference p<0.05, n=3; n.s not significant, mean±S.D).

3.4.2.8 TG2 may promote a drug resistance phenotype in CRCs

In Section 3.4.1.5 metastatic cell line SW620 displayed significantly higher resistance to 5FU and doxorubicin- both chemotherapeutic treatment. Following that TG2 has played a role in EMT, cell motility and invasion, it was also important to assess the effect of TG2 manipulation on anticancer drug response. In Figures 3.4.18 A and B, TG2 knockdown in SW620 and SW480 significantly sensitised these cells to 5FU at varying doses (10-50)µg/ml. Following doxorubicin treatment, SW480 cells with TG2 shRNA were significantly sensitised to doxorubicin at lower doses (10-50 ng/ml). However, in SW620 cells, TG2 shRNA significantly sensitised the cells to doxorubicin at all doses. Conversely when TG2 was ectopically expressed in RKO cells drug response to both 5FU and doxorubicin was unchanged compared to the control cells (Figure 3.4.18 A and B). Figure 3.4.18C show that both lentiviral empty vector cells and lentiviral shRNA or TG2 target cells demonstrate similar cellular viability rates over 72h period, and the differences in viability following 5FU or Doxorubicin treatment is Figures 3.4.18A and B is attributable to TG2 knockdown effect.



Figure 3.4.18 TG2 expression may modulate chemoresistance in CRCs. (A) Drug response of CRC with manipulated TG2 expression using shRNA or ectopic TG2 expression to 5FU treatment (10- $50\mu g/ml$) for 48h. (B)Drug response of CRCs with manipulated TG2 expression using shRNA or ectopic TG2 expression to doxorubicin treatment (10-200ng/ml) for 48h. 3000 cells/well were seeded in 96 well plate and treated with 5FU (25- $200\mu g/ml$) or doxorubicin (10-200ng/ml) 4h post seeding. DMSO was used as control vehicle for control cells. (C) Effect of shRNA, and TG2 viral particles on cell proliferation for 72h duration. Cells were maintained under cell culture conditions and cell viability assessed by XTT at the different incubation periods. Cell viability of treated cells was measured as a percentage of control cells. (*, p<0.05; n=3, mean±S.D). Corrected absorbance was obtained at (490-630)nm.
3.5 Discussion

Evaluating the molecular mechanisms and cellular processes involved in tumour progression is critical to understanding the disease and thus finding potential biomarkers or therapeutic targets. In view of this three phenotypic or biological processes have been highlighted. First is the ability of tumour cells to invade the biological membrane, and this serves to mimic the invasiveness of a tumour and its ability to intravasate into blood vessels as cancer progresses into a metastasis. By using a Boyden chamber Transwell insert with the pore size of 3µm and coated with collagen IV, the ability of cells to degrade collagen IV, and squeeze through the pores of the insert and migrate towards nutrient and growth factors present in the lower chamber was studied. The data clearly shows that the metastatic cell line possesses significantly higher invasive characteristics, compared to its isogenic primary tumour cell line SW480 and RKO cells. It is expected that metastatic SW620 cells and also higher graded cancer cells would demonstrate higher invasive potential. This is because as tumour cells progress they gain the necessary cellular machinery to invade and metastasise (Arvelo et al., 2016). Hewitt et al., (2002) reported increased in vivo invasive potential of SW620, compared to SW480 in immune compromised mice. Similarly, in a study performed by Young Sul et al., (1995), the invasive potential of colon metastatic tumour cell line Lovo was significantly higher than the primary cell line SW480. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a cellular process that is purported to be used by cancer cells to progress from a primary tumour to a metastatic one (Kumar et al., 2010). This is because EMT promotes cell migration and invasion (Christiansen and Rajasekaran, 2006). The upregulation in the expression of mesenchymal cell markers by epithelial cells and loss of the typical cellular tight junction proteins indicates that an epithelial cell is undergoing EMT. It is for this reason that increased fibronectin which is required for extracellular matrix remodelling and cellular anchoring during cellular migration is increasingly expressed (Sung et al., 2015). More so vimentin, a type III intermediate filament, and a mesenchymal marker is also unregulated to enable reorganisation of the cellular cytoskeleton and architecture, to promote cell elongation, and the necessary tensile strength for lamellae contraction and relaxation as cells form lamellopodia and filopodia protrusions during migration and invasion (Mendez et al., 2010). Additionally, epithelial cells undergoing EMT may lose the cell-cell tight junction proteins

that anchor cells to each other and then to the matrix. One of such proteins is E-cadherin-a calcium regulated adherin transmembrane protein and zona occludin 1 (ZO 1) which serve as tight junction protein and aids adhesions of cells to one another and to the tissue. Such tight junction proteins are downregulated and replaced by N-cadherin which promotes fibroblastic phenotype in cancer cells, making them become more motile and invasive (Derycke and Bracke, 2004). In this current study, the metastatic cell line exhibited a mesenchymal like phenotype by significantly expressing markers of EMT, such as fibronectin, vimentin, and N-cadherin when compared to the two primary CRCs RKO and SW480. In addition, ZO1, an epithelial cell like protein, was significantly less expressed in SW620 when compared to SW480 and RKO, and would suggest that EMT is an upregulated cellular process during tumour progression in this cell model; and also fits with our finding on the invasive potential of SW620, and may explain the cellular changes in SW620 cells enabling migration through the pores of the Transwell inserts. More so the high vimentin expression in SW620 cells is consistent with the morphological differences observed between SW620 and the primary CRCs SW480 and RKO, with the former possessing a spindle like appearance which may be maintained by the inherently high expression of vimentin which maintains the cytoskeletal structure when compared to the cobble like morphology in SW480 and RKO with low vimentin expression. As part of characterising the three CRCs cells a adhesion and a scratch assay was performed. The results indicate that the primary cells possess significantly higher cellular adhesion on tissue culture plastic compared to the metastatic cell line and this phenotypic difference further suggests that RKO and SW480 have the adequate anchoring machinery to keep them within the ECM and tissues, further indicating an epithelial phenotype. Additionally, RKO and SW480 exhibited a higher wound closure capacity in a scratch assay, an indicator of a higher cell motility in these cells which is associated with increased attachment, since attachment is required for migration to occur an observation that has also been reported by Hewitt et al., (2000) who performed comparative phenotypic evaluation in SW480 and SW620 cells. More so, Kubens and Zanker (1998) also demonstrated that SW480 had increased cellular motility compared to SW620. The role of EMT in tumour progression has been widely studied in the literature and has been shown to be relevant in clinical studies where EMT is positively correlated with Duke's staging, tumour metastasis, and poorer 5-year survival rates in human colorectal cancer (Shioiri et al., 2006).

Drug resistance in cancer cells may also develop during the signalling processes of differentiation, which is essential for EMT (Housman et al., 2014). For example, the increased expression of transforming growth factor β (TGF β) in colon cancer which is required for EMT, also serves as a survival signal for cancer cells against drugs (Bates and Mercurio, 2005).

A key characteristic of a progressed tumour is its ability to resist chemotherapy. Using 5FU a first line treatment for colorectal cancer we find in our current cell model that the metastatic cell line SW620 exhibited significant resistance to 5FU when compared to primary CRCs RKO and SW480 cells. A similar trend was observed using doxorubicin another chemotherapeutic agent. One possible mechanism for increased drug resistance in the SW620 cells may be due to the high inherent EMT occurring in the cells, another possible mechanistic characteristic could be the slower proliferation rate of the cells compared to the primary CRCs, as a lower proliferation rate may provide the cells with a more adaptive response. Some of the mechanism of drug resistance include increased xenobiotic efflux out of the cells (e.g., P-glycoprotein), mutation of the target of a particular toxin, and activation of alternate biological pathways instead of the one hit by a toxin (Hu and Fu 2012). Since the proliferation and doubling time of the SW620 cells is longer, it gives the cells more time to adapt to the xenobiotic in which case it can develop an effective efflux system, or activate an alternative biological pathway for survival. Consequences that may not be possible in a high dividing cellular population as the cells do not have sufficient time to adapt to the xenobiotic. Hewitt et al., (2000) also reported decreased susceptibility of SW620 cells to apoptosis-inducing factors such as TNF- α and serum deprivation compared to SW480 cells. The increased drug resistance of SW620 to 5FU compared to SW480 is similar to findings by (Bauer et al., 2012) who reported that the IC₅₀ of SW620 was 2.7-folds higher than that for SW480.

By assessing in vitro cell invasion, EMT and drug resistance in RKO, SW480 and SW620 the current data suggest that the current cell line model exhibit a progression of CRC from a primary tumour to a metastatic one. This was also confirmed by detecting S100A4 (metastasin) (Boye and Maelandsmo, 2010, He et al., 2017) and α SMA- proteins associated with metastasis and tumour progression. And only in the metastatic cell line and not the two primary CRCs was metastatin and α SMA detected by Western blotting. This confirms reports that SW480 and SW620 provide and *in vitro* model for

studying cancer progression in CRCs. With this in hand, it was now important to identify the role of TG2 in the progression CRCs. The current data shows that TG2 expression increases with disease progression from primary to a lymph node metastatic tumour in microsatellite stable (MSS) CRC isogenic pair (SW480 and SW620). Similarly, TG2 expression increased between primary CRCs RKO and SW480. With the former hypothesised to be less invasive as indicated by the EMT markers and invasion assay studied. More so RKO possesses microsatellite instability (MSI) which is attributed with a less invasive phenotype compared to its corresponding MSS cancer (Rosty et al., 2014). These findings are similar to that reported by Miyoshi et al., (2010) who showed in clinical samples, using real time RT-PCR that TG2 expression was higher in CRC tissue compared to the corresponding normal tissue. Furthermore, they showed that TG2 expression correlated with tumour lymph node metastasis, lymphatic invasion, metastasis, and cancer disease staging. Clinical studies in various other cancer types also suggest that TG2 expression correlates with a poor 5-year survival rate (Hwang et al., 2008, Oh et al., 2011). In addition, a growing body of evidence suggests that EMT confers tumour cells with the ability to disseminate, invade surrounding tissues and eventually metastasise.

Having been able to establish the progression of CRCs in the current cell model, the role of TG2 in the cellular processes highlighted above was investigated. EMT is a major pathway that governs cell behaviour during cancer progression and is the initial step in tumour metastasis and has been linked to drug resistance (Cao et al., 2008, Mehta et al., 2010). Current data obtained suggest that TG2 may influence cancer progression in CRCs by facilitating EMT. Mesenchymal cell markers were up regulated in cells either constitutively expressing high levels of TG2 (SW620 cells) or ectopically expressing TG2 (RKO cells transduced with TG2) as confirmed by Western blotting and RT-PCR. While knockdown of TG2 using shRNA in SW480 and SW620 cells decreased the protein expression of these markers and concomitantly increased expression of the epithelial marker ZO-1 in SW620 and SW480 cells. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of TG2 by the highly specific TG2 irreversible, cell permeable peptidomimetic inhibitor 1-155 was also efficient in attenuating EMT. This finding proposes TG2 as a potential therapeutic target in CRC treatment using site specific TG2 small molecule inhibitors. The result also suggests that TG2 may play an upstream role in mediating EMT since TG2 expression correlates with the expression of the EMT transcription factors Slug and Twist, in SW620

cell and that inhibition of TG2 attenuated the expression of these transcription factors. Similar studies by (Kumar et al., 2010) also showed that in MCF10A and MCF12A mammary epithelial cancer cells, TG2 regulates the expression of EMT transcriptional regulators including Snail, Twist, Zeb1, and Zeb 2. TG2 also significantly affected the ability of cells to invade in vitro. Cancer invasion is an important element of the disease. In the isogenic pair SW480 and SW620 TG2 knockdown reduced the potential for invasion, similar reports have been made in breast cancer cells (Kumar et al., 2010). However, findings by Cellura et al., (2015) in the same isogenic pair SW480 and SW620 cells, suggests that TG2 correlates with reduced invasion. This disparity in findings could be due to the multifunctional and pleiotropic roles of TG2 as similar contradictory roles have been found in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells (Fok and Mehta 2007) prostate cancer cells-and in the human bladder carcinoma J82 cells (Yoo et al., 2012, Kotsakis and Griffin, 2007). This may also explain the non-significant impact of ectopic TG2 expression on invasion in the RKO cells, or as RKO appears to be significantly less progressive compared to SW480 and RKO, the necessary mutations or cellular changes preexquisite for TG2 induced alteration in invasion has not yet occurred. However, the effect of TG2 on cellular invasion in SW480 and SW620 cells fits with the earlier findings that show TG2 downregulation affects aspects of EMT such as reduced expression of vimentin, which plays a role in cell contraction necessary for invasion.

Cellular motility was also significantly increased in TG2 expressing cells. TG2 has been reported to be a binding partner or a modifier of many ECM proteins. Of relevance is TG2 interaction with integrin a cell adhesion molecule and the subsequent activation of focal adhesion kinase (Eckert et al., 2014), which supports cell attachment. During cell migration, the cell requires integrin interaction with FAK and the actin cytoskeleton to enable anchorage as the cell toggles through the ECM by a cycle of protruding the lamellipodia and filopodia, and this may explain the increased migration observed in TG2 expressing cells. In addition, TG2 mediated cellular motility in an *in vitro* cell scratch assay has been reported in breast cancer cell (Kumar et al., 2010, Wang and Griffin, 2013), epidermal squamous cancer cells (Fisher et al., 2015a). The increased cellular motility suggests an adoption of a mesenchymal-like cell and the progression of EMT.

EMT has also been reported to influence cancer response to chemotherapy, as EMT transcription factors have also been reported to regulate cell survivor genes, for instance ZEB2 an EMT transcription factor has been suggested to prevent ATM/ATR activation in response to a genotoxic stress in bladder cancer patients treated with radiotherapy (Sayan et al., 2009), furthermore Twist 1 has also been shown to trigger chemoresistance in an EMT-dependent manner through its ability to induce AKT2 expression and to differently modulate the ratio between pro- and anti-apoptotic members of the BCL-2 family. SNAIL1 and SNAIL2 has been shown to interfere with p53-target gene activation in renal epithelial and hematopoietic precursor cells (Ansieau et al., 2014). In this regard, TG2 silencing in SW480 and SW620 cells sensitised these cells to chemotherapeutic drugs 5FU and doxorubicin. This agrees with reports shown in breast cancer (Kumar et al., 2010), ovarian cancer (Cao et al., 2008) renal cancer (Ku et al., 2014), lung cancer cells (Park et al., 2010) and very recently in colon cancer cells (Carbone et al., 2017) where TG2 enzymatic (Park et al., 2010, Ku et al., 2014) and non-enzymatic (Kumar et al., 2012, Carbone et al., 2017) functions have been associated with drug resistance in cancer cells. However, in the RKO cells over expressing TG2 did not increase resistance to 5FU and doxorubicin. 5 FU exerts its antitumor activity by creating thymidylate deficiency and creating imbalances in the nucleotide pool impairing DNA replication, transcription, and repair, subsequently leading to cell death (Wheeler et al., 2000). However, MSI tumours are resistant to 5FU because of the sporadic mutations in mismatch repair (MMR) genes that characterise MSIs. The loss of MMR proteins causes errors in repetitive DNA sequences, resulting from loss of scanning and recognizing errors during DNA replication (Gatalica et al., 2016). This loss of detection of mismatched and unpaired bases may be the primary source of resistance in RKO cells, which makes them tolerant to DNA damage, a cellular process that may supersede TG2's role in a possibly EMT induced drug resistance. Again, as observed in the invasion experiment, the insignificant effect of TG2 on the invasion capacity of the TG2 transduced RKO cells, and the nonsignificant effect of TG2 on doxorubicin resistance could be due to the need of further oncogenic mutations to enable TG2 and EMT mediate of drug resistance and invasion.

3.6 Conclusion

Conclusively by assessing certain hallmarks of cancer cells, we show that our current cell model shows a progression of colorectal cancer and that TG2 expression correlates with this progression. In addition, TG2 plays a significant role by inducing EMT, cell invasion, cell motility and drug resistance. With cellular TG2 inhibition ameliorating most of these hallmarks.

Chapter 4

TG2 Induces EMT via multiple cellular signalling mechanisms in colorectal cancer cells

4.0 TG2 Induces EMT via multiple cellular signalling mechanisms in colorectal cancer cells

4.1 INTRODUCTION

EMT confers cancer cells with the ability to detach and evade basement membranes, and adapt survival behaviour to evade immune responses from the host, circumvent stressful conditions such as hypoxia, nutrient factor deprivation and altered cell adhesion (Thorn et al., 2011). These processes are essential for migration and metastasis, and may help dedifferentiate cancer cells into cancer stem cells (Eckert et al., 2015). Furthermore, EMT may promote drug resistance in cancer cells, a role that may be performed by increased cellular expression of transcription factors of EMT such as Slug, Twist, Zeb, which facilitate the transcription of cell survival and anti-apoptotic proteins (Sayan et al., 2009, Ansieau et al., 2014). The transcription factors of EMT play a significant role in repressing the expression of cell tight junction proteins such as zona occluding 1 (ZO 1) and E-cadherin. On the other hand the EMT transcription factors induce expression of mesenchymal-like protein markers such as cell surface proteins (N cadherin), cytoskeletal proteins (α -smooth muscle actin, vimentin) and extracellular proteins (fibronectin, collagen) (Scanlon et al., 2013).

The loss of E cadherin and other cell tight junction proteins during EMT facilitate epithelial cells to lose their apical polarity. Mendez et al., (2010) also suggest that increased expression of intermediate filament protein vimentin also enable cell motility with an increase in contractile ability. Remodelling of ECM around the cell undergoing EMT enable cell anchoring during migration. In addition, MMPs are increasingly expressed during EMT to promote degradation of the basement membrane (Gialeli et al., 2011).

In colorectal cancer cells EMT has been associated with poorer survival outcomes (Shioiri et al., 2006). TGF β 1, NF κ B and β -Catenin signalling pathways have been established as key mediators of EMT in physiology and pathologies (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). The regulation of these signalling pathways is thus crucial for the maintenance of EMT. In colorectal cancer cells TGF β 1 and β -catenin signalling pathways are two commonly dysregulated pathways allowing for tumour progression, and facilitating EMT. The multifunctional enzyme Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) has been reported to mediate several aspects of cancer cell behaviour, including motility, invasion, growth, and survival (Wang and Griffin

2013; Kotsakis et al., 2011; Verderio et al., 1999) by a possible cross talk between TG2 and three critical pathways in EMT, i.e. TGF β 1, WNT, β -catenin and Nuclear factor kappa - light chain enhancer of activated B (NF κ B) (Mann et al., 2006; Cao et al., 2012). The exact mechanism through which TG2 may induce EMT is varied (and may involve both extracellular and intracellular roles). In breast cancer cells it has been suggested that TG2 mediated NF κ B nuclear translocation facilitates EMT, and via structural mutations of TG2 various studies suggest TG2's GTP binding function is essential for EMT, while other studies in breast cancer suggest that the fibronectin binding domain of TG2 may be required for driving EMT (Herman et al., 2006, Cao et al., 2008). TG2 activity has also been reported to be necessary for EMT in certain cells, cross-linking of the inhibitor of kappa B alpha (I κ B α), results in dissociation of the NF- κ B/I κ B α complex, and the constitutive activation of NF κ B, and its subsequent downstream target genes involved in promoting cell growth, survival and invasion (Chhabra et al., 2009). Wang and Griffin (2013) have shown that the extracellular crosslinking activity of TG2 is involved in the S100A4-related mammary cell migration via the syndecan-4/PKC α -dependent signalling.

In the previous chapter, TG2 expression was shown to correlate with EMT markers and also associate with the expression of transcription factors of EMT, suggesting a potential upstream role for TG2 in the regulation of EMT in colorectal cancer cells. This Chapter, therefore, explores the potential role of TG2 in mediating the cell signalling processes associated with EMT.

4.2 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this chapter is to explore the potential role of TG2 in mediating TGF β 1 and Wnt/ β -catenin signalling, two signalling pathways that are often mutated in colorectal cancer, and that are known to drive EMT.

Objectives

- 1. Investigate the role of TGF β 1 in inducing EMT and TG2 in the current colorectal cancer cell model.
- 2. Explore the crosstalk between TG2 and TGF β 1 in colorectal cancer cells.
- 3. Investigate the role of TG2 in the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway.

4.3 METHODS

4.3.1 Dot Blotting for Proteins

Cells were collected and counted as described in **Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3** and seeded 2.5X10⁵ in complete growth media for 4 h in 24well plates. After which the complete growth media was replaced with ITS (Sigma Aldrich) supplemented serum-free cell culture media, cells were incubated for 16-18h and the cell culture media was collected and transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane using a vacuum dot blotter. The dot blotted membrane was used for detection of proteins as described in **Section 2.2.8** by blocking the membrane in 5% w/v non-solid fat milk in Tris-buffered saline Tween (pH 7.4) and incubated with primary and HRP conjugated secondary antibody and detected by chemiluminescence.

4.3.2 Detection of secreted TGFβ1 by ELISA

Secreted TGFβ1 was measured by ELISA following the manufacturer's instructions (Novex[™], Fisher, Hempstead, UK). Briefly, CRCs were seeded into 24-well plates and allowed to adhere for 4h in complete medium. Complete media was replaced with growth factor-free ITS replacement medium, and the cells incubated for 16 h and the culture medium then collected for analysis. Similarly, a cellfree ITS replacement medium incubated for 16h was collected and served as a cell medium control. Cell culture medium collected was precleared by centrifugation at 1000 X g for 10min, after which TGF β 1 was released from its latent form by addition of 50 μ l of extraction solution to 250 μ l of cell culture media followed by vortexing and incubation for 30min on ice. After this extraction step 250µl of diluent buffer was added to the TGF β 1 extraction mix to obtain a 2.2-fold dilution of the original culture medium volume. Standard TGFB1 was prepared by reconstituting the TGFB1 standard with diluent buffer, and serially diluted from 2000pg/ml to 0pg/ml. The diluent buffer was used as the zero reading. 200µL of standards, sample and control media (after extraction) were added to manufacturer pre-coated microtiter wells. To this 50μL of biotinylated anti-TGF-β1 (Biotin Conjugate) solution was added to each well and the side of the plate was tapped gently to mix the solutions thoroughly. A set of wells were kept empty to serve as chromogen blank(s). Plates were covered and incubated for 3 h at room temperature. After incubation, the contents of the plate were discarded and washed four times with wash buffer, and then aspirated. Following the wash procedure, 100µL Streptavidin-HRP working solution was added to each well except the chromogen blank, the plate covered and incubated in the dark for 30min at room temperature. After incubation, the plate content was discarded and washed 4 times with the wash buffer and aspirated. 100μ L of stabilized chromogen was added into each well including the set of empty wells which served as the chromogen blank. The plates were incubated for 30min in the dark after which 100μ L of stop solution was added to each well including the chromogen blank. The absorbance of each well was obtained at 450 nm having first blanked the plate reader against a chromogen blank. The absorbance of the standard TGF β 1 is used to plot a standard curve and the concentration of samples determined by the standard curve and multiplied by the 2.2 dilution factor.

4.3.3 Cell Surface TG2 activity assay

2 x 10⁴ cells were counted and resuspended in 400µl of medium containing 0.1mM biotin cadaverine as described by Jones et al., (2006). The cell mixture was added to a 96-well plate pre-coated with 50µl of 5µg/ml fibronectin and incubated at 37°C for 2 h. The reaction was stopped by washing the well with 2mM EDTA in PBS, pH 7.4. 100µl of 0.1%(w/v) sodium deoxycholate in 2mM EDTA in PBS, pH 7.4 was added to each well and incubated on a slow shaker for 10 min at room temperature, after which the sodium deoxycholate solution was discarded and the wells washed three times with 50mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4, followed by addition of blocking solution-heat inactivated 3% (w/v) Bovine Serum Albumin, BSA, in 50mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4 at 37°C for 30 min. The wells were washed and the immunoassay detecting the incorporation of biotin cadaverine by cell surface TG2 into fibronectin was determined using a 1:1000 dilution of Extravidin® peroxidase conjugate incubated at 37°C for 1h. After washing the wells with 50mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4, 100µl of OPD tablets (1:1) dissolved in 20ml of distilled water the reaction was stopped using 50µl of HCl (3M) and the absorbance determined at 490nm.

4.3.4 Cytosolic and Nuclear Extraction of Proteins

Nuclear and cytosolic fractions were isolated using Thermo scientific [™] Subcellular Protein Fractionation Kit for Cultured Cells (Rockford IL, USA). Equal amounts of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes. Briefly, cells were collected in ice-cold PBS using a cell scraper and cellular components sequentially extracted. The cell suspension in icecold PBS was centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 min, and the supernatant discarded. An aliquot of the packed cell was retained and lysed using whole cell lysis buffer as described in Chapter 2, and this served as input. To 20µl of packed cell volume, 200µl of ice-cold cytoplasmic extraction buffer (CEB) containing freshly added protease inhibitor was added and incubated on ice for 10min. Following incubation, the cell extracts were centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was retained and contained the cytoplasmic contents. The pellet was washed 2 times with ice-cold PBS and further extracted by addition of 200µl of membrane extraction buffer (MEB) containing protease inhibitors, vortexed and incubated on ice for 10min. After this incubation, the cell extracts were centrifuged at 3000 x g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant contained the membranous fraction. The pellet was washed 2 times with ice-cold PBS and further extracted by addition of 100µl of ice-cold nuclear extraction buffer (NEB) containing protease inhibitors, vortexed for 15 seconds, and incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes with gentle mixing. Following incubation, the cell extracts were centrifuged at 5000 x g for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was retained and served as the nuclear fraction. The cytosolic and nuclear extracts collected were then used for protein separation and Western blotting.



Figure 4.3.1 Flow chart of subcellular Fractionation. Whole cells are lysed and the subcellular components are extracted by exploiting varying buffers, incubation periods and centrifugation speeds.

4.3.5 Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP)

Following appropriate treatment, CRC cells were lysed in the co-IP buffer [0.25% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1% (v/v) protein inhibitor mixture] containing 500 μ M TG2 inhibitor R283 as described previously (Kotsakis et al., 2011). Cell lysates (600 μ g) were pre-cleared by incubating with 50 μ l of non-specific protein A or G-Sepharose bead slurry (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) at 4°C for 90 min. The pre-cleared cell lysates were then incubation with 0.5 mg of primary antibody for 90 min at 4°C with gentle shaking. To the antibody-whole cell lysate mixture, 50 μ l of Protein A or G Sepharose bead slurry were added and this slurry was further incubated overnight at 4°C. After this incubation, the Sepharose beads were collected by centrifugation at 300 x g for 5min at 4°C. The Sepharose beads were then washed twice with PBS, pH7.4, at 300 x g for 5min at 4°C. The immunocomplex on the beads was collected in 30 μ l Laemmli buffer by boiling for 5min, centrifuging (300 x g for 5min) the slurry and retaining the supernatant for use in SDS-PAGE/ Western blotting analysis.

4.3.6 Measurement of biotin-X-cadaverine incorporation into cellular TG2 protein substrates

Cellular proteins acting as substrates for endogenous TG2-catalysed primary amine incorporation was investigated by incorporation of the cell permeable biotin-X-cadaverine. Prior to incubating the cells with 1 mM biotin-X-cadaverine (Life Technologies, Eugene, OR, USA) in complete growth medium overnight, the cells were treated with TG2 inhibitors 1-155 or R281 for 24h, control cells were treated with the treatment vehicle (DMSO). Following biotinylation of cellular proteins, 50µg of the whole cell extracts (Section 2.2.3) were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The biotinylated proteins were probed using ExtrAvidin HRP and visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (Almami et al., 2014).

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1 TGFβ1 induces TG2 and EMT in CRCs via both canonical and non-canonical means

4.4.1.1TGFβ1 induces TG2 in Primary CRCs RKO and SW480

To assess the role of TGF β 1 in the CRCs, the cells were first characterised for signalling proteins associated with TGF β 1. In **Figure 4.4.1** Western blot analysis shows that RKO, SW480, and SW620 cells all express TGF β 1-receptor I and II and the downstream signalling molecules Smad2/3, with TGF β 1 receptor II being expressed over 2 fold higher in SW480 cells compared to RKO and SW620, although the expression of TGF β 1-receptor I and Smad 2/3 being relatively similar across the three cell lines. Several reports have shown that TGF β 1 induces TG2 (Wang et al., 2017) therefore in these three colorectal cells the effect of TGF β 1 on TG2 expression was determined by treatment with or without 2.5ng/ml TGF β 1, and with or without TGF β 1 neutralising antibody for 48h. In **Figure 4.4.2** TG2 expression was significantly increased by TGF β 1 treatment in the primary CRCs RKO and SW480 cells, with TGF β 1 inducing more than double the normal TG2 expression in RKO cells and also significantly increasing TG2 expression by over 60% in SW480 cells.



Figure 4.4.1 CRCs express elements of the TGF\beta1signalling pathway. Representative Western blot showing the expression of TGF β receptor (TGF β R) I and TGF β RII in RKO, SW480, and SW620 whole cell lysates. Bar chart shows the mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3; mean±S.D) *-statistically significant from RKO cells, **-statistically significant from RKO andSW480 cells. NS-not significant.

This was observed with a corresponding significant increase in the phosphorylation of Smad 3 by more than a 100% shown in both cell lines. The induction of TG2 by TGF β 1 treatment was also confirmed by treating the cells with TGF β 1 neutralising antibody which resulted in a significant reduction in TG2 expression in RKO and SW480 cells. However, neither TGF β 1 treatment nor TGF β 1 neutralizing antibody had any significant effect on TG2 expression in SW620 cells.



Figure 4.4.2 TGF β **1 induces TG2 expression in primary CRCs RKO and SW480.** Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates of CRCs RKO, SW480, and SW620. Cells showing expression of TG2 and activated p-smad 3 against t-smad 2/3 following TGF β 1 treatment or treatment with TGF β 1 neutralising antibody. CRCs were treated with human recombinant TGF β 1 (2.5 ng/ml) and TGF β 1 neutralising antibody (NA) (20 µg/ml) for 48 h. Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH or normalisation for p-smad 2 using total t-Smad 2/3 after normalising for protein loading. (n=3; mean±S.D) *-statistically significant from control cells, **-statistically significant from TGF β 1 (2.5 ng/ml) cells, NS-not significant. NA- TGF β 1neutralising antibody (20µg/ml).

4.4.1.2 TGFβ1 induces TG2 in a dose-dependent fashion

Following increased TG2 expression in TGF β 1 treated primary cancer cells RKO and SW480, the extent to which TGF β 1 could induce TG2 expression was assessed by Western blotting following TGF β 1 dose treatment (0-10ng/ml) in CRCs SW480 and RKO (Figure **4.3**) Following treatment with TGF β 1 at varying doses in RKO cells, TG2 expression increases with increased TGF β 1 treatment from 2.5ng/ml to 10ng/ml. However in SW480 cells 1ng/ml TGF β 1 was sufficient to induce increased expression of TG2, and may be due to increased expression of TGF β receptor II in these cells, suggesting that the SW480 cells may be more sensitive to TGF β 1 compared to RKO. **Figure 4.4.3** shows that TG2 expression is increasingly induced with increase in TGF β 1 concentration (1.0-5.0 ng/ml) over 48h in SW480 and RKO cells.



Figure 4.4.3 Increasing TGF β **1 concentration increase TG2 expression.** Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates from CRCs RKO, SW480. Cells showing expression of TG2 and activated p-Smad against t-Smad following TGF β 1 treatment at varying concentrations (0-10)ng/ml for 48 h (n=2).

4.4.1.3 TGFβ1 induces EMT in CRCs following Smad activation

Multiple reports suggest that TGF^β1 is a potent inducer of EMT in cancer cells and given that TGF^β1 also induces TG2 in RKO and SW480 and that TG2 correlates with expression of EMT markers and a phenotype associated with EMT (Figure 3.4.9). It was, therefore, important to identify the role of TGF^β1 in EMT in these cells. When CRCs were treated with TGF^β1, EMT was induced in the RKO and SW480 cells with increased levels of vimentin and fibronectin and decreased ZO-1 (Figure **4.4.4A**). In the RKO cells TGF β 1 significantly induced over 2 fold expression of vimentin and fibronectin with at least 50% reduction in the expression of tight junction epithelial cell marker ZO-1. Moreover, TGF β 1 neutralising antibody treatment reduced expression of these EMT markers. This similar trend was observed in SW480 cells with TGF^β1 treatment resulting in 16% increase in vimentin and a significant (~100%) increase in fibronectin compared to the untreated control, this effect was ablated by TGF^{β1} neutralising antibody treatment which resulted in a significant reduction in the expression of EMT markers, with at least 20% reduction in vimentin expression and approximately 50% loss in expression of fibronectin. TGF β 1 neutralising antibody also resulted in 70% increase in the expression of epithelial tight junction marker ZO-1 in these cells. The effect of TGF β 1 on RKO and SW480 cells was also confirmed by the appearance of a fibroblast-like phenotype in TGF β 1 treated RKO and SW480 cells (Figure 4.4.4B). However in the SW620 cells neither TGFβ1nor its neutralising antibody had any significant impact on EMT in these cells.



Figure 4.4.4 TGF β **1 induces EMT in primary CRCs RKO and SW480.** (A) Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates of CRCs RKO, SW480, and SW620. Cells showing presence or absence of EMT markers following TGF β 1 treatment or treatment with TGF β 1 neutralising antibody. (B) Representative images of cell morphology of CRCs RKO and SW480 treated with rhTGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) or TGF β 1 neutralising antibody PAN (20µg/ml). Equal numbers of cells were seeded and 48 h after treatment images were taken at x20 objective using a phase contrast microscope (n=3). Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH. (n=3; mean±S.D) *-statistically significant from control cells, **-statistically significant from TGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) cells, NS-not significant. NA- TGF β 1 neutralising antibody (20µg/ml).

4.4.1.2 TGFβ1has no effect on EMT in SW480 cells transduced with TG2

Since TGF β 1 was not able to further induce expression of TG2 and EMT in SW620 cells, an attempt was made to ectopically express TG2 in SW480 to determine if further challenging SW480 cells with TG2 would increase EMT at a level similar to the high TG2 expressing SW620 cells. In **Figure 4.4.5A** transduction of TG2 in SW480 cells shows a slight but not significant impact on EMT compared to the control EV cells. Over a 40-fold increase in TG2 expression in SW480 cells by lentiviral transduction resulted in an approx. 1.2-fold increase in fibronectin when compared to EV cells. Furthermore treatment of the TG2 transduced SW480 with TGF β 1 at 2.5ng/ml or TGF β 1 neutralising antibody did not significantly affect the relative expression of EMT markers vimentin, fibronectin, and tight junction protein ZO-1, although the neutralising antibody increased Z0-1 expression by approx. 1.39-fold compared to the nontreated cells, this trend was also observed in the TGF β 1 treated cells with 1.10-fold increased expression of ZO-1 compared to untreated cells (**Figure 4.4.5B**).



Figure 4.4.5. TGF β 1 does not significantly affect EMT in SW480 cells with ectopic TG2 expression. (A) Representative Western blot of TG2 and EMT markers (fibronectin and ZO1) in whole cell lysates from wt SW480 cells, SW480 cells transduced with empty vector (EV), human TG2 (TG2), and shRNA targeting TG2 (shRNA).(n=3; mean±S.D). *-statistically significant from wildtype cell (wt), **-statistically significant from TG2 transduced cells (B) Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates from SW480 cells transduced with TG2 (SW480 TG2) showing expression of TG2 and EMT markers (Fibronectin, vimentin, and ZO1) with or without treatment with TGF β 1 or TGF β 1 neutralising antibody. CRCs were treated with human recombinant TGF β 1 (2.5 ng/ml) and TGF β neutralising antibody (NA) (20 µg/ml) for 48 h. (n=3; mean±S.D), **-statistically significant from TGF β 1 (2.5 ng/ml) cells, NS-not significant. NA- TGF β 1 neutralising antibody (20µg/ml). Bar charts shows the mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH.

4.4.2 TGFβ1 induces EMT in primary CRCs RKO and SW480 by non-canonical signalling involving extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)

4.4.2.1 TGF_{β1} activates extracellular signal kinase (ERK) in Primary CRCs

The data obtained for TGF^{β1} with RKO and SW480 cells suggests a link between TGF^{β1} signalling and TG2 expression. However, since SW480 is a Smad 4 null cell line but RKO expresses wild-type Smad 4 (Volmer et al., 2004; Chow et al., 2008), an attempt was made to identify a potential Smad 4 independent pathway in the SW480 cells which may also play a role in RKO cells is involved in inducing TG2 expression and EMT. One of such pathways is the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, where TGF β 1 noncanonically signals through its receptors which may possess intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity that phosphorylates ShcA an upstream regulator of ERK 1/2 (Lee et al., 2007). TGF β 1 induced EMT has been reported to follow the canonical pathway by activation of Smad signalling response or non-canonically via ERK 1/2 Lee et al., 2007). In Figure 4.4.6A CRCs-RKO, SW480 and SW620 were characterised for some members of the MAPK pathway including activated and total ERK 1/2 expression. Figure 4.4.6A shows that metastatic cell line SW620 exhibits significantly low basal expression of active ERK, with at least a 4-fold less level of detectable phosphorylated ERK 1/2 compared to SW480 and 5-fold less compared to RKO cells. In Figure 4.4.6B the ability of TGF^{β1} to activate ERK 1/2 in RKO and SW480 cell lines was investigated, with ERK phosphorylation significantly increased above background between 30-120 min following TGF β 1stmulation. SW480 cells responded to TGF β 1 treatment after 30min with a 1.59-fold increase in activated ERK 1/2, which was kept constant for 120 min of TGF^{β1} treatment. Although TGF^{β1} stimulated ERK 1/2, the ERK 1/2 response to TGF β 1 treatment was delayed compared to the response in SW480 cells. At 30min the level of phosphorylated ERK 1/2 was similar to that of the untreated cell and not until 60min did levels of detectable phosphorylated ERK 1/2 significantly increase by 1.64 fold. This delayed ERK 1/2 response to TGF β 1 may again be due to the significant increased > 2-fold increase in expressed TGFβ receptor II observed in SW480 compared to RKO cells (Figure 4.4.1).



Figure 4.4.6 TGF β 1 activates ERK1/2 signalling in primary CRCs RKO and SW480. (A). Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates of CRCs showing reduced ERK1/2 activation in metastatic cell line SW620 compared to the two primary cancer cell lines RKO and SW480. (n=3; mean±S.D),Bar charts shows the normalized densitometry ratios. **-statistically significant from TGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) treated cells, NS-not significant. (B) Representative Western blotting showing ERK 1/2 activation, after TGF β 1 (5.0 ng/ml) treatment over a time course of 2 h in wt RKO and SW480 cells. Bar chart shows the mean relative densitometry ratios of normalised protein expression of p-ERK 1/2 using total t-ERK 1/2 after normalising for protein loading. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-statistically significant from control cells, NS-not significant.

4.4.2.2 Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) may play a role in TGF β 1 induced TG2 expression

Following activation of ERK by TGF β 1 in RKO and SW480 cells it was now important to identify if ERK activation correlated with TGF β 1 induced TG2 expression in the primary CRCs RKO and SW480. To achieve this PD98059 a specific inhibitor of ERK 1/2 was used at a concentration of 10µM to inhibit ERK 1/2 in RKO and SW480 cells treated with or without 2.5ng/ml TGF β 1. In **Figure 4.4.7** inhibition of ERK1/2 with 10µM ERK1/2 inhibitor PD98059 over a period of 48h significantly reduced TG2 expression. Approximately 30% of detectable TG2 expression levels were lost following ERK 1/2 inhibition. The role of ERK1/2 on TGF β 1 induced TG2 was also investigated with ERK 1/2 inhibition in TGF β 1 treated cells accounting for a significant (<3.5 fold) loss in TG2 expression compared to the amount of TG2 detected in TGF β 1 only treated cells. Indeed, the levels of TG2 expressed in the cells treated with combined treatment of ERK 1/2 inhibitor and TGF β 1 was lower than the control untreated cells and similar to the PD98059 only treated cells. This suggests that TGF β 1 may also employ the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway for induction of TG2 in both RKO and SW480 cells.



Figure 4.4.7 ERK1/2 plays a role in TGF β 1 **induced TG2.** Representative Western blotting of whole cell lysates of wt RKO and SW480 cells, showing expression of TG2 and ERK1/2 after treatment with TGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) with or without ERK inhibitor PD98059 (10 μ M) for 48 h. Ratios indicate mean. Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH or normalisation for p-ERK 1/2 using total t-ERK 1/2 after normalising for protein loading. (n=3; mean±S.D) *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from control, **-statistically different from control and ERK inhibitor PD98059 treated cells.

4.4.3 TG2 and TGFβ1 contribute to a positive feedback loop

TGF β 1 has been reported and shown here to be an inducer of TG2. Many reports show that TGF β 1 may induce TG2 via multiple pathways involving NF κ B and Smad dependent pathways (Cao et al., 2008). Some studies also suggest that TG2 may drive increased expression of TGF β in fibrotic conditions (Telci et al., 2009) and in some cancerous conditions (Kotsakis et al., 2011). This suggests that TG2 and TGF β 1 may be involved in a feedback loop.

4.4.3.1 TG2 correlates with cellular TGFβ1 in CRCs

In CRCs, TGF_{β1} signalling, an inducer of EMT, can be a major dysfunctional point during tumour progression (Lamouille et al., 2014). In the previous section and figures, it can be hypothesised that TGFβ1 induced EMT may involve TG2 since TG2 plays an important role in inducing EMT (Figure **3.4.9**). It has also been suggested that TG2 may increase the abundance or release of TGF β 1 (Nyabam et al., 2016, Telci et al., 2009) In Figure 4.4.8A the amount of active TGFβ1 released into the cell culture medium was measured by ELISA and shows that TG2 transduced RKO cells released significantly higher amounts of TGFB1 compared to EV RKO cells. In a similar fashion knockdown of TG2 by shRNA in SW480 cells also resulted in significantly less TGF β 1 in the cell culture media. Interestingly TGF^{β1} levels in SW480 and SW620 EV (Empty Vector control) cells were similar and significantly higher than what was detected in RKO cells, which correlate with TG2's expression as shown in the previous chapter. However, TG2 knockdown did not significantly impact on the release of TGF^{β1} into the cell culture media in TG2 shRNA treated SW620 cells. This observation was also confirmed by dot blotting of cell culture media from these cells (Figure 4.4.8 B). Following the increase in released TGF^{β1} in TG2 expressing primary CRCs, SW480 and RKO cells, an attempt was made to detect TGF β 1 expression in whole cell lysates of the CRCs. In Figure 4.4.8C, whole cell TGF β 1 expression is shown to be significantly increased by >50% in RKO cells transduced with TG2 compared to the EV cells and in a similar fashion TG2 knockdown by shRNA in SW480 cells led to a significant (approximately 50%) loss in TGF β 1 expression when compared to the EV cells. However, TG2 knockdown did not affect TGFβ1 expression in SW620 cells confirming previous data obtained using cell culture media.



Figure 4.4.8 TG2 correlates with TGF β **1 expression and release into cell culture media.** (A) TGF β **1** released into cell culture media of CRCs was determined by ELISA as described in the Materials and Methods. Data represent means ± S.D, from two experiments each performed in triplicate (*, **, #, ~, p<0.05). (B) Representative Dot blotting of cell culture media of CRCs both controls and cell transduced with TG2 (TG2) or shRNA (SW480shRNA and SW680shRNA) and recombinant human TGF β 1 probed with TGF β 1 antibody (n=3). (C) Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates of CRCs showing expression of TGF β 1 in whole cell lysates of RKO control cells, RKO transduced with TG2 (RKOTG2), SW480 control cells or SW480 cells transduced with shRNA (shRNA), SW620 control cells or SW620 cells transduced with shRNA (shRNA). Graph chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH. (n=3) (n=3; mean±S.D), *-statistically significant from EV cells; NS-not significant.

4.4.3.2 TG2 inhibition reduces cellular and matrix-bound TGFβ1

Following the finding that TG2 expression correlates with TGF β 1 release and expression in primary CRCs RKO and SW480, an attempt was then made to investigate the effect of TG2 inhibition on cellular expression of TGF β 1. In **Figure 4.4.9**, treatment of RKO and SW480 cells with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1µM) significantly reduced cellular expression of TGF β 1 by approximately 50% compared to the control cells, in a similar fashion to the effect of TG2 knockdown on TGF β 1 expression. In addition, the amount of matrix-bound TGF β 1 was measured in RKO and SW480 cells, with or without TG2 inhibition (1µM 1-155) resulting in reduction in matrix-bound TGF β 1 in primary tumour CRCs RKO and SW480 (**Figure 4.4.9**)





Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates from RKO and SW480 cells showing expression of TGF β 1 with or without treatment of cells with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) for 48 h. (n=3). Cell-matrix was collected following treatment of RKO and SW480 cells with or without TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) for 72 h. Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH. An equal number of cells were seeded for each experiment. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-statistically significant from control cells.

To demonstrate the activity of TG2 at the cell surface the cell surface activity of TG2 in RKO and SW480 cells was measured as described in **Section 4.3.3**. Figure 4.4.10 shows that RKO cells transduced with TG2 possessed a significant increase in cell surface activity compared to the EV cells. Similarly TG2 knockdown by shRNA in SW480 cells resulted in a significant loss of TG2 cell surface activity when compared to the control empty vector (EV) cells. This may suggest increased that as well as increasing TGF β 1 expression, TG2 may also facilitate matrix-bound abundance of TGF β in RKO and SW480 cells.



Figure 4.4.10 In vitro Cell surface TG2 activity in primary CRCs. Cell surface TG2 activity measured by incorporation of biotin cadaverine in RKO control cells, RKOTG2 cells, SW480 control cells and SW480shRNA cells measured as described in the Materials and Methods. Data are represented as mean \pm S.D., (n=2), with each independent experiment performed in triplicate (*, **, #, ~, p<0.05).

4.4.3.3 Inhibition of Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) reduces c-JUN and cellular TGFβ1 expression

The expression of TGF β 1 may be upregulated by other inflammatory responses such as TNF α or NF κ B (Telci et al., 2009). It has been suggested that TGF β 1 can be induced by C-Jun and C-Jun expression can be induced by ERK (Leppa et al., 1998). In **Figure 4.4.1**1, ERK inhibitor PD98059 significantly reduced the expression of C-Jun by 70% in RKO cells treated with the inhibitor. Furthermore, ERK inhibitor also reduced the expression of C-Jun by >30% in SW480 cells treated with the inhibitor. The ERK inhibitor-treated cells also exhibited a >45% decrease in TGF β 1 expression in both cell lines, indicating the involvement of C-Jun in ERK1/2-induced TGF β 1 expression in RKO and SW480 cells. This was confirmed by more than 70% inhibition of the phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 in RKO cells treated with the ERK inhibitor and more than 50% inhibition of phosphorylated ERK 1/2 in SW480 cells treated with ERK inhibitor.



Figure 4.4.11 ERK1/2 activation correlates with cellular TGF\beta1 expression. Representative Western blotting of whole cell lysates from RKO and SW480 cells showing expression of ERK1/2, C-Jun, and TGF β 1. p-ERK 1/2 was normalised against t-ERK 1/2. Cells were treated with or without treatment ERK 1/2 inhibitor PD98059 (10 μ M) for 48 h. Bar chart shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH or normalisation for p-ERK 1/2 using total t-ERK 1/2 after normalising for protein loading. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-statistically significant from control (cntl) cells; NS-not significant.

4.4.3.4 TG2 induces activation of Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) may increase TGFβ1 expression

TG2 has been reported to induce ERK activation in human neuroblastoma cells (Singh et al., 2003b), human endometrial endothelial cells (Di Simone et al., 2013) and human embryonic kidney cells (Cho et al., 2010). Therefore, to determine if TG2 could activate ERK 1/2 and show if this correlated with C-Jun expression and TGFβ1, TG2 expression was manipulated in primary CRCs SW480 and RKO. In RKO cells ectopic expression of TG2 resulted in a significantly increased expression (1.37 fold) of detectable phosphorylated ERK (p-ERK 1/2) compared to the empty vector (EV) cells and this increase corresponded to a significant increase (1.3-fold) in C Jun and a significant increase (1.53-fold) in whole cell lysate TGFβ1. Similarly, TG2 knockdown in SW480 cells significantly reduced ERK 1/2 activation by about a third of the normal detectable phosphorylated ERK 1/2 in the EV cells, and lead to 30% loss in C Jun expression, followed by a 37% loss in whole cell lysate TGFβ1 expression in the SW480 cells with TG2 shRNA (**Figure 4.4.12A**). However, TG2 expression did not significantly alter the expression of JNK another MAPK signalling protein associated with C-Jun expression and activation.

Since it was also observed that TG2 inhibition reduced whole cell TGFβ1 expression levels (**Figure 4.4.9**), the effect of TG2 inhibition on ERK 1/2 phosphorylation was determined on primary CRCs. In **Figure 4.4.12B** TG2 inhibition with the site-specific TG2 cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155 resulted in reduced expression of phosphorylated ERK in both SW480 and RKO cells.



Figure 4.4.12 TG2 is associated with ERK1/2 activation and subsequent cellular TGF β 1 expression. (A) RepresentativeWestern blots of whole cell lysates of RKO and SW480 control cells and cells transduced with TG2 (RKO-TG) or shRNA (SW480shRNA) showing TG2 expression, ERK 1/2 activation, c-Jun, JNK and TGF β 1 expression. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-statistically significant from control (cntl) cells; NS-not significant. (B) Western blots of whole cell lysates showing activation of ERK1/2 in RKO and SW480 cells with or without treatment with TG2 cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155 inhibitor (1 μ M). (n=3; mean±S.D),*-statistically significant from EV cells; NS-not significant. Bar charts shows relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH or normalisation for p-ERK 1/2 using total t-ERK 1/2 after normalising for protein loading.

4.4.4 TG2 induces EMT via multiple mechanisms in the different colon cancer cell lines.

Since TGF β 1 does not impact on EMT in the metastatic SW620 cells despite TG2's ability to induce EMT in these cells (**Figure 4.4.4**), it was then important to investigate the potential involvement of TG2 on the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway an important deregulated pathway in cancer and EMT.

4.4.4.1 Characterisation of CRCs for Wnt/β-catenin Signalling

In **Figure 4.13** CRCs RKO, SW480 and SW620 were characterised for members of the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway by Western blotting. The expression of LRP 5 a co-receptor with LRP 6 and frizzled in the Wnt signalling pathway was significantly higher in metastatic SW620 compared to the primary CRCs RKO and SW480. This significantly higher expression of LRP 5 in the metastatic SW620 compared to its isogenic primary counterpart SW480, and primary cell line RKO was suggestive of a potential role of the Wnt signalling pathway in the SW620 cells. The detection of β -catenin a major transcription factor in the Wnt signalling pathway was then determined. β -catenin was significantly overexpressed in SW620 cells, with an almost 3-fold increase compared to the detected amount in isogenic pair SW480 (**Figure 4.4.13**), even though both have similar APC inactivating mutation (Ahmed et al., 2013). The level of cellular β -catenin in SW620 cells was significantly higher (>6 fold) compared to what was detected in RKO cells with wt APC (**Figure 4.4.13**).



Figure 4.4.13 Western blots showing the characterisation of some of the elements of the β -catenin signalling pathway. Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates of RKO, SW480 and SW620 cells, showing expression of LRP5 (a receptor in the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway) and β -catenin. Bar chart showa mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from RKO cells, **-statistically different from RKO and SW480 cells.

4.4.4.2 TG2 increases β -catenin translocation into the nucleus by preventing β -catenin ubiquitination

Overexpression of β -catenin is associated with many cancers including colorectal carcinoma (Muzny et al., 2012), hepatocellular carcinoma (Tien et al., 2005) and ovarian carcinoma (Condello et al., 2015) amongst others. Following that β -catenin may also facilitate EMT in cancer cells (Nagaraj et al., 2015), and with the detection of high expression of β-catenin in SW620 cells compared to RKO and SW480 cells, it was important to investigate the potential role of TG2 in Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in SW620 cells. Especially as TG2 has been shown to play an important role in the potentiation of Wnt signalling (Faverman et al., 2008). TG2 knockdown non-significantly reduced the expression of whole cell β catenin as shown in **Figure 4.4.14**, however the effect of TG2 on the amount of β -catenin translocation into the nucleus, which is its most important role in inducing transcription factors of cell cycle regulators, EMT, and other cell survivor proteins were assessed. In Figure 4.4.14. TG2 expression facilitated increased expression of β -catenin in the nuclear fraction of SW620 cells, as knockdown of TG2 expression by shRNA led to a significant reduction in the translocation of β -catenin into the nucleus as detected by Western blotting. Additionally, some studies suggest that TG2 may translocate into the nucleus and act as a co-transcription factor to some EMT associated genes (Kumar and Mehta, 2012), however in the SW620 cells no detectable levels of TG2 was observed in the cell nucleus (Figure **4.4.14**). The reduced abundance of β -catenin in the nucleus suggestive of a potential role of TG2 in β catenin driven oncogenesis and tumour progression.




Representative Western blots of β -catenin presence in the nuclear (N) and cytoplasmic (C) cell extracts of SW620 control cells and SW620shRNA cells. LDH and Lamin A were used as cytoplasmic and nuclear protein markers respectively and the ratios obtained are normalise TG2 and β -catenin expression in the extracts to the respective subcellular markers. The N and C fractions were separated as described in **Section 4.3.4.** For the whole cell lysates (WCL) Bar chart indicate mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised to nuclear loading marker Lamin A. *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from EV cells.

4.4.4.3 TG2 interacts with cellular β -catenin

Following the role of TG2 in nuclear accumulation of β -catenin. It was important to investigate a mechanism in which TG2 promotes β -catenin nuclear translocation. By using co-IP, in Figure **4.4.15A**, TG2 was co-immunoprecipitated from the whole cell lysate and probed for LRP-5 and β catenin. This figure shows that amongst the TG2 pull-down proteins, β -catenin a major player in oncogenic progression and EMT was pulled down and detected. Additionally, LRP 5- a co-receptor with frizzled and LRP 6 in the propagation of Wnt signalling, was also detected amongst the TG2 pulled down protein. This suggests a form of interaction between TG2 and β -catenin, and TG2 and LRP 5. This also suggests that TG2 could play a role extracellularly with LRP 5, and intracellularly with β catenin. Furthermore, the interaction between TG2 with LRP 5 and β -catenin, was found to be disrupted by the treatment of SW620 cells with TG2 specific cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155, and this is shown in Figure 4.4.15A by the reduced expression on LRP 5, and β -catenin in the inhibitor-treated cells compared to the untreated SW620 cells. To further validate the protein interaction between TG2 and β -catenin, in (**Figure 4.4.15B**) proteins interacting with β -catenin was pulled down by immunoprecipitating β-catenin from whole cell lysates, and again TG2 was detected amongst proteins associated with β -catenin and this interaction can be reduced by the addition of TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (Figure 4.4.15B).



Figure 4.4.15 TG2 interacts with β **-catenin in metastatic SW620 cells.** (A)Representative Western blotting of LRP5 and β -catenin in wt SW620 and SW620 cells treated with TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) following TG2 Co-IP from whole cell lysates. Co-IP was undertaken as described in **Section 4.3.5**. Input shows whole cell lysate level of LRP5 and β -catenin in the respective treated cells (B) Representative Western blotting of whole cell lysates for TG2 after β -catenin co-IP following treatment of cells with or without TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M). Input shows whole cell lysate level of TG2 in the respective treated cells. Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO, and treatments were performed for 48 h (n=3).

4.4.4 4 TG2 interacts with cellular β -catenin and the consequent nuclear translocation of β -catenin is integrin and Src-independent in SW620 cells

As TG2 was seen to interact with LRP5 and β -catenin, and increase nuclear translocation of β -catenin, next the role of TG2 in Src-mediated β-catenin nuclear translocation, was investigated, as integrinassociated activation of Src has been reported to play a significant role in non-canonical β -catenin nuclear accumulation (Cao et al., 2008). In Figure 4.4.16A TG2 knockdown had no effect on LRP5 a co-receptor of Wnt Signalling. More so TG2 knockdown did not affect ß1integrin expression. Importantly TG2 knockdown had no effect on the activation status of SRC in SW620 cells. This, however, was not the case with the isogenic primary cell SW480 and RKO cells. TG2 knockdown in SW480 cells significantly reduced the abundance of β 1integrin found in these cells by almost 60%, concomitant with 70% loss in activated Src. The potential role of TG2 in Src activation in primary cells was further confirmed by overexpressing TG2 in RKO cells which led to a significant (1.41 fold) increase in β1integrin expression followed by 1.53 fold increase in activated Src compared to the detectable expressed levels in the EV cells (Figure 4.4.16B). This potentially suggests a β 1integrin and Src-independent mechanism of TG2 induced nuclear accumulation of β -catenin in metastatic SW620 cells. To further establish this concept, Src was co-immunoprecipitated from cell lysates of SW620 treated with TG2 shRNA or TG2 inhibitor, and in Figure 4.4.17 TG2 knockdown or inhibition did not alter the interaction between β -catenin and Src when compared to untreated cells, suggesting that TG2 plays a nonsignificant role in Integrin-Src-associated β -catenin nuclear accumulation in SW620 cells.



Figure 4.4.16 Expression of Src signalling molecules in CRCs with altered TG2 expression. (A) Src activation is independent of TG2 in SW620 cells. Representative Western blotting of whole cell lysates of SW620 cells with or without TG2 shRNA showing expression of β 1 integrin, p-Src and total Src (n=3). *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from EV cell, ns-not significant. (B) Western blot of integrin and Src expression in RKO cells with empty vector (EV) or transduced with wt TG2 (TG2); and in SW480 cells with empty vector (EV) or with TG2 shRNA(shRNA). Ratios indicate mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH, p-Src was normalised against total Src (n=3). *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from EV cells. Bar chart show relative densitometry ratios of expressed proteins normalised to GAPDH and or Src, (n=3; mean±S.D).



Figure 4.4.17 Src interacts with β -catenin in a TG2 independent manner in SW620 cells. Representative Western blots of β -catenin after Src co-immunoprecipitation from whole cell lysates of SW620 control cells and SW620shRNA cells or after treatment with TG2 inhibitor 1-155. Input shows whole cell lysate level of β -catenin and Src in the respective treated cells. Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO, and treatments were performed for 48 h (n=3).

4.4.4.5 TG2 inhibition potentiates β -catenin ubiquitination

Following the finding that TG2 had no role to play in Src-mediated β -catenin activation in the metastatic SW620 cells, but played a role in inducing β -catenin accumulation, it was important to determine in what manner TG2 facilitated the nuclear accumulation of β -catenin. The more so as the functional APC mutation in SW620 cells facilitates unperturbed Wnt signalling by preventing the formation of the APC-axin death complex (Ilyas et al., 1997). **Figure 4.4.18** shows that the interaction between β -catenin and ubiquitin was found to be increased when cells were treated with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 when compared to control cells suggesting that TG2 is able to inhibit ubiquitination of β -catenin, downstream of Src in SW620 cells.



Figure 4.4.18 TG2 inhibition facilitates β -catenin interaction with ubiquitin in metastatic SW620 cells. Representative Western blots of whole cell lysates from wt SW620 cells after treatment with or without TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) showing β -catenin after ubiquitin co-IP of whole cell lysates from wt SW620. Input shows whole cell lysate level of β -catenin and Ubiquitin in the respective treated cells. Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO, and treatments were performed for 48 h (n=3).

4.4.5 Extracellular TG2 may be necessary for TG2 induced EMT in Primary CRCs.

An attempt was made to discriminate between extracellular and intracellular roles of TG2 induced EMT in CRCs, the effect of extracellular TG2 inhibitor R281 (Wang and Griffin 2013) was compared to cellpermeable TG2 inhibitor 1-155 inhibitor (Badarau et al., 2015). In **Figure 4.4.19**, RKO and SW480 cells treated with R281 had similar EMT attenuating effects as 1-155 with a reduction in fibronectin expression and a corresponding increase in ZO1 expression, suggesting the involvement of extracellular TG2 in EMT in these cells.



Figure 4.4.19 Extracellular TG2 may play a role in TG2 induced EMT in primary CRCs

(A) Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates of RKO and RKO TG2 transduced cells showing expression of TG2 and EMT markers (Fibronectin (FN); Zona Occludin 1 (ZO1) following treatment of the TG2 transduced cells with TG2 cell permeable (1-155) and impermeable inhibitor R281 (500 μ M) (B) Western blotting of whole cell lysates of SW480 cells showing expression of TG2 and EMT marker Fibronectin (FN)after treatment with TG2 selective cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) or impermeable inhibitor R281 (500 μ M). Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO, and treatments were performed for 48 h. Bar charts show relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH. (n=3; mean±S.D), *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from control cells, **-statistically different from control and shRNA or TG2 transduced cells, ***-statistically different from R281 (extracellular inhibitor) treated cells.

4.4.6 Cytoplasmic TG2 may be essential for TG2 induced EMT in colorectal metastatic cell line SW620

Given the potential extracellular role of TG2 in primary CRCs, RKO and SW480, both extracellular and cell permeable TG2 inhibitors R281 and 1-155 respectively, were used to inhibit TG2 in SW620. **Figure 4.4.20A** shows that only the cell permeable inhibitor 1-155 was able to significantly affect EMT in a similar manner to the TG2 knockout cells, by reducing the expression of mesenchymal protein markers fibronectin and vimentin; and increasing the expression of ZO1 an epithelial marker. **Figure 4.4.20B** confirms the inhibitor ability of TG2 shRNA and TG2 inhibitors (cell permeable inhibitor 1-155 and cell impermeable inhibitor R281) on biotinylation of TG2 cellular substrates using biotin-X-cadavarine. The Western blot confirms the loss of TG2 activity in the shRNA treated cells and differential biotinylation of both cell permeable and cell impermeable TG2 inhibitors.



Figure 4.4.20 Inhibition of extracellular TG2 witg R281 does not affect EMT in metastatic SW620 cells. (A) Representative western blots of whole cell lysates showing expression of EMT markers after treatment with TG2 shRNA, or selective TG2 cell impermeable inhibitor R281 (500 μ M) or TG2 selective cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M). Control cells were treated with vehicle alone DMSO, and treatments were performed for 48 hBar chart shows mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3, mean±SD). *-Statistically different (p<0.05) from control cells, **-statistically different from control, R281 and shRNA treated cells. (B) Representative western blot of biotin labelled proteins following treatment of SW620 cells with Biotin-X-cadaverine for 16h. SW620 cells were previously with (EV) or without shRNA, EV cells were treated with cell permeable (1-155) 1 μ M or cell impermeable (R281) 500 μ M for 48h prior to biotinylation (n=2).

4.5 DISCUSSION

In Chapter 3, the inhibition of TG2 activity, or silencing its expression reduced the expression of Slug and Twist in the metastatic SW620 cells. This proved that TG2 was acting upstream of these transcription factors, an observation that has been previously reported in MCF10A and MCF12A cells (Kumar et al., 2010). To investigate the cellular signalling pathways that may be associated with these TG2 related events involving the cellular expression of transcription factors of EMT, TGFβ1, and WNT/β-catenin signalling pathways were investigated.

Aberrations occurring in the TGF β 1 and WNT/ β -catenin signalling pathways have both been implicated in EMT and tumour progression (Lamouille et al., 2014, Neuzillet et al., 2013), and both signalling pathways are commonly mutated in colorectal cancer (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). It is well reported that TGF β 1 can specifically induce TG2 expression (Nyabam et al., 2016), an observation that has also been made in primary CRCs RKO and SW480 cells. Importantly, the specific effects of TGFβ1 on TG2 induction could be blocked by a TGF β neutralizing antibody in these two cell lines. Additionally, results in **Figure 4.4.4** demonstrate that TGF β 1 can induce EMT in RKO and SW480, suggesting that TG2 could be a downstream target of TGF β 1 and is recruited by TGF β 1 to induce EMT as it was found out in SW480 cells transduced with TG2, where further treatment with TGF^{β1} did not induce further EMT transition compared to control treated TG2 transduced cells (Figure 4.4.5). This may explain the findings in the metastatic SW620 where TG2 expression is much higher, and TGF_{β1} does not impact on EMT. This suggests a more intrinsic mechanism for TG2 that is independent of growth factors or the ECM. It also suggests that the interplay between TG2 and TGF^{β1} may be necessary to acquire a metastatic phenotype, but further cellular mutations are required for metastasis to take place, and an alternative path for TG2 induced EMT is observed in the SW620 cells. While the current data suggest that TGFB1 may induce TG2 and EMT canonically via increased activation of Smad 2/3; ERK activation and Smad signalling have also been reported to be both necessary for TGF\beta-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Davies et al., 2005).

The mechanism by which TGF β 1 induces TG2 in cells may be varied and cell-specific. TGF β 1 was reported to upregulate TG2 in ovarian cancer by upregulating the activity of NF κ B (Cao et al., 2012) and via the ERK and PI3/AKT pathway in diseased pulmonary fibroblast (Olsen et al., 2014).

Furthermore, genomic studies on TGF β 1-regulated gene expression profiles also suggest that in the human lung cancer cell line A549, TGF β 1 induces TG2 expression by a pathway that is partially dependent on the ERK signalling pathway (Ranganathan et al., 2007). Hence, in this study the data suggests that ERK1/2 a downstream signalling molecule in the Ras/MAPK kinase pathway is rapidly activated in response to TGF β 1 in both primary CRCs RKO and SW480 (**Figure 4.4.6**), and that blockage of TGF β 1 binding to the receptor, and /or inhibition of ERK 1/2 is sufficient to mitigate TGF β 1 induced expression of TG2 in SW480 and RKO cells, suggesting that ERK 1/2 may be necessary for the TGF β 1 induced TG2 expression in these cells.

More so, the current dataset also demonstrates that TG2 was associated with increased expression and levels of TGF β 1 in the whole cell lysates and culture medium respectively. This agrees with previous studies in murine colon carcinoma that showed increased levels of TGF^{β1} in the medium of TG2 transfected clones, which was inhibited by the inclusion of site-directed TG2 inhibitors in the culture medium (Kotsakis et al., 2011). It has been suggested by others that the MAP kinase, ERK1/2 signalling pathway may result in activation of Activator protein-1 (AP-1), a transcription factor which is critical for auto-induction of TGF β 1 (de Caestecker et al., 2000) by mediating the expression of C-Jun. Here it is shown that TG2 increases the activation of ERK1/2 which can be reversed by silencing TG2 or by selective TG2 inhibition using 1-155. Again the mechanism through which TG2 may activate ERK 1/2may be varied, and may involve TG2 and integrin interactions on the one hand, as it has been shown that TG2-Fibronectin interaction with $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin, may potentiate integrin clustering (Telci et al., 2008) or that TG2 may participate as a co-receptor with β 1 or β 3 integrins (Akimov et al., 2000), with both forms of integrin interaction facilitating the activation of Focal Adhesion Kinase (FAK) which in turn activates other downstream signalling molecules including ERK 1/2 (Cho et al., 2010). On the other hand, TG2 via its cell surface activity may increase the abundance of active TGF β 1 by facilitating the release of TGF_{β1} from its latent complex (Verderio et al., 1999). Alternatively, TG2 may also increase matrix-bound TGF β 1, as it has been suggested by Griffin and colleagues that active TGF β 1 crosslinked into the matrix might be necessary to enhance and stabilise the signalling potential of TGF β 1 (Nyabam et al., 2016), this will result in a corresponding activation of ERK 1/2. The former

may explain the more than 4-fold reduced activated ERK 1/2 detection in SW620 cells compared to RKO and SW480, as these cells express very little if any $\beta 1$ integrin, therefore abating any TG2-integrin-associated cell response including ERK activation.

It is, therefore, plausible to suggest that TG2 induced activation of ERK1/2 can induce c-Jun and in turn recruit transcription factor AP-1 for increased expression of TGF β 1. This is suggested by the increased expression of c-Jun in ERK1/2 activated SW480 and TG2 transduced RKO cells. Taken together these effects suggest a loop and mechanism, in which TGF β 1 directly, or indirectly induces TG2 via ERK1/2, and TG2 via mediating activation of ERK1/2 recruits the necessary machinery for increased TGF β 1 expression and secretion, thus sustaining EMT (**Figure 4.5.1**). The involvement of TG2 in upregulating TGF β 1 expression could be validated in the SW620 cells where loss of β 1 integrin expression prevents TG2 from playing a role in ERK activation, and thus provides a proof of concept wherein TG2 silencing in these cells have no effect on TGF β 1 cellular expression or release into the extracellular milieu.



Figure 4.5.1 Proposed mechanism of TG2 induced expression of TGF β 1 and TGF β 1 regulation of TG2. TGF β 1 induces ERK activation in a non-canonical fashion via Grb and SOS activation of Ras, Activated ERK induces the expression of TGF β 1 transcription factor c-Jun and TG2. c-Jun is activated by JNK, activated c-Jun translocates into the nucleus where it associates with other TGF β 1 transcription factors, to form activated protein 1(Ap-1)- an autoinducer of TGF β 1, this along ATF-2 induces TGF β 1 expression. In an auto-regulatory loop, TGF β 1 may induce TG2 via Smad 4, or by activating ERK. TG2 may then autoregulates itself by activating ERK which then induces TGF β 1 expression and secretion.

Since TGF^{β1} had no impact on EMT in the metastatic cell line SW620, alternative pathways that might be used by TG2 in driving EMT in SW620 cells were investigated. β -catenin is a known transcriptional regulator with oncogenic activity attributed to either activating mutation or interactions with mutated β -catenin interacting proteins (Morin et al., 1997), or by canonical activation of Wnt signalling. In carcinomas, β-catenin degradation is often blocked by either loss-of-function mutations of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) or by β -catenin mutations that render β -catenin stable (Condello et al., 2013). In SW620 cells, β -catenin is overexpressed and stabilised due to mutations in the APC gene (Ilyas 1997). The current data show that TG2 is able to interact with LRP 5, a Wnt co-receptor, which could lead to β -catenin stabilisation, and nuclear accumulation (Figure 4.4.14). This interaction can be reduced by the TG2-selective inhibitor 1-155 which can also lock TG2 into its inactive open conformation and prevent its externalisation (Badarau et al., 2015). More importantly, TG2 may also be able to stabilise β-catenin intracellularly since SW620 cells already possess loss or mutation in APC leading to loss of function of the glycogen synthase kinase-APC-Axin death complex, which induces proteasomal degradation of β -catenin (Ilyas et al., 1997). The results show that TG2 interacts with β catenin an interaction which is reduced upon TG2 inhibition by 1-155, thus allowing for increased β catenin association with ubiquitin. The results further suggest that TG2 stabilisation of β-catenin and its subsequent nuclear accumulation is independent of Src in SW620 cells since neither knockdown nor inhibition of TG2 resulted in reduced Src activation or reduced interaction between Src and β -catenin. However, in RKO and SW480 cells, TG2 did induce increased phosphorylation of Src (Figure 4.4.16). In ovarian carcinomas, TG2 recruits Src via β 1-integrin and FN interaction for the stabilisation of β catenin (Condello et al., 2013). Interestingly, in the SW620 cells, β1-integrin was poorly expressed. Therefore, Src in our cell model may have undergone some form of mutation that has left it constitutively activated with the subsequent loss of β 1-integrin, or the TG2-induced activation of Src is tumour specific. The proposed mechanism of TG2 in β -catenin nuclear accumulation is shown in Figure 4.5.2.

While TG2 may play both extracellular and intracellular roles in WNT signalling (Condello et al., 2013; Myneni et al., 2015) upon further examination of the cellular location within which TG2 may influence EMT in SW620 cells, only the cell permeable inhibitor (1-155) and not the cell impermeable inhibitor (R281) contributed to the reversal of EMT in a manner comparable to that found in TG2 knockdown cells. This suggests that intracellular TG2 may be key to the EMT process in the SW620 cells. The absence or low expression of integrins in these cells may diminish an extracellular role for TG2, as TG2-fibronectin-integrin interaction has been reported to be essential for cell adhesion, migration and invasion in epidermoid carcinoma cell line A-431 (Chen et al., 2010). This, however, may still be true for the primary cells RKO and SW480, as extracellular inhibition of TG2 resulted in a reduction in the EMT potential in this cells.



Figure 4.5.2. The proposed mechanism of TG2 regulation of β -catenin. Schematic showing extracellular TG2 interaction with LRP5in the propagation of Wnt signalling. Cytosolic TG2 interaction with β -catenin inhibits ubiquitination of β -catenin allowing for cytosolic accumulation and nuclear translocation of β -catenin where it interacts with lef-2/TCf transcription factors to regulate cell renewal, EMT and cell cycle progression.

4.6 Conclusion

This chapter shows that TGF β 1 may regulate TG2 expression via both canonical and non-canonical pathways, and thus potentiate EMT, and that TG2 may also regulate TGF β 1 expression, activation, and matrix abundance leading to a positive feed back loop involving both TG2 and TGF β 1 in which ERK1/2 activation may play a central role. Additionally, based on the different molecular signatures between SW480 and SW620 cells TG2- β 1 integrin association may be crucial in discriminating between potential extracellular and intracellular roles of TG2 in EMT and tumour progression, where the loss of β 1 integrin may potentiate a dominant intracellular role for TG2. With this role in the SW620 associated with stabilisation of intracellular β -catenin and increased nuclear presence of β -catenin, which is responsible for activation of EMT and invasive genes such as *Fibronectin* (Gradl et al., 1999) and *S100A4* (Stein et al., 2006) and other genes associated with cancer stemness like *c-myc* (Hadjimichael et al., 2015), *CD44* (Brabletz et al., 2001), *Sox 9* (Blache et al., 2004) and angiogenesis such as *VEGF* (Zhang et al., 2001). Importantly, TG2 site-specific inhibitor (1-155) is able to perturb the TG2-TGF β 1 feedback loop and increase β -catenin association with ubiquitin, therefore antagonising the EMT process and the associated tumour progression.

Chapter 5 TG2 is upregulated in colorectal tumour spheroids characterised with stem-like phenotype

Chapter 5

5.0 TG2 is upregulated in colorectal tumour spheroids characterised with stem-like phenotype.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

There is a growing body of evidence showing that the formation and seeding of circulating tumour cells is highly dependent on a subpopulation of tumour cells with self-renewal potential and ability to differentiate into diverse tumour population, this subpopulation of cells is called the cancer stem cells (Han et al., 2013), and can repopulate a tumour leading to a relapse, or seed a metastasis (Polyak and Hahn, 2006). In colorectal cancer, patient survival depends on the stage of the disease, with metastasis accounting for poor patient prognosis. Cancer researchers have become aware of the existence of colorectal cancer stem cells (CSCs) with innate ability to propagate a metastasis and form highly drug-resistant phenotypes (O'Brien et al., 2007). These cells are considered to have the potential to acquire the many mutations that drive tumourigenesis (Wilson et al., 2011). Wei et al., (2012) have shown that cancer stem cells can sustain carcinogenesis, angiogenesis, metastasis, and recurrence of colorectal cancer after remission.

In cancer, many of the embryonic and wound healing processes are subverted for pathological gains, one of which is epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) a process which enables epithelial cells to gain a mesenchymal phenotype (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009). Various studies are now providing evidence that the EMT process is important in the development and acquisition of a cancer stem cell phenotype (Mani et al., 2008, Fan et al., 2012). Transglutaminase 2, has been reported to regulate EMT in various cancerous and fibrotic conditions (Fishers et al., 2015a, Nyabam et al., 2016) and in chapter 3 and 4 of this thesis TG2 has been shown to play a significant role in the induction of EMT in CRCs. In recent times TG2 expression has also been reported to be increased in certain cancer stem cell-like enriched populations including ovarian (Cao et al., 2012), breast (Kumar et al., 2011), squamous carcinomas (Fisher et al., 2015b) and mesotheliomas (Zonca et al., 2017). In addition, β -catenin, an oncogenic protein shown to be upregulated in colorectal cancer (Huang et al., 2017), gastric (Pasche et al., 2002) and ovarian cancer (Condello et al., 2015) is thought to be important in the formation of cancer stem cells by upregulating transcription factors associated with stem cells (Kiyonari et al., 2010).

For example, β -catenin is known to play an important role in the maintenance of intestinal stem cells (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). In the previous chapters of this thesis, TG2 was shown to potentiate nuclear accumulation of β -catenin in colorectal cancer cells. In this chapter, an attempt is made at the enrichment of a cancer stem cell population *in vitro* using four different colorectal cancer cell lines. These include RKO, isogenic primary and metastatic pair (SW480 and SW620) and HCT116 cell- an MSI Duke's category D colorectal cancer cell line (Ahmed et al., 2013). These cells have been used to characterise and identify if TG2, EMT, and β -catenin have a role to play in colorectal cancer stem cells and to also establish the interaction of these players in the induction and maintenance of the colorectal cancer stem cells.

5.2 AIM AND OBJECTIVES

In the previous chapters, the work was directed to characterising colorectal cancer cells on disease severity using TG2, EMT, invasion and drug resistance. In this chapter, the focus is directed towards undertaking colorectal cancer stem cell enrichment from four different colorectal cancer cell lines RKO, SW480, SW620 and HCT116, and determining the role of TG2 in the acquisition of the cancer stem like cell phenotype in these colorectal cancer cells *in vitro*.

Objectives

- 1. Undertake cancer stem cell enrichment *in vitro* using the current set of colorectal cancer cell lines
- 2. Isolate cells with a cancer stem cell phenotype, and characterise them for markers of stemness
- Characterise cells from (2) for EMT and β-catenin which are reported to be inducers of cancer stemness
- Determine the role of TG2 in cancer stemness and its consequent role in cell invasion and angiogenesis.

5.3 METHODS

5.3.1 Tumour Spheroid Formation Assay on Poly-HEMA coated Plates

Cells in culture were collected and counted as described in section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3. The cells were suspended in spheroid medium and plated at 40,000 cells per 9.5 cm² plates coated with 1.2% (w/v) poly-HEMA in 95% ethanol coated dishes (Antonyak et al., 2011). The tumour sphere culture medium consisted of serum free DMEM/F12 (1:1) (Lonza, UK) containing 2% serum free supplement B27 (Invitrogen, UK), 20 ng/ml EGF, 0.4% bovine serum albumin and 4 μ g/ml insulin. Tumour spheres were also cultures in humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO₂ and allowed 10 days for sphere formation.

5.3.2 Passaging of Tumour Sphere cells

Tumour spheroids cultured in suspension were collected by centrifugation at $300 \times g$ for 5 min, washed with sterile Phosphate buffered Saline (PBS), pH 7.4, and then the cells within the spheroid dispersed into single cells by treatment with pre-warmed 0.25% (w/v) trypsin in 2mM EDTA for 5 min at 37°C. Complete cell culture medium was used to neutralise trypsin and cells were centrifuged for $300 \times g$ for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pallet was suspended in complete spheroid media, counted and subsequently seeded into poly-HEMA-coated dishes to obtain the desired confluency.

5.3.3 Poly-HEMA Coating of cell culture plates

20mg/ml poly-HEMA solution was prepared via dissolving 1 g of Poly-HEMA (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) in 50 ml 95% (v/v) ethanol at 37°C. Following the dissolution of poly-HEMA, the solution was clarified by centrifugation at 2,000×g for 20 min.). The desired volume of poly-HEMA (as listed in **Table 2.1**) was used to coat the tissue culture plates or Petri dishes at room temperature. Ethanol was allowed to evaporate gradually, after coating the cell culture vessel. The coated vessels were then UV-sterilized and rinsed with sterile PBS, pH 7.4, prior to seeding the cells (Kuroda et al., 2013).

Dish size	Volume of poly-HEMA solution (per dish or per well)
90 mm (diameter)	3.2 ml
60 mm (diameter)	1.3 ml
35 mm (diameter)	500 μl
12 well	200 µl
24 well	100 µl
48 well	70 μl
96 well	25 μl

 Table 5.1 Required amount of poly-HEMA solution for dish coating.

5.3.4 Immunophenotyping by Flow Cytometry

Adherent monolayer cells and cells derived from tumour spheres were collected as described in **Sections 2.22-2.2.5** by trypsinisation and suspended in PBS containing 3% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma Aldrich). The cells were then initially blocked with 10% (100mg/ml) normal human immunoglobulin (Ig) (Grifols, Cambridge, UK) for 30 min at 4 °C, after which cells were collected by centrifugation at 500 x g for 5min at 4 °C, and then incubated with CD44 phycoerythrin (PE) conjugated mouse monoclonal anti-human antibodies (Immunotools, Friesoythe, Germany) (1:100) diluted with 3% w/v BSA in PBS for 1h at 4°C. Non-specific fluorescence was determined by incubating cells with isotype-matched control phycoerythrin-conjugated antibodies IgG2a (Immunotools). Cells were then washed 4 times by centrifugation at 500 x g with 3% w/v BSA in PBS. Immunoreactivity for each CD 44 was assessed by flow cytometry using a Beckman Coulter FC500 flow cytometer and data were analysed using Flowing Software 2.5.1 analysis Software.

5.3.5 Dot Blotting for Proteins

Cells were collected and counted as described in **Section 2.2.1.2-2.2.1.3** and seeded 2.5X10⁵ in complete growth media for 4 h in 24well plates. After which the complete growth media was replaced with ITS (Sigma Aldrich) supplemented serum-free cell culture media, cells were incubated for 16-18h and the cell culture media was collected and transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane using a vacuum dot blotter. The dot blotted membrane was used for detection of proteins as described in **Section 2.2.8**

by blocking the membrane in 5% w/v non-solid fat milk in Tris-buffered saline tween (pH 7.4) and incubated with primary and HRP conjugated secondary antibody and detected by chemiluminescence.

5.5.6 Matrigel endothelial cord formation assay

Endothelial cord formation was measured by a Matrigel endothelial cord formation assay as described by Wang et al., (2013). Phenol red-free basement membrane Matrigel (BD, Oxford, UK) with reduced grown factors was defrosted at 4°C and used to coat 96 well plates, 30 µl/well. Plates were incubated at 37 °C for 30 min to allow the basement membrane to form a thin layer of gel. Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells HUVECs (Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany) were cultured in endothelial growth medium (EGM) containing endothelial cell basal medium, 2% v/v FBS, hydrocortisone, bFGF, VEGF, hEGF, ascorbic acid, R3-IGF, heparin, and GA-100 (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) under normal cell culture conditions. 1.5 X10⁵ cells were seeded (**Section 2.2.1.2.-2.2.1.3**) onto Matrigel-coated wells and treated with either conditioned media from spheroid cells or the spheroid forming media with or without rhVEGF as positive and negative controls.

5.3.7 Soft Agar Colony Formation

Soft agar assay was performed for spheroid cells as according to (Kato et al., 2012). Each well of a 24well plate was loaded with 1mL 0.5% w/v agar in DMEM: F12 supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS as base. After polymerization of the base agar, 4000 cells were mixed in 0.75 mL 0.375% (w/v) agar in DMEM supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS were added. The soft agar cultures were maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO₂ for 2 weeks before colonies photographed.

5.4 RESULTS

5.4.1 Colorectal cancer stem cell phenotype correlates with the aggressive nature of the cancer The *in vitro* spheroid enrichment culture has been established as a way of enriching cancer cells exhibiting a stem cell phenotype. This involves culturing adherent cells in non-adherent condition in a serum-deprived medium (Fisher et al., 2015a). By performing the spheroid enrichment assay in **Figure 5.4.1A** only metastatic SW620 cells (Duke's C cancer disease stage) and high diseased stage HCT116 (Duke's Stage D) were able to form compact spheroids in culture. Surviving single cells in suspension first aggregate, and then form compact anchor-independent spheres. This was not, however, the case with the RKO and SW480 (Duke's B Stage) as surviving cells formed large loose aggregates which became sediments on the bottom of the plates, losing their adherence independence and spheroid compaction. Given these differences in spheroid formation, the clonogenic ability of RKO, SW480, SW620, and HCT116 on soft agar was assessed in Figure **5.4.1B**. Metastatic SW620 and Duke's D category HCT116 cells readily formed colonies on soft agar compared to primary cells SW480 and RKO confirming the aggressiveness of these cells.



В



Figure 5.4.1Aggressive cancer cell lines form spheroids in nonadherent cell culture. (A)Spheroid formation *in vitro*, primary cells SW480 and RKO form loose aggregates, while metastatic SW620 and more aggressive HCT116 cells proceed to form compact spheroids. Representative images were taken after 12days of culture. (B) Soft Agar colony formation assay for CRCs. Colonies were allowed to grow for 14 days, and then stained with crystal violet. Representative image of colony formation in soft agar (top panel) at 10X objective (n=3)



Figure 5.4.2 *In vitro* **Spheroid Formation**.Stages of spheroid formation in SW620 and HCT116 cells allowed to grow for 10days. Compaction of spheroids is observed from 5 days. Spheroids formation was captured at 20X objective (n=3).

5.4.2 CD44 and transcription marker of stem cells is upregulated in Spheroid cells

A time course of the culture of HCT116 and SW620 spheroids is shown in **Figure 5.4.2** and shows surviving cells proliferate, aggregate and eventually form compact spheroids after 10 days. Spheroids were next characterised for the presence of stem cell markers. In **Figure 5.4.3** whole cell lysates of cells derived from the spheroid culture and the traditional monolayer, adherent cell culture was collected and used for the detection of stem cell markers. CD44 a cell surface protein marker for colorectal stem was found to be expressed significantly (>2 folds) over what was detected in the corresponding SW620 and HCT116 monolayer cells (SW620-M and HCT116-M). Furthermore, the expression of the stem cell transcription factors Sox 2, Nanog, and Oct3/4 was determined by Western blotting in both monolayer and spheroid cells. In the SW620 cell line, the cells derived from the spheroids (SW620-S) expressed significantly (>0.05) higher amounts of detectable Sox 2 (2.53 folds) Nanog (1.93 folds) and Oct 3/4 (1.92 fold) compared to the parental monolayer cell (SW620M). This trend was also observed in the HCT116 cells, with spheroid cells (HCT116-S) expressing significantly higher stem cell transcription factor, SOX (1.49 folds) Nanog (1.50 folds) and Oct 3/4 (2.70 folds) compared to the monolayer cells. In **Figure 5.4.4** the expression of CD44 on the cell surface was measured by flow cytometry on cells derived from spheroid and monolayer cultured cells in both HCT116 and SW480



cells. The flow cytometry data shows that the cells obtained from the spheroids significantly expressed

increased CD44 when compared to their respective monolayer cells both SW620 and HCT116 cells,

Figure 5.4.3 Spheroid cells display stem-like properties. Representative Western blot of whole cell lysate proteins containing cell surface protein associated with GIT stem cells CD44, and transcription markers associated with stem cells Sox 2, Nanog, and Oct 3/4. Bar chart shows mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (mean±SD, n=3). *-Statistically (p<0.05) different from monolayer cells.







Figure 5.4.4 Flow cytometry detection of CD44 in monolayer and spheroid cells. Flow cytometry analysis of CD44⁺ sub-populations of SW620 and HCT116 monolayer and spheroids. Cells were stained with an anti-human CD44-phycoerythrin (PE) antibodies. Isotype-matched human antibodies served as control. Isotype represented in blue and CD44 positive cells represented by the red histogram. (n=3). Representative images of HCT 116 monolayer (M), HCT 116 Spheres (S), SW620 monolayer and SW620 spheroid cells. Phase-contrast microscope images at 20X objective (right panel) (n=3).

5.4.3 TG2 and EMT is upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells

Following the characterisation and validation of the spheroid cells as possessing stem cell characters, the spheroid cells were characterised for TG2 expression in the whole cell lysates by Western blotting. **Figure 5.4.5** indicates that TG2 expression is significantly expressed in spheroid cells, SW620-S and HCT116-S compared SW620 and HCT116 monolayer cells. In addition, epithelial to mesenchymal transition which has been reported to be a driver of a stem cell phenotype was next characterised in the spheroids. EMT marker vimentin showed significantly higher expression in the spheroids of both HCT 116 and SW620 compared to their respective monolayer counterparts. Additionally, to confirm the increase of the EMT process in the spheroids, the expression of transcription factors that regulate EMT were determined by Western blotting and show that transcription factors that induce EMT such as Slug and Twist were significantly expressed. In contrast, the expression of epithelial marker ZO1 which was significantly reduced in the spheroids compared to the monolayer cells.



Figure 5.4.5 TG2 and EMT is upregulated in Spheroid cells with stem cell-like properties. Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates of parental adherent monolayer cells and spheroid cells from SW620 and HCT116 cells. Expression of TG2 and vimentin and transcription markers of EMT are increased in spheroid containing stem-like cells. Expression of tight junction protein ZO-1 is reduced in spheroid. Bar chart show mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3, mean \pm SD). *-Statistically (p<0.05) different from monolayer cells.

In **Figure 5.4.6** an attempt was made to delineate the role of TG2 on EMT in HCT116 cells. The role of TG2 in EMT in SW620 cells have been established (Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis) by TG2 knockdown or pharmacological inhibition. This was also confirmed in HCT116 cells, and in **Figure 5.4.6** shRNA specific for human TG2 was used to knockdown TG2 expression in HCT116 which led to a concomitant significant reduction in the expression of EMT marker vimentin, and a significant reduction in the expression of EMT transcription factor slug. In addition, ZO1 a tight junction protein and an epithelial marker were seen to be significantly increased following TG2 knockdown by shRNA. A similar trend was observed following treatment of HCT116 cells with TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 at a dose of 1µM, for 48h.



Figure 5.4.6 TG2 knockdown or inhibition attenuates EMT in HCT116 cells. (A) Representative Western blot of TG2, mesenchymal marker vimentin, transcription factors of EMT slug, and expression of tight junction protein ZO in whole cell lysates of TG2 knockdown cells and (B) cells treated with TG2 cell-permeable inhibitor 1-155, 1 μ M for 48h. Bar chart shows mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH (n=3, mean±SD)). *-Statistically (P<0.05) different from EV or control cells.

In **Figure 5.4.7A** the effect of TG2 EV (empty vector) transduction on the expression of TG2 and EMT marker vimentin was, determined, with the empty vector transduction having no effect on TG2 and EMT expression. Additionally, the effect of TG2 site-specific inhibitor 1-155 (0.1-2 μ M) was determined in HCT116 cells. In **Figure 5.4.5B**, TG2 inhibitor did not significantly affect cell viability over a 48h treatment period.



Figure 5.4.7 Empty Vector transduction has comparable TG2 and EMT profile to wild-type cells. (A) Western blot detection of TG2 and vimentin in empty vector, TG2 shRNA, and wild-type HCT116 cells (n=2). (B) TG2 inhibition does not affect alter cell viability in HCT116 cells as measured by XTT over a 48h treatment period (n=3, mean±S.D).

5.4.4 Colorectal stem-like cells display an invasive phenotype in vitro

The cancer stem cells subtype is suggested to be the more aggressive type of cancer (O'Brien et al., 2007, Fan et al., 2012, Fisher et al., 2015a), This hypothesis was tested and cells from spheroid and monolayer cells were collected and used for a Transwell invasion assay. In the SW620 cell line, spheroid cells were able to significantly invade collagen IV-coated inserts in Transwell migration chambers compared to their parental monolayer counterparts, with approximately 50% more migrated cells counted for in the spheroid cells. Since cell invasion in these cells correlated with TG2 expression in SW620 cells (Section 3.4.2.6), and TG2 expression is also upregulated in SW620 spheroid, the

spheroid cells were then treated with TG2 site-specific inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) and this treatment significantly impeded cellular invasion when compared to the control cells. In addition, the reduction in cell invasion of the spheroid cells treated with TG2 inhibitor was also significantly less when compared to the invasive cell count of the monolayer cells (**Figure 5.4.8**).



Figure 5.4.8 TG2 inhibition reduces the invasiveness of colorectal cancer spheroids with stem cell properties in SW620 cells. Representative images of crystal violet stained cells that have invaded collagen IV and the Transwell inserts. Images were captured using phase contrast microscope with the 10X objective. For 1-155 (1 μ M) treated cells, cells were pre-treated with 1-155 for 24h prior to seeding cells and were further treated with 1-155 (1 μ M) after cell seeding for the duration of the experiment. Cells were counted in the 10X objective field from 10 different fields of each insert. DMSO, the control vehicle was used to treat spheroid and monolayers SW620 cells. (n=3, mean±S.D, * significant different from 1-155 treated spheroid cells, # significantly different (P<0.05).from monolayer cells, ^ monolayer cells significantly different from1-155 treated spheroid cells).

A similar cellular invasion trend was observed in the HCT116 cells, with the spheroid cells scoring significantly higher cellular invasion compared to the monolayer cells, and spheroid cell treated with TG2 site-specific inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) (**Figure 5.4.9**). Again, it was observed that TG2 inhibition

resulted in a further reduction of cellular invasion in the spheroid cells compared to the monolayers, although this difference was not significant.



Figure 5.4.9 TG2 inhibition reduces the invasiveness of colorectal cancer spheroids with stem cell properties in HCT116 cells. Representative images of crystal violet stained cells that have invaded collagen IV and the transwell inserts. Images were captured using phase contrast microscope with the 10X objective. For 1-155 (1 μ M) treated cells, cells were pre-treated with 1-155 for 24h prior to seeding cells and were further treated with 1-155 (1 μ M) after cell seeding for the duration of the experiment. DMSO, the control vehicle was used to treat HCT116 spheroid and monolayer cells. (n=3, mean±S.D * significantly different from 1-155 treated spheroid cells, # significantly (P<0.05) different from monolayer cells, N.S-not significant P>0.05).

5.4.5 TG2 plays a role in the formation of spheroids

Since the spheroid cells are associated with EMT and TG2 has been shown to play a role in the induction of EMT, the functional role of TG2 in the formation of spheroids in SW620 and HCT116 cells was investigated. Here the involvement of TG2 in spheroid formation was investigated by knocking down or inhibiting TG2. Cells treated with TG2 shRNA or treated with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1µM) were allowed to form spheroids *in vitro*, and after 10days of spheroid formation, XTT was used to measure

the cell viability of the cells. The cell viability of cells treated with TG2 inhibitor or TG2 shRNA was comparable and not significant, but cell viabilities were significantly lower in these cells than in the control untreated cells, and this observation was seen in both SW620 and HCT116 cell lines (**Figure 5.4.10**).

A Cell viability Abs (490-630nm) Control shRNA 1-155 1.3 ns 1.2).1-0.0 SW620 EV 1-155 (1 µM) shRNA SW620 B 0.6 # Cell viability Abs (490-630nm) 0.5 0.4 ns Control shRNA 1-155 3 0.2 0.1 0.0 EV shRNA 1-155 **HCT116** HCT116

Figure 5.4.10 TG2 induces a colorectal stem cell-like property in SW620 and HCT116 cells. TG2 knockdown(shRNA) or TG2 inhibition(by 1-155) 1 μ M reduces the enrichment of spheroids with stem cell-like phenotype in (A) SW620 cells and (B) HCT116 cells For the treatment group CRCs were seeded in spheroid forming media contain 1 μ M TG2 selective inhibitor 1-155 for 10 days, then spheroid images were captured and cell viability was performed using XTT. (n=3, mean±S.D * EV-control significantly (P<0.05) different from shRNA, EV-control significant different from 1-155 treated cells. N.S-not significant P>0.05).
5.4.6 Stem cell regulator β-catenin is upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells

 β -catenin is a regulator of stem cell maintenance and differentiation (Miki et al., 2011) and is upregulated in cancer stem cells (Lee et al., 2014). In **Figure 5.4.11** β -catenin expression in SW620 cells was significant and over 3 folds higher in the spheroid cells compared to the monolayer cells. Additionally, the expression of cyclin D1 was observed to be significantly increased by 2 fold in the spheroid cells compared to the monolayer cells in SW620 cells. The increased expression of cyclin D1 may confirm not just increased cellular β -catenin in the spheroid cells but also a potential increase in nuclear activity of β -catenin. This pattern of observation was also confirmed in the HCT116 cells with β -catenin significantly expressed (>2 folds) in the spheroid-derived cells compared to the monolayerderived cells, with a corresponding significant increase (in excess of a 2-fold increase) in cyclin D1 expression the spheroid cells compared to the monolayer cells. This confirmed the association between spheroid cells, β -catenin, and increased β -catenin nuclear activity by measuring cyclin D1 expression.



Figure 5.4.11 Intestinal stem cell regulator β-catenin is overexpressed in Spheroid derived cells. Representative Western blot of monolayer and spheroid cells from (A) SW620 and (B) HCT116 detecting the presence β-catenin and cyclin D1 expression in the whole cell lysate. Bar charts show mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression of the proteins against GAPDH (n=3, mean±SD). *-Statistically (P<0.05) different from monolayer cells.

5.4.7 TG2 may regulate β -catenin expression in colorectal cancer stem cells

In Chapter 4 of this thesis, it was shown that TG2 was able to interact with β-catenin, increasing nuclear translocation of β -catenin and that inhibition of TG2 increased the interaction between β -catenin and ubiquitin in SW620 cells. This alongside the significantly increased expression of TG2 and β -catenin in spheroids derived from SW620, and the effect of TG2 knockdown or inhibition may suggest TG2 regulation of β -catenin in spheroid cells derived in SW620 cells. For the HCT116 cells and in **Figure 5.4.12A** TGF β1 at 2.5ng/ml significantly increased TG2 expression by 1.74 folds, with a corresponding 2.19-fold increase in β -catenin, and 1.59-fold increase in activated ERK 1/2 (p-ERK) in HCT 116 cells. This effect of TGF β1 was found to be abrogated by ERK1/2 inhibition using 10μM ERK inhibitor PD98059. ERK 1/2 inhibition in the presence of TGF $\beta 1$ led to about 50% loss in TG2 expression compared to control cells, and 70% loss compared to the TGF β 1 treated cells. This corresponded to a significant 20% loss in β -catenin expression compared to the control untreated cells and to about 60% loss compared to the TGF \u03b31 treated cells. Indicating a potential role of ERK 1/2 in \u03b3-catenin expression. Furthermore, following that TG2 inhibition also reduced spheroid formation (Figure **5.4.10**), TG2 inhibition in HCT116 cells led to a significant 20% loss in the β -catenin expression a consequence of a significant 50 % loss in ERK 1/2 activation. This may suggest that TG2 mediated ERK 1/2 activation in the HCT116 cells may play a role in regulating β -catenin expression (Figure 5.4.12B).



Figure 5.4.12 TG2 governs intestinal stem cell regulator \beta-catenin (A) ERK activation increases β -catenin expression in HCT116 cells. Western blot of TG2, β -catenin and p-ERK 1/2 in whole cell lysates of HCT116 cells treated with human recombinant TGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) and ERK 1/2 inhibitor PD98059 (10 μ M) for 48h. Bar chart show relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH, p-ERK 1/2 normalised against t-ERK 1/2 (n=3, mean \pm S.D).*- Statistically (P<0.05) different from control cells, **-statistically different from both control and TGF β 1 treated cells (**B**) TG2 activates ERK and β -catenin expression. Western blot of TG2, β -catenin and ERK activation in whole cell lysates of HCT116 monolayer cells following treatment with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) for 48h. Bar chart shows mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression normalised against GAPDH, p-ERK 1/2 normalised against t-ERK (n=3, mean \pm S.D). *-Statistically (P<0.05) different from control cells.

5.4.8 ERK 1/2 inhibition repeals Spheroid formation in HCT116 cells

Since TG2 inhibition led to reduced ERK 1/2 activation and β -Catenin expression in the HCT116 cells. The HCT116 cells were treated with TGF β 1 or ERK 1/2 inhibitor to determine their effect on spheroid formation via determining cell viability. In **Figure 5.4.13** TGF β 1 increased spheroid measured by cell viability, albeit not significantly when compared to the control cells. ERK1/2 inhibition with 10µM PD98059 significantly reduced the spheroid forming potential of HCT116 cells as determined by XTT, when compared to the control or TGF β 1 treated cells.



Figure 5.4.13 ERK 1/2 inhibition reduces spheroid formation. ERK inhibition reduces spheroid forming potential of HCT116 cells. HCT116 cells were seeded in spheroid forming media containing PD98059 (10 μ M) or TGF β 1 (2.5ng/ml) for 10days and cell viability was performed using XTT. Control cells were treated with DMSO. (n=2, mean±S.D * significantly different (P<0.05) from PD98059 treated cells. N.S-not significant P>0.05).

5.4.9 Tumour Spheroids containing cancer stem cells promote increased angiogenesis

Tumours originating from cancer stem cells are more vascular compared to tumours from monolayer cells (Wei et al., 2012). Therefore, the effect of conditioned media from spheroid cells on HUVEC cord formation when cultured on Matrigel was determined. In **Figure 5.4.14** HUVEC cells seeded on Matrigel were treated with rhVEGF (10ng/ml) or conditioned media from the SW620 spheroids grown over a 24h period. The conditioned media treated HUVEC's at 6h started aligning to form cords and by 24h endothelial cords were observed in both rhVEGF and conditioned media treated HUVEC cells. Following this, the spheroid containing stem-like cells were characterised for angiogenic factors. In **Figure 5.4.15** both SW620 and HCT116 spheroid cells displayed a significant cellular expression of VEGF (3.99 and 1.99-fold increase for SW620 and HCT116 respectively), HIF 1 α (1.45 and 1.52-fold increase for SW620 and HCT116 respectively) compared to their respective monolayer cells.







Figure 5.4.15 Angiogenic factors are overexpressed in colorectal cancer spheroids containing stem cells. Western blot of monolayer and spheroid cells from (A) SW620 and (B)HCT116 detecting the presence VEGF and HIF 1 α expression in the whole cell lysate. Bar chart shows mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression of the proteins against GAPDH (n=3, mean±SD). *-Statistically (P<0.05) different from monolayer cells.

5.4.10 TG2 induced β -catenin expression increases VEGF release into culture medium inducing angiogenesis in endothelial cells

Next the role of TG2 on VEGF release into conditioned media by spheroids was examined and in **Figure 5.4.16** VEGF was detected by dot blot and more VEGF was detected in spheroid conditioned media compared to their monolayer counterparts in both SW620 and HCT116 cells, additionally TG2 inhibition resulted in reduced release of VEGF in spheroid media (**Figure 5.4.16A**). It has been reported that β -catenin plays a role in VEGF transcription (Easwaran et al., 2003), so here whole cell lysates of spheroid cells treated with TG2 inhibitor showed a reduction in the expression of β -catenin in the spheroid cells by almost 50% in the SW620 spheroids, and approx. 65% in the HCT116 spheroids, mirroring the detection of VEGF in the condition media. (**Figure 5.4.16B**).



Figure 5.4.16 TG2 inhibition reduces the release of VEGF from CRC spheroids. (A) Representative Dot blot of VEGF in condition media of SW620 and HCT 116 cells monolayer and spheroid cells. (n=3) (B) Representative Western blotting of TG2 and β -catenin from whole cell lysate of HCT116 and SW620 monolayer and spheroid cells following treatment with TG2 inhibitor 1-155 (1 μ M) for 48h, (n=2).

To further establish TG2's role in VEGF release into cell culture media, monolayer cells of SW620 and HCT116 cells transduced with TG2 shRNA were used and in **Figure 5.4.17A.** TG2 knockdown reduced the release of VEGF by cells into the cell culture medium, a similar trend was also observed in TG2 inhibitor-treated cells. Next, the role of TG2 on cellular expression of VEGF was determined and **Figure 5.4.17B** shows that TG2 knockdown or inhibition significantly reduced cellular expression of VEGF.



Figure 5.4.17 TG2 knockdown or Inhibition reduces VEGF expression in CRCs. (A) Representative Dot blot of VEGF in conditioned media of monolayer cells (n=3) (B)Representative Western blot of whole cell lysates of monolayer cells from SW620 and HCT116 detecting the presence VEGF (n=3). Bar charts show mean relative densitometry ratios of protein expression of VEGF monomer normalised against GAPDH. *-Statistically (P<0.05) different from EV, **-statistically significant from EV and shRNA.

5.5 DISCUSSION

The *in vitro* spheroid formation culture has been widely shown and used as a means to isolate, enrich, maintain or expand potential CSC subpopulations from various types of cancers (Fisher et al., 2015a, Cao et al., 2011, Kumar et al., 2012, Fan et al., 2012), and these CSC population showed stem cell-like properties and expressed CSC markers. Here we characterised the spheroids obtained for stem cell marker CD44 and show that the expression of CD44 was upregulated in the spheroids of SW620 and HCT116 as assessed by both flow cytometry and Western blotting, suggesting that the *in vitro* spheroid formation enriches colorectal cancer cells with stem cell characters. More so, the transcription factors of stemness including Oct 3/4, Nanog, and Sox2 were highly expressed in the spheroid cells of SW620 and HCT116 compared to the parental monolayer cells. These findings are in concert with those reported in ovarian (Cao et al., 2012), breast (Kumar et al., 2010) and squamous carcinomas (Fisher et al., 2015b).

Of the four colorectal cancer cell lines used in the spheroid-cancer stem cell enrichment culture, only high TG2 expressing SW620 and HCT116 cells were able to form compact spheroids. This interestingly also coincides with the grade of the CRC cell line, SW620 being a line with Duke's C classification and HCT116 a more aggressive primary tumour with, D classification. This observation is in concert with other studies that have also reported the inability of the lower grade primary cell lines to form compact spheroids in culture (Leng et al., 2013).

Various studies are now providing evidence for a role of EMT in the acquisition of cancer stem cell phenotype in colon cancer cells (Fan et al., 2012, Han et al., 2013). It has been proposed that while EMT is necessary for cells to dissociate, evade and disseminate (metastasise), the last metastatic step involves the growth of micrometastases into macroscopic metastases, and may require cells with self-renewal capacity and proliferative potential (Polyak and Weinberg, 2009). However, since EMT is transient, circulating tumour cells upon reaching a metastatic site can be re-epithelialised a process which will then enhance proliferation and differentiation. Results in **Figure 5.4.3** suggests that the EMT process is heightened in spheroid of SW620 and HCT116 cells with stem cell-like phenotype. Fan et al., (2012) showed that transcription factors of EMT (Snail, Twist) confer a cancer stem cell phenotype by inducing the expression of pluripotency maintaining transcription factors associated with

stem cells vis-à-vis Oct 4, Sox2, Nanog, Bmi in colorectal cancer cell lines HT29 and HCT116. In this current study, the spheroid cells exhibited increased expression of EMT transcription factors Slug and Twist in both SW620 and HCT116 spheroid cells compared to monolayer cells. Elsewhere in this thesis, TG2 has been shown to induce EMT in CRCs (RKO, SW480, and SW620) and regulate the expression of both Slug and Twist in SW620 cells. This was further established in HCT116 cells where TG2 knockdown or inhibition reduced EMT (**Figure 5.4.6**).

Interestingly, the current data also show that TG2 expression is also increased in cancer stem cells. As shown in Chapter 4, and here with the HCT116 cells, TG2 may regulate EMT via multiple mechanisms, it is thus plausible to say that increased TG2 and EMT facilitate the stem cell formation in these CRCs. This was substantiated by the reduced spheroid forming potential of these cells when treated with shRNA specific for human TG2, or when treated with a TG2 specific inhibitor (1-155); an effect that has been previously reported in squamous cancer (Fisher et al., 2015b).

 β -catenin is an oncoprotein whose dysregulation is associated with colorectal cancers (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015), and plays an important role in the maintenance of intestinal stem cells. Nuclear β -catenin in embryonic stem cells, depending on its binding partner can maintain pluripotency or play a role in lineage decision/commitment process (Miki et al., 2011).

 β -catenin has been shown to up-regulate pluripotency factors e.g. Oct4, Nanog, and Sox2 (Kiyonari et al., 2010). So, it is not surprising that β -catenin is sufficiently upregulated in the spheroid cells enriched with cancer stem cells. Very recent studies report increased β -catenin expression in SW620 stem cell populations (Huang et al., 2017). In Chapter 4 TG2 influenced β -catenin accumulation in the nuclei of SW620 cells and in SW620 spheroids both TG2 and β -catenin is upregulated compared to monolayer cells, which may further describe a role of TG2 in maintaining a cancer stem cell phenotype by facilitating β -catenin translocation into the nucleus. Indeed, a very recent study showed that the self-renewal capacity of cancer stem cells in colon and head and neck cancer was blocked by perturbation of the interaction between β -catenin and the transcription factor TCF4 in the nucleus (Fang et al., 2016). To further pursue this line of thought cyclin D1 a protein that is transcribed following β -catenin nuclear activity (Shtutman et al., 1999) was measured. Through live imaging and measurement of YFP tagged

mRNA cyclin D1, and GFP tagged β -catenin, Kafri et al., (2016) was able to show that cells with nuclear accumulation of β -catenin had a 3-fold increase in cyclin D1 mRNA. Results in this Chapter show that cyclin D1 expression is higher in spheroid cells compared to monolayer cells, this alongside the heightened expression of β -catenin in the spheroid cells is suggestive of increased nuclear transcriptional activity of β -catenin.

Additionally, the data in this chapter provide further evidence on a potential TG2 regulated stabilisation of β -catenin which may involve the MAPK pathway in the HCT116 cells. Indeed, it has been suggested that ERK1/2 may activate the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling (Lemieux et al., 2015). In addition, Horst et al., (2012) showed that ERK 1/2 activation resulted in nuclear accumulation of β -catenin in clinical human colorectal cancer cells, and concluded that MAPK signalling contributes significantly to determining the impact of WNT activity on stemness phenotypes in CRC cells. Here, ERK 1/2 inhibition perturbed spheroid formation *in vitro*, and TG2 mediated ERK 1/2 phosphorylation correlated with increased β catenin expression. Taken together this suggests that TG2 driven β -catenin nuclear accumulation may be necessary for maintaining EMT and cancer stem cells. Others have reported that TG2 may induce activation of NFkB and HIf-1 α to drive EMT, cancer stemness and prevent apoptosis in certain breast cancer cell types (Kumar et al., 2011).

Wei et al., (2012) have reported that cancer stem cells maintain angiogenesis, and there are considerable reports of β -catenin regulation of angiogenesis. According to (Zhang et al., 2001), there are seven β -catenin/Tcf binding sites on the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A) gene promoter. In mice heterozygous for the multiple intestinal neoplasia gene (Min/) there was increased redistribution of VEGF in proximity to those cells expressing nuclear β -catenin with a corresponding increase in vessel density (Easwaran et al., 2003). Zhang et al., (2001) further showed that in HeLa cells transfected with constructively active β -catenin, there was an up-regulated VEGF promoter activity by about 4.5-fold. In **Figure 5.4.16** spheroid cells containing cancer stem cells that sufficiently expressing β -catenin, demonstrated increased release of VEGF into the cell culture medium compared to monolayer cells in both SW620 and HCT116 cells, and the condition media from these spheroid cells mediated endothelial cord formation in HUVEC cells seeded on Matrigel. Furthermore HIF-1 α a

transcription factor for angiogenesis was elevated in spheroid cells derived from SW620 and HCT 116 cells, and in these spheroid cells inhibition of TG2 by site-specific TG2 inhibitor 1-155 reduced the expression of VEGF and β -catenin. In addition, TG2 inhibition resulted in a significant reduction in VEGF polymer as detected by western blotting, suggesting that TG2 catalytic activity may play a role in the polymerisation of VEGF. More so Wang et al., (2013) have shown that TG2 may increase the bioavailability of matrix-bound VEGF-A in HUVEC cells. Taken together an important role forTG2 in the crosstalk between colorectal cancer stem cells and endothelial cells can be proposed in which TG2 may induce nuclear β -catenin accumulation or HIF 1 α resulting in the up-regulation of VEGF, which stimulates endothelial cell migration and proliferation. This neovascularisation of CSCs in tumours potentiate tumour growth and or metastasis by favouring extravasation.

5.6 Conclusion

This Chapter shows that only the aggressive cancer cell lines showed the potential of being populated with cancer stem cell, and these cancer stem cells possessed a highly invasive potential. TG2 expression is upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells, and TG2 may maintain a cancer stem cell phenotype by inducing EMT or by fostering accumulation of β -catenin. More so TG2 may play a role in the expression and release of VEGF necessary for sustaining angiogenesis. Inhibition of TG2 reduces EMT, cancer stem cell formation which proposes TG2 as a potential therapeutic target in CRC progression.

Chapter 6 Discussion and Future Work

6.0 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE WORK

6.1 DISCUSSION

Cancer accounts for the second largest non-infectious disease in the world following heart-related conditions. The survival of cancer patients is highly dependent on the stage of the cancer at diagnosis with a metastatic cancer presenting a poorer diagnostic outcome. In colorectal cancer which is the third largest cancer type (Liu et al., 2011), 5-year survival rates drop from nearly 90% for a primary diagnosed cancer to about 10% in a metastatic one (Leng et al., 2013). This significant drop in the efficacy of the current therapeutic approach calls for the development and identification of biomedical markers that associate with disease progression to enhance easier detection and opens up an opportunity to try to understand cellular processes that are associated with tumour progression, and that may result in poorer clinical therapeutic outcomes.

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), a physiological process in wound healing and embryogenesis, is being recognised as a mediator in tumour cell behaviour and metastasis (Agnihotri et al., 2013). Multiple studies have shown that the inception of EMT in cancer cells results in upregulation of cell survival signalling pathways (Bates and Mercurio, 2005), and recent clinical evidence now points to the correlation between EMT and poorer five-year survival in colorectal cancer cells (Mima et al., 2013). In addition, EMT has been shown to play a significant role in the acquisition of a metastatic potential *in vitro*, *in vivo* and in clinical studies, in prostate cancer Hori et al., (2017). Son and Moon (2010) suggest that EMT can facilitate metastasis by promoting cellular invasion which is critical for dissemination. This was shown by highlighting the role of EMT in inducing the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), responsible for proteolytic degradation of the ECM. Other

of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), responsible for proteolytic degradation of the ECM. Other studies have also shown that the transcription factor of EMT, Twist, induces the formation of invadopodia which are actin-based protrusions that recruit various proteases such as membrane-tethered proteases (MT-MMPs), ADAMs, and MMPs, etc. to cell–matrix contact points to degrade ECM (Murphy and Courtneidge 2011). Similar roles for Twist in the development of invadopodia has been reported in mammary epithelial cells (Eckert et al., 2011). Following cell invasion and intravasation into the vasculature, it has been reported that EMT facilitates the formation of circulatory tumour cells

(CTCs). Rhim et al., (2012) reported that the majority of CTCs in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer were presented with a mesenchymal phenotype and expressed the EMT associated transcription factor Zeb2, suggesting that the EMT program in these cells was active. These findings corroborate with the studies performed by Tsai et al. (2012) who also showed increased production of CTCs in a squamous cell carcinoma mouse tumour model in response to Twist1 expression.

In addition to the role of EMT in sustaining CTCs for metastasis, it has also been reported that EMT significantly confers a drug resistance phenotype on cancer cells (Kumar et al., 2012). This has been substantiated by reports from Sayan et al., (2009) who showed that Zeb 2 promotes drug resistance in bladder cancer cells by upregulating the expression of cell survival mechanisms.

Multiple studies also suggest that EMT drives the acquisition of stem-like properties in cancer cells (Eckert et al., 2015). Importantly, Fisher et al., (2015a) suggested that the correlation between EMT and the cancer stem cell (CSC) phenotype, maybe due to the process of de-differentiation, a status that cancer cells adopt in order to evade death signals and seed neoplasms. Fan et al., (2012) reported that knockdown of EMT transcription factor Snail and Twist resulted in perturbation in the expression of CSC transcription factors and the ability of cancer cells to form cancer stem cells in colorectal cancer cells. Taken together this makes EMT a crucial point in the progression of CRCs by fostering invasion, drug resistance, metastasis and cancer stem cell formation.





Figure 6.1 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition plays an essential role in Tumour Progression. As epithelial tumours progress, epithelial carcinomas acquire a mesenchymal phenotype which drives invasion, metastasis, drug resistance and contribute to the maintenance of cancer stem cells.

Tissue transglutaminase has been extensively reported as an enzyme that can act as a protein crosslinker, amino transferase, and as a protein disulphide isomerase (Wang and Griffin 2013), and is often described as a pro-fibrotic protein, but in recent years the increase in research and method development, is highlighting more protein regulation/cell signalling properties for TG2 (Agnihotri et al., 2013). The TG2 interactome is growing with evidence of TG2 involvement in cellular architecture, cell motility and migration, cellular apoptosis, protein degradation (Wang and Griffin 2012), and binding partners of nuclear transcription factors (Agnihotri et al., 2013). In cancer cells, the role of TG2 is varied with some studies identifying TG2 as a potential antitumor protein (Yoo et al., 2012; Kotsakis and Griffin, 2007) while others suggest a more tumour protective role (Kumar et al., 2010, Fisher et al., 2015). The general consensus is that the cellular location of TG2 may be relevant in predicting its tumour associated role(s) (Agnihotri et al., 2013). The GTP/GDP function of TG2 has been reported to be associated with cancer cell survival and EMT in breast cancer cells (Kumar et al., 2012), in addition, TG2- fibronectin-Integrin association has been reported to activate Src in ovarian cancer cells (Condello et al., 2008). New roles have also been reported for TG2 as a co-transcription factor with NF κ B in HIF-1 α transcription (Kumar and Mehta 2012). The literature also suggests that TG2 induces EMT via multiple mechanisms in cancer and fibrosis (Nyabam et al., 2016, Fisher et al., 2015b, Kumar and Mehta 2012, Cao et al., 2008), and additionally, TG2 has been reported to clinically correlate with poor disease outcome in ovarian cancer (Hwang et al., 2008), breast cancer (Oh et al., 2011) and colon cancer (Miyoshi et al., 2010). Based on the crucial role of EMT in tumour progression and the potential of TG2 in regulating EMT it was important to determine the interplay between TG2 and EMT in the progression of colorectal cancer cells.

To achieve this colorectal cancer cell lines which have been validated as a progressive model of the disease were employed. In a bid to study the cellular mechanisms that promote tumour progression and metastasis many researchers have attempted to study SW480 and SW620 as a validated *in vitro* model for tumour progression in CRCs, as these cells represent an isogenic pair collected form a patient as the cancer progressed (Hewitt et al., 2000). Gene spectrum analysis confirms that the genetic signature of both cell lines differs significantly with genes differentially up-regulated in SW620 consistent with the

more aggressive cancer phenotype (Futschik et al., 2002). Furthermore, RKO cells which are microsatellite instability (MSI) are thought to be less aggressive compared to its corresponding staged microsatellite stable (MSS) tumour (Rosty et al., 2014).

The characterisation of RKO, SW480 and SW620, indicated distinct morphological and cellular difference between these cells. The primary CRCs RKO and SW480 display increased cellular adhesion and migration, characteristics that are often dependent on interaction of integrins, focal adhesion kinases and Rho GTPases (Parsons et al., 2010). Therefore, it was not surprising to observe increased expression of integrins in the primary cells compared to the metastatic SW620 cell line. Indeed, while SW620 possesses reduced cellular adhesion and migration, these cells showed increased potential for invasion as shown in Figure 3.4.15. The invasive potential of SW620 cells is incumbent on it being a metastatic cell, following the development of the necessary cellular machinery to degrade the basement membrane and intravasate blood vessels. A key mediator in the progression from primary to metastatic tumour is EMT, with the metastatic cell line displaying a predominantly mesenchymal phenotype compared to the epithelial phenotype of the primary CRCs SW480 and RKO. In addition to the predominantly mesenchymal phenotype associated with SW620 cells, protein S100A4 (Metastatin) was also found to be expressed but only in the SW620 cells confirming the metastatic potential of these cells. In colorectal cancer metastasis is often associated with drug resistance and a poor five-year survival. In Figure 3.4.6 drug responses of the cancer cell lines RKO, SW480 and SW620 was assessed using both first line CRC chemotherapeutic therapy 5FU, and doxorubicin. Again, the metastatic cell line SW620 displayed a significantly higher resistance to chemotherapy. Furthermore, in an *in vitro* spheroid assay to enrich cancer stem-like cells, only the metastatic cell line SW620 was able to form compact spheroids with stem-like cells. The observations made from this study confirms the initial hypothesis on EMT, with the presence of EMT associating with a metastatic, more invasive, drug resistant and a cancer stem like cell phenotype.

Following the establishment of the potential role of EMT in the progression of colorectal cancer disease using these cell lines. It became important to identify the role of TG2 in these cells, given that TG2 has been found to play a role in EMT in fibrosis and in certain cancer types, and that clinical evidence by two independent groups associate TG2 with a poor five-year survival in colorectal cancer (Miyoshi, et

al., 2010), and increased metastatic potential (Fernandez-Acenero et al., 2016). Characterisation of the three cell lines RKO, SW480 and SW620 for TG2, showed that the metastatic SW620 expressed significantly higher TG2 compared to the other two primary cell lines (SW480 and RKO). These observations in the human CRC cell line are suggestive of a potential role for TG2 in the progression of the disease, and this further corroborates clinical findings and indeed, proposes that TG2 may hold prognostic value in colorectal cancer.

On the assumption that EMT is associated with the progression of cancer by inducing invasiveness, drug resistance, and cancer stem cell formation. The role of TG2 in facilitating EMT was investigated, especially as TG2 expression in the current cell model is associated with EMT. By manipulating the expression of TG2 through transduction with lentiviral particles TG2 expression was found to significantly associate with EMT markers, and also the upstream transcription factors that regulates EMT. It was not surprising that TG2 expression also correlated with the invasiveness of cells, with TG2 significantly fostering invasion, migration and drug resistance. This confirms that the induction of EMT is crucial for these processes and that blocking EMT may significantly perturb tumour progression. The ability of TG2 to affect EMT, cell invasion and migration has been reported in breast (Wang and Griffin 2013, Kumar et al., 2010), and squamous (Fisher et al., 2015a) cancer cells. Furthermore, the potential for TG2 as a therapeutic target was investigated in these cells, using the TG2 selective permeable inhibitor 1-155 (Badarau et al., 2015). TG2 inhibition was found to attenuate EMT, which then impacted on cell migration, and invasion. This corroborates findings made in squamous cell carcinoma (Fisher et al., 2015b)

TGF β 1 and β -catenin signalling were investigated, most especially as these signalling pathways are sites of multiple mutations in human colorectal cancers and associate with EMT and tumour progression (Novellasdemunt et al., 2015). Primary cells RKO and SW480 cells displayed a significant EMT response to TGF β 1 treatment with accompanying activation of Smad 2/3 and ERK1/2 activation. Inhibition of either TGF β 1 by its inactivating antibody or ERK inhibition resulted in reduced EMT in these cells. TGF β 1's ability to induce EMT in epithelial cells have been widely reported where Smad 2/3 interaction with smad 4 act as transcription factors in the transcription of Slug, Snail and Twist which control the EMT process. TGF β 1 can also induce EMT by activation of the master inflammatory protein NFKB through the TGF β 1 activation Kinase 1 (TAK1) (Cao et al., 2012). More importantly TGF β 1 ability to induce EMT may be hinged on TG2 in cancer cells. TGF β 1 is a potent inducer of TG2 in epithelial (Cao et al., 2008) and Fibroblast cells (Nyabam et al., 2016); and Matei and colleagues have shown that TGFβ1 induced EMT in ovarian cancer cells is dependent on TG2 (Cao et al., 2012). Also important is the finding that TG2 can upregulate TGF β 1 expression and ECM abundance in CRCs. This was previously reported in a murine model of colorectal cancer (Kotsakis et al., 2011). In this current study TG2 induced activation of ERK facilitates c-JUN transcription and potentiates AP-1 transcription of TGF β 1. Previous studies in Swiss 3T3 fibroblast also show that TG2 overexpression induces TGF^{β1} (Telci et al., 2009). This thus proposes a positive feedback loop in which TGF^{β1} activates TG2 canonically or non-canonically via Smad and MAPK kinase respectively and activated TG2 via possible integrin co-receptor function (Akimov et al., 2000) activates ERK1/2 which in turn, turns on the necessary machinery for TGF β 1 expression, and continued maintenance of EMT (Figure 4.5.1). The ability of TG2 to activate ERK has been recently reported in Gastric cancers in vivo, where TG2 promoted gastric cancer cell proliferation, migration, invasion, as well as tumorigenesis and peritoneal metastasis by activating ERK 1/2 (Wang et al., 2016).

It is also worth noting that in this study, TG2 inhibition significantly reduced the expression of matrix bound TGF β 1, as was seen in the RKO and SW480 cells. It has been proposed elsewhere that TG2 ability to facilitate the incorporation of other growth factors such as VEGF to the matrix probably by way of crosslinking VEGF to the ECM, plays an important role in increasing the half-life of VEGF (Wang et al., 2013). In other studies, TG2 induced formation of VEGF polymers render VEGF resistant to neutralising antibodies such as Bevacizumab which act as therapeutic treatment in cancer (Feng et al., 2017).

This however, was not the case with the metastatic cell line SW620, which according to biochemical and phenotypical measures appeared to be independent of adhesion related signalling, as observed with significantly reduced adhesion and cell motility in a wound closure assay compared to the primary CRCs. In addition, these cells exhibited significantly reduced expression of integrins compared to its primary counterpart SW480. Following this observation, TG2 was found to regulate β-catenin nuclear

translocation, in a Src independent way. Previous studies in ovarian carcinoma suggested that TG2 promoted β -catenin nuclear activity by activating Src via TG2 interaction with β integrin (Cao et al., 2008). Other studies have also shown that extracellular TG2 interacts with LRP 5/6 in potentiating Wnt signalling (Deasey et al., 2013). However, the very low-level expression of β integrins in SW620 cells, may explain the null effect of TG2 knockdown on Src activation, especially as TG2 expression correlated with increased activation of Src in the β integrin expressing RKO and SW480 cells, or it may be that Src has been left constitutively activated following a mutation in SW620. However, these proposes an alternate intrinsic role for TG2 in the cytoplasm, where TG2 facilitates β -catenin nuclear translocation by limiting cytosolic β -catenin interaction with ubiquitin. TG2 inhibition or knockdown in SW620 cells facilitated increased interaction between βcatenin and ubiquitin, indicating increased proteasomal degradation of β -catenin. Indeed, this was proven by the fact that TG2 extracellular inhibition did not have any effect of EMT in SW620 cells unlike the primary RKO and SW480 cells. Additionally, in an attempt to further prompt the primary CRC SW480 to a more invasive phenotype by ectopic expression of TG2 in these cells, failed to significantly push EMT beyond the status of the control vector treated cells, more so TGF β 1 treatment of the TG2 transduced SW480 cells did not have any significant impact on EMT, similar to the observation in the high TG2 expressing SW620 cells. This presented a conceptual dilemma, in which TGFB1 had no effect on TG2 transduced SW480 cellswhich may indicate TGF^β1 influence on EMT is subject to TG2, but again TG2 overexpression did not significantly advance the EMT status of the cells unlike the role TG2 played in the SW620 cells. This may be explained by the assumption of tumour clonal selection whereby only cells with a particular subset of mutation are able to assume metastasis. Therefore, TGF β 1 and TG2 may drive EMT in the SW480 cells, however, further oncogenic mutations maybe necessary to facilitate further involvement of TG2 in EMT especially in the TG2 transduced SW480, and possibly even metastasis, as evident by the differential expression of proteins in both cell lines.

The aggressiveness of the CRCs RKO, SW480 and SW620 was further tested by the ability of these cells to form spheroids *in vitro*. *In vitro* spheroid formation has been established as a method to enrich cancer cells with stem like phenotype (Eckert et al., 2015), and also as a way to select cells that are

resistant to anoikis. Of all three cell lines only the metastatic SW620 cells formed compact spheroids. This observation again coincides with SW620 exhibiting a predominantly mesenchymal phenotype. Analyses of the cell lysates from the *in vitro* spheroids and the monolayer cells further established that the spheroid cells expressed significantly higher EMT markers compared to the monolayer cells and this was further confirmed using another aggressive but primary cell line HCT116. HCT116 is a Duke's class D colorectal carcinoma, which is the highest disease staging under this classification. Importantly TG2 was also found to be upregulated in these spheroid cells compared to the monolayer cells in both SW620 and HCT116 cells. The spheroid cells from these two cell lines were confirmed to be enriched with stem cell marker CD44 and transcription factors of stem cells, Oct 3/4, Nanog, and Sox 2. Suggesting that TG2 and EMT are upregulated in colorectal cancer stem cells. Indeed, TG2 knockdown or site-specific inhibition, significantly reduced the potential of SW620 and HCT116 to form spheroids in culture, an observation that has also been reported in squamous (Fisher et al., 2015b), breast (Kumar et al., 2010) and ovarian cancer cells (Cao et al., 2008). Since EMT has been shown to be a critical process for the acquisition of cancer stem like properties (Fan et al., 2012) and in this current study EMT correlated with spheroid formation amongst RKO, SW480 and SW620, and that EMT is upregulated in the spheroid containing stem like cells compared to the monolayer cells, it is plausible to say that EMT may mediate the formation of cancer stem cells. Additionally, since TG2 has been shown to drive EMT in this cancer cell type and in multiple cancers including breast (Kumar et al., 2010), ovarian (Cao et al., 2008) and squamous (Fisher et al., 2015b). TG2 induced EMT may drive the cancer stem cell phenotype, which is lost upon TG2 inhibition or knockdown. This was further established by the ability of TG2 inhibition to significantly reduce the invasive potential of SW620 and HCT116 spheroids, with cellular invasion being characteristic of cancer stem cells. However, following that TG2 viral transduction did not further induce EMT in SW480 cells, other critical mutations or oncogenes may need to be activated which may then recruit TG2 to further facilitate EMT and its associated pathological processes.



Figure 6.2. Proposed mechanism of TG2 regulation of EMT and stem cell formation in colorectal cancer cells. Extracellular TG2, via interaction with the ECM, can induce mechanical sheer stress that releases TGF β 1 from its latent TGF β complex. Canonical TGF β 1 operates via Smad2/3 and Smad 4 in the induction of TG2 and EMT. Extracellular TG2 may also incorporate TGF β 1 into the matrix increasing its half-life and signalling. Non canonical TGF β 1 signalling activates extracellular kinase (ERK) which induces, TG2. TG2 may also activate ERK, inducing C-jun, C-fos and TGF β 1 thus driving a vicious auto-regulatory cycle involving TG2 and TGF β 1. Extracellular TG2 interaction with fibronectin and integrin activates Src, which inhibits proteosomal degradation of β -catenin. In addition, extracellular TG2 interaction with LRP5/6, a co receptor with frizzled in the canonical Wnt signalling facilitates β -catenin stability and nuclear translocation and β -catenin acts as a transcription factor for cell cycle regulators and EMT. More so, Intracellular TG2 may stabilise β -catenin independent of Src, by inhibiting the association of β -catenin with ubiquitin

Multiple reports have shown in vivo that spheroid cells form more aggressive, and larger tumours (Kumar et al., 2010, Adhikary et al., 2013). In addition, these tumours appear to be highly vascularised compared to tumourss formed from traditional monolayer cells (Leng et al., 2013; Adhikary et al., 2013). Tumour vascularisation plays an important role in tumour growth and dissemination, and may explain the significantly increased tumour size and metastatic potential of the CSC tumours relative to their parental cell lines. The current data in this study shows that spheroids containing cancer stem cells express HIF 1α, a transcription factor of angiogenesis, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), furthermore the condition media from both monolayer and spheroid cells reveal that VEGF is highly released in the spheroid cells compared to the monolayer cells, and these condition media induces endothelial cord formation on HUVECs on Matrigel further substantiating that cancer stem cells have expedited angiogenesis. The ability of spheroid cells to promote angiogenesis was shown to be reduced by inhibiting TG2 in this study. This maybe potentially due to inhibiting TG2 ability to drive HIF 1α on the one hand, or by inhibiting TG2 ability to promote nuclear β-catenin accumulation. Mehta and colleagues have shown that TG2 can act as a co-transcription factor with NFkB for the transcription of HIF 1 α (Kumar et al., 2010). Moreover, β -catenin has also been reported to possess binding sites in the promoter region of the VEGF gene (Easwaran et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2001). Taken together TG2 may be relevant in promoting the aggressiveness of cancer stem cells by promoting EMT and driving angiogenesis in multiple ways.



Figure 6.3 TG2 promotes EMT, drug resistance, cancer stem cell formation, angiogenesis and tumour Progression in colorectal cancer cells

The presence of a transforming mutation on normal epithelium (1) can result in pre-neoplastic cells, which aid cell survival and cellular proliferation.(2) Increased cell survival and uncontrolled proliferation a consequence of oncogenic mutations drive cells into a dysplastic state. (3) Further mutations in the primary tumour potentiate EMT mediated by cytokines and TG2. Cell to cell contact is reduced with increasing loss of cell adhesion compounded by the capacity to produce basement degrading enzymes, leading to intravasation and dissemination of tumour cells. (4a) TG2 and EMT drive circulating tumour cells to remain dormant in circulation having lost cell adhesion mechanism, they are unable to proliferate. However, upon reaching a suitable site with remodelled ECM that support adhesion and growth factors, circulating tumour cells can then be seeded, re-express integrins and proliferate via mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) to form micrometastasis or (4b) TG2 sustains EMT and a cancer stem cell phenotype in tumours, the increasing number of cancer stem cell enables the tumour to become more aggressive, invasive and drug resistance. TG2 may also drive angiogenesis by regulating VEGF to nourish tumours and consequently aid tumour intravasation.

Summarily, in colorectal cancer cells TG2 correlates with disease progression as observed in the validated *in vitro* human cell model for colorectal cancer progression, and as benchmarked by EMT, drug resistance, *in vitro* invasion and tumour sphere formation. Additionally, it can be proposed that the significant role of TG2 in facilitating EMT via multiple cellular mechanisms, may be responsible for metastasis, drug resistance, invasion and cancer stem formation. Inhibiting TG2 by small molecule inhibitors attenuate EMT and consequently most processes associated with EMT in tumour progression. These studies as well as those found in clinical studies in colorectal cancer thus propose TG2 as a potential biomarker for disease progression and a pharmacological target in colorectal cancer.



Figure 6.4. TG2 as a potential Target in regulating colorectal cancer progression. TG2 inhibition or knockdown reduces the capacity of epithelial colorectal cancer cells to undergo EMT. EMT favours invasion, drug resistance, cancer cell self-renewal and metastasis. With a significant gap in prognostic outcomes between primary and metastatic tumours. TG2 may be a target for diagnosis and may hold a potential for treatment, using small molecule inhibitors.

6.2 Future Work

To make confirmatory comments and to further understand some processes carried out in this study, further investigation can be undertaken as follows:

- There is a lot of debate as to if the functional unit or the conformation of TG2 is responsible for driving EMT in certain epithelial cell context. Although the general consensus is that inhibitors alter both conformation and function, it will be important to discriminate between function and conformation as a disposition towards EMT, using TG2 structural and functional mutants.
- To further establish the relationship between TG2 and β-catenin in CRCs- especially SW620 cells, it would be important to knockout β-catenin since the Wnt Signalling pathway cannot be perturbed owing to the APC mutation downstream of GSK-3β, and determine if sustained TG2 expression still promotes EMT in β-catenin deficient cell.
- Perform a DNA microarray of oncogenic proteins/ signalling pathways in TG2 expressing cells versus TG2 knockdown cells to determine which oncogenes are upregulated or down regulated and map them with processes associated with tumour progression.
- Since TG2 inhibition appears to attenuate EMT, invasion and stem cell formation *in vitro*, it will be important to introduce TG2 inhibitors in an *in vivo* mice system with human CRCs, especially the metastatic SW620 to determine if TG2 inhibition slows down metastasis.
- In addition to determining the role of TG2 in slowing down tumour progression and metastasis in vivo, it will also be important to inoculate immune compromised mice with colorectal cancer stem cells and dose these mice with TG2 inhibitors to determine if TG2 in vivo inhibition attenuates the invasiveness of colorectal cancer stem cells in one part, and if TG2 inhibition perturbs tumour angiogenesis, to confirm the *in vitro* findings.

References

References

- Adhikary, G., Grun, D., Kerr, C., Balasubramanian, S., Rorke, E. A., Vemuri, M., Boucher, S., Bickenbach, J. R., Hornyak, T., Xu, W., Fisher, M. L. and Eckert, R. L. (2013) 'Identification of a Population of Epidermal Squamous Cell Carcinoma Cells with Enhanced Potential for Tumor Formation', *PLOS ONE*, 8(12), pp. e84324.
- Aeschlimann, D. and Thomazy, V. (2000) 'Protein crosslinking in assembly and remodelling of extracellular matrices: The role of transglutaminases', *Connective Tissue Research*, 41(1), pp. 1-+.
- Agnihotri, N., Kumar, S. and Mehta, K. (2013) 'Tissue transglutaminase as a central mediator in inflammation-induced progression of breast cancer', *Breast Cancer Research*, 15(1).
- Ahmed, D., Eide, P. W., Eilertsen, I. A., Danielsen, S. A., Eknæs, M., Hektoen, M., Lind, G. E. and Lothe, R. A. (2013) 'Epigenetic and genetic features of 24 colon cancer cell lines', *Oncogenesis*, 2, pp. e71.
- Ai, L., Kim, W.-J., Demircan, B., Dyer, L. M., Bray, K. J., Skehan, R. R., Massoll, N. A. and Brown,
 K. D. (2008) 'The transglutaminase 2 gene (TGM2), a potential molecular marker for
 chemotherapeutic drug sensitivity, is epigenetically silenced in breast cancer',
 Carcinogenesis, 29(3), pp. 510-518.
- Ai, L. B., Skehan, R. R., Saydi, J., Lin, T. and Brown, K. D. (2012) 'Ataxia-Telangiectasia, Mutated (ATM)/Nuclear Factor kappa Light Chain Enhancer of Activated B Cells (NF kappa B) Signaling Controls Basal and DNA Damage-induced Transglutaminase 2 Expression', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(22), pp. 18330-18341.
- Akar, U., Ozpolat, B., Mehta, K., Fok, J., Kondo, Y. and Lopez-Berestein, G. (2007) 'Tissue transglutaminase inhibits autophagy in pancreatic cancer cells', *Molecular Cancer Research*, 5(3), pp. 241-249.
- Akimov, S. S., Krylov, D., Fleischman, L. F. and Belkin, A. M. (2000) 'Tissue transglutaminase is an integrin-binding adhesion coreceptor for fibronectin', *J Cell Biol*, 148(4), pp. 825-38.
- Almami, I., Dickenson, J. M., Hargreaves, A. J. and Bonner, P. L. (2014) 'Modulation of transglutaminase 2 activity in H9c2 cells by PKC and PKA signalling: a role for transglutaminase 2 in cytoprotection', *Br J Pharmacol*, 171(16), pp. 3946-60.
- Andre, N. and Schmiegel, W. (2005) 'Chemoradiotherapy for colorectal cancer', *Gut*, 54(8), pp. 1194-1202.
- Ansieau, S., Collin, G. and Hill, L. (2014) 'EMT or EMT-Promoting Transcription Factors, Where to Focus the Light?', *Front Oncol*, 4, pp. 353.
- Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Sánchez-Tomero, J. A., Bajo, M. A., del Peso, G., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., Selgas, R. and López-Cabrera, M. (2007) 'Epithelial to mesenchymal transition and peritoneal membrane failure in peritoneal dialysis patients: pathologic significance and potential therapeutic interventions', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 18(7), pp. 2004-13.
- Arvelo, F., Sojo, F. and Cotte, C. (2016) 'Tumour progression and metastasis', *Ecancermedicalscience*, 10, pp. 617.
- Badarau, E., Wang, Z., Rathbone, D. L., Costanzi, A., Thibault, T., Murdoch, C. E., El Alaoui, S., Bartkeviciute, M. and Griffin, M. (2015) 'Development of Potent and Selective Tissue Transglutaminase Inhibitors: Their Effect on TG2 Function and Application in Pathological Conditions', *Chem Biol*, 22(10), pp. 1347-61.
- Bahrami, A., Amerizadeh, F., ShahidSales, S., Khazaei, M., Ghayour-Mobarhan, M., Sadeghnia, H.
 R., Maftouh, M., Hassanian, S. M. and Avan, A. (2017) 'Therapeutic Potential of Targeting Wnt/β-catenin Pathway in Treatment of Colorectal Cancer: Rational and Progress', *J Cell Biochem*.
- Bates, R. C. and Mercurio, A. M. (2005) 'The epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and colorectal cancer progression', *Cancer Biol Ther*, 4(4), pp. 365-70.
- Bauer, K. M., Lambert, P. A. and Hummon, A. B. (2012) 'Comparative label-free LC-MS/MS analysis of colorectal adenocarcinoma and metastatic cells treated with 5-fluorouracil', *Proteomics*, 12(12), pp. 1928-37.
- Belkin, A. M. (2011) 'Extracellular TG2: emerging functions and regulation', *The FEBS journal*, 278(24), pp. 4704-4716.

- Bernassola, F., Federici, M., Corazzari, M., Terrinoni, A., Hribal, M. L., De Laurenzi, V., Ranalli, M., Massa, O., Sesti, G., McLean, W. H., Citro, G., Barbetti, F. and Melino, G. (2002) 'Role of transglutaminase 2 in glucose tolerance: knockout mice studies and a putative mutation in a MODY patient', *FASEB J*, 16(11), pp. 1371-8.
- Biswas, D. K., Shi, Q., Baily, S., Strickland, I., Ghosh, S., Pardee, A. B. and Iglehart, J. D. (2004) 'NF-kappa B activation in human breast cancer specimens and its role in cell proliferation and apoptosis', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(27), pp. 10137-42.
- Biswas, S., Trobridge, P., Romero-Gallo, J., Billheimer, D., Myeroff, L. L., Willson, J. K., Markowitz, S. D. and Grady, W. M. (2008) 'Mutational inactivation of TGFBR2 in microsatellite unstable colon cancer arises from the cooperation of genomic instability and the clonal outgrowth of transforming growth factor beta resistant cells', *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 47(2), pp. 95-106.
- Blache, P., van de Wetering, M., Duluc, I., Domon, C., Berta, P., Freund, J. N., Clevers, H. and Jay, P. (2004) 'SOX9 is an intestine crypt transcription factor, is regulated by the Wnt pathway, and represses the CDX2 and MUC2 genes', *J Cell Biol*, 166(1), pp. 37-47.
- Boye, K. and Maelandsmo, G. M. (2010) 'S100A4 and metastasis: a small actor playing many roles', *Am J Pathol*, 176(2), pp. 528-35.
- Brabletz, T. (2012) 'EMT and MET in Metastasis: Where Are the Cancer Stem Cells?', *Cancer Cell*, 22(6), pp. 699-701.
- Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Reu, S., Porzner, M., Hlubek, F., Kunz-Schughart, L. A., Knuechel, R. and Kirchner, T. (2001) 'Variable beta-catenin expression in colorectal cancers indicates tumor progression driven by the tumor environment', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(18), pp. 10356-61.
- Brandes, A. A., Carpentier, A. F., Kesari, S., Sepulveda-Sanchez, J. M., Wheeler, H. R., Chinot, O., Cher, L., Steinbach, J. P., Capper, D., Specenier, P., Rodon, J., Cleverly, A., Smith, C., Gueorguieva, I., Miles, C., Guba, S. C., Desaiah, D., Lahn, M. M. and Wick, W. (2016) 'A Phase II randomized study of galunisertib monotherapy or galunisertib plus lomustine compared with lomustine monotherapy in patients with recurrent glioblastoma', *Neuro Oncol*, 18(8), pp. 1146-56.
- Bu, Y. and Cao, D. (2012) 'The origin of cancer stem cells', Front Biosci (Schol Ed), 4, pp. 819-30.
- Bergamini, C. M., Collighan, R., Wang, Z., Griffin, M. (2011). Structure and Regulation of Type 2 Transglutaminase in Relation to its Physiological Functions and Pathological Roles. Advances in Enzymology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc
- Budillon, A., Carbone, C. and Di Gennaro, E. (2013) 'Tissue transglutaminase: a new target to reverse cancer drug resistance', *Amino Acids*, 44(1), pp. 63-72.
- Cacciamani, T., Virgili, S., Centurelli, M., Bertoli, E., Eremenko, T. and Volpe, P. (2002) 'Specific methylation of the CpG-rich domains in the promoter of the human tissue transglutaminase gene', *Gene*, 297(1–2), pp. 103-112.
- Campbell, N. C., Elliott, A. M., Sharp, L., Ritchie, L. D., Cassidy, J. and Little, J. (2001) 'Rural and urban differences in stage at diagnosis of colorectal and lung cancers', *British Journal of Cancer*, 84(7), pp. 910-914.
- Candi, E., Oddi, S., Terrinoni, A., Paradisi, A., Ranalli, M., Finazzi-Agró, A. and Melino, G. (2001) 'Transglutaminase 5 Cross-links Loricrin, Involucrin, and Small Proline-rich Proteins in Vitro', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(37), pp. 35014-35023.
- Cao, L., Shao, M., Schilder, J., Guise, T., Mohammad, K. S. and Matei, D. (2012) 'Tissue transglutaminase links TGF-beta, epithelial to mesenchymal transition and a stem cell phenotype in ovarian cancer', *Oncogene*, 31(20), pp. 2521-2534.
- Cao, L., Zhou, Y., Zhai, B., Liao, J., Xu, W., Zhang, R., Li, J., Zhang, Y., Chen, L., Qian, H., Wu, M. and Yin, Z. (2011) 'Sphere-forming cell subpopulations with cancer stem cell properties in human hepatoma cell lines', *BMC Gastroenterology*, 11(1), pp. 1-11.
- Cao, L. Y., Petrusca, D. N., Satpathy, M., Nakshatri, H., Petrache, I. and Matei, D. (2008) 'Tissue transglutaminase protects epithelial ovarian cancer cells from cisplatin-induced apoptosis by promoting cell survival signaling', *Carcinogenesis*, 29(10), pp. 1893-1900.

- Carbone, C., Di Gennaro, E., Piro, G., Milone, M. R., Pucci, B., Caraglia, M. and Budillon, A. (2017)
 'Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) is involved in the resistance of cancer cells to the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor vorinostat', *Amino Acids*, 49(3), pp. 517-528.
- Cellura, D., Pickard, K., Quaratino, S., Parker, H., Strefford, J. C., Thomas, G. J., Mitter, R., Mirnezami, A. H. and Peake, N. J. (2015) 'miR-19-Mediated Inhibition of Transglutaminase-2 Leads to Enhanced Invasion and Metastasis in Colorectal Cancer', *Molecular Cancer Research*, 13(7), pp. 1095-1105.
- Chen, S. H., Lin, C. Y., Lee, L. T., Chang, G. D., Lee, P. P., Hung, C. C., Kao, W. T., Tsai, P. H., Schally, A. V., Hwang, J. J. and Lee, M. T. (2010) 'Up-regulation of fibronectin and tissue transglutaminase promotes cell invasion involving increased association with integrin and MMP expression in A431 cells', *Anticancer Res*, 30(10), pp. 4177-86.
- Chhabra, A., Verma, A. and Mehta, K. (2009) 'Tissue transglutaminase promotes or suppresses tumors depending on cell context', *Anticancer Res*, 29.
- Chiocca, E. A., Davies, P. J. and Stein, J. P. (1988) 'The molecular basis of retinoic acid action. Transcriptional regulation of tissue transglutaminase gene expression in macrophages', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 263(23), pp. 11584-11589.
- Cho, S. Y., Lee, J. H., Bae, H. D., Jeong, E. M., Jang, G. Y., Kim, C. W., Shin, D. M., Jeon, J. H. and Kim, I. G. (2010) 'Transglutaminase 2 inhibits apoptosis induced by calcium- overload through down-regulation of Bax', *Exp Mol Med*, 42(9), pp. 639-50.
- Chow, J. Y. C., Cabral, J. A., Chang, J. and Carethers, J. M. (2008) 'TGFβ modulates PTEN expression independently of SMAD signaling for growth proliferation in colon cancer cells', *Cancer biology & therapy*, 7(10), pp. 1694.
- Christiansen, J. J. and Rajasekaran, A. K. (2006) 'Reassessing epithelial to mesenchymal transition as a prerequisite for carcinoma invasion and metastasis', *Cancer Res*, 66(17), pp. 8319-26.
- Ciurea, M. E., Georgescu, A. M., Purcaru, S. O., Artene, S. A., Emami, G. H., Boldeanu, M. V., Tache, D. E. and Dricu, A. (2014) 'Cancer stem cells: biological functions and therapeutically targeting', *Int J Mol Sci*, 15(5), pp. 8169-85.
- Collighan, R. J. and Griffin, M. (2009) 'Transglutaminase 2 cross-linking of matrix proteins: biological significance and medical applications', *Amino Acids*, 36(4), pp. 659-70.
- Condello, S., Cao, L. Y. and Matei, D. (2013) 'Tissue transglutaminase regulates beta-catenin signaling through a c-Src-dependent mechanism', *Faseb Journal*, 27(8), pp. 3100-3112.
- Condello, S., Morgan, C. A., Nagdas, S., Cao, L., Turek, J., Hurley, T. D. and Matei, D. (2015) 'β-Catenin-regulated ALDH1A1 is a target in ovarian cancer spheroids', *Oncogene*, 34(18), pp. 2297-308.
- Curran, S. and Murray, G. I. (2000) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: molecular aspects of their roles in tumour invasion and metastasis', *Eur J Cancer*, 36(13 Spec No), pp. 1621-30.
- Davies, M., Robinson, M., Smith, E., Huntley, S., Prime, S. and Paterson, I. (2005) 'Induction of an epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human immortal and malignant keratinocytes by TGFbeta1 involves MAPK, Smad and AP-1 signalling pathways', *J Cell Biochem*, 95(5), pp. 918-31.
- de Caestecker, M. P., Piek, E. and Roberts, A. B. (2000) 'Role of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in cancer', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 92(17), pp. 1388-1402.
- Deasey, S., Nurminsky, D., Shanmugasundaram, S., Lima, F. and Nurminskaya, M. (2013) 'Transglutaminase 2 as a novel activator of LRP6/beta-catenin signaling', *Cellular Signalling*, 25(12), pp. 2646-2651.
- deGramont, A., Basset, J. F., Milan, C., Rougier, P., Bouche, O., Etienne, P. L., Morvan, F., Louvet, C., Guillot, C., Francois, E. and Bedenne, L. (1997) 'Randomized trial comparing monthly low-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus with bimonthly high-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus plus continuous infusion for advanced colorectal cancer: A French intergroup study', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 15(2), pp. 808-815.
- Derycke, L. D. and Bracke, M. E. (2004) 'N-cadherin in the spotlight of cell-cell adhesion, differentiation, embryogenesis, invasion and signalling', *Int J Dev Biol*, 48(5-6), pp. 463-76.
- Di Simone, N., De Spirito, M., Di Nicuolo, F., Tersigni, C., Castellani, R., Silano, M., Maulucci, G., Papi, M., Marana, R., Scambia, G. and Gasbarrini, A. (2013) 'Potential new mechanisms of

placental damage in celiac disease: anti-transglutaminase antibodies impair human endometrial angiogenesis', *Biol Reprod*, 89(4), pp. 88.

- Downward, J. (2003) 'Targeting ras signalling pathways in cancer therapy', *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3(1), pp. 11-22.
- Dubbink, H. J., Verkaik, N. S., Faber, P. W., Trapman, J., Schröder, F. H. and Romijn, J. C. (1996) 'Tissue specific and androgen-regulated expression of human prostate-specific transglutaminase', *Biochemical Journal*, 315(Pt 3), pp. 901-908.
- Dyer, L. M., Schooler, K. P., Ai, L., Klop, C., Qiu, J., Robertson, K. D. and Brown, K. D. (2011) 'The transglutaminase 2 gene is aberrantly hypermethylated in glioma', *Journal of neuro-oncology*, 101(3), pp. 429-440.
- Easwaran, V., Lee, S. H., Inge, L., Guo, L., Goldbeck, C., Garrett, E., Wiesmann, M., Garcia, P. A., Fuller, J. H., Chan, V., Randazzo, F., Gundel, R., Warren, R. S., Escobedo, J., Aukerman, S. L., Taylor, R. N. and Fantl, W. J. (2003) 'beta-catenin regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression in colon cancer', *Cancer Research*, 63(12), pp. 3145-3153.
- Eckert, R. L., Fisher, M. L., Grun, D., Adhikary, G., Xu, W. and Kerr, C. (2015) 'Transglutaminase is a tumor cell and cancer stem cell survival factor', *Mol Carcinog*, 54(10), pp. 947-58.
- Eckert, R. L., Kaartinen, M. T., Nurminskaya, M., Belkin, A. M., Colak, G., Johnson, G. V. W. and Mehta, K. (2014) 'Transglutaminase Regulation of Cell Function', *Physiological Reviews*, 94(2), pp. 383-417.
- Fan, F., Samuel, S., Evans, K. W., Lu, J., Xia, L., Zhou, Y., Sceusi, E., Tozzi, F., Ye, X.-C., Mani, S. A. and Ellis, L. M. (2012) 'Overexpression of Snail induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and a cancer stem cell-like phenotype in human colorectal cancer cells', *Cancer Medicine*, 1(1), pp. 5-16.
- CRUK, (2017). Cancer Research UK. Bowel cancer Incidence in Europe and the World [Internet]. http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics. Accessed April 2017.
- Faverman, L., Mikhaylova, L., Malmquist, J. and Nurminskaya, M. (2008) 'Extracellular transglutaminase 2 activates beta-catenin signaling in calcifying vascular smooth muscle cells', *Febs Letters*, 582(10), pp. 1552-1557.
- Fearon, E. R. (2011) 'Molecular Genetics of Colorectal Cancer', *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease, Vol 6, 6, pp. 479-+.*
- Fearon, E. R. and Vogelstein, B. (1990) 'A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis', *Cell*, 61(5), pp. 759-67.
- Feng, Q. Y., Zhang, C. L., Lum, D., Druso, J. E., Blank, B., Wilson, K. F., Welm, A., Antonyak, M. A. and Cerione, R. A. (2017) 'A class of extracellular vesicles from breast cancer cells activates VEGF receptors and tumour angiogenesis', *Nature Communications*, 8.
- Fernandez-Acenero, M. J., Torres, S., Garcia-Palmero, I., Diaz Del Arco, C. and Casal, J. I. (2016) 'Prognostic role of tissue transglutaminase 2 in colon carcinoma', *Virchows Arch*.
- Fisher, M. L., Adhikary, G., Xu, W., Kerr, C., Keillor, J. W. and Eckert, R. L. (2015a) 'Type II transglutaminase stimulates epidermal cancer stem cell epithelial-mesenchymal transition', *Oncotarget*, 6(24), pp. 20525-20539.
- Fisher, M. L., Keillor, J. W., Xu, W., Eckert, R. L. and Kerr, C. (2015b) 'Transglutaminase Is Required for Epidermal Squamous Cell Carcinoma Stem Cell Survival', *Mol Cancer Res*, 13(7), pp. 1083-94.
- Fleming, N. I., Jorissen, R. N., Mouradov, D., Christie, M., Sakthianandeswaren, A., Palmieri, M., Day, F., Li, S., Tsui, C., Lipton, L., Desai, J., Jones, I. T., McLaughlin, S., Ward, R. L., Hawkins, N. J., Ruszkiewicz, A. R., Moore, J., Zhu, H. J., Mariadason, J. M., Burgess, A. W., Busam, D., Zhao, Q., Strausberg, R. L., Gibbs, P. and Sieber, O. M. (2013) 'SMAD2, SMAD3 and SMAD4 mutations in colorectal cancer', *Cancer Res*, 73(2), pp. 725-35.
- Fok, J. Y. and Mehta, K. (2007) 'Tissue transglutaminase induces the release of apoptosis inducing factor and results in apoptotic death of pancreatic cancer cells', *Apoptosis*, 12(8), pp. 1455-1463.
- Fujiwara, Y., Nokihara, H., Yamada, Y., Yamamoto, N., Sunami, K., Utsumi, H., Asou, H., TakahashI, O., Ogasawara, K., Gueorguieva, I. and Tamura, T. (2015) 'Phase 1 study of

galunisertib, a TGF-beta receptor I kinase inhibitor, in Japanese patients with advanced solid tumors', *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 76(6), pp. 1143-52.

- Futschik, M. Jeffs, A. Pattison, S. Kasabov, N. Sullivan, M. Merrie, A. Reeve, A. (2002) ' Gene expression profiling of metastatic and nonmetastatic colorectal cancer celllines', *Genome Lett.*(1)_{PP}. 26-34
- Gatalica, Z., Vranic, S., Xiu, J., Swensen, J. and Reddy, S. (2016) 'High microsatellite instability (MSI-H) colorectal carcinoma: a brief review of predictive biomarkers in the era of personalized medicine', *Fam Cancer*, 15(3), pp. 405-12.
- Gentile, V., Saydak, M., Chiocca, E. A., Akande, O., Birckbichler, P. J., Lee, K. N., Stein, J. P. and Davies, P. J. (1991) 'Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones to mouse macrophage and human endothelial cell tissue transglutaminases', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(1), pp. 478-483.
- Gentile, V., Thomazy, V., Piacentini, M., Fesus, L. and Davies, P. J. (1992) 'Expression of tissue transglutaminase in Balb-C 3T3 fibroblasts: effects on cellular morphology and adhesion', *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 119(2), pp. 463-474.
- Gialeli, C., Theocharis, A. D. and Karamanos, N. K. (2011) 'Roles of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression and their pharmacological targeting', *FEBS J*, 278(1), pp. 16-27.
- Goldberg, R. M. and Gill, S. (2004) 'Recent phase III trials of fluorouracil, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin as chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer', *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 54, pp. S57-S64.
- Goodnight, J. E., Turner, W. W., O'Connell, T. X., Eckhauser, F. E. and Posner (2000) 'Initial presentation with stage IV colorectal cancer - How aggressive should we be? Discussion', *Archives of Surgery*, 135(5), pp. 534-535.
- Gradl, D., Kühl, M. and Wedlich, D. (1999) 'The Wnt/Wg signal transducer beta-catenin controls fibronectin expression', *Mol Cell Biol*, 19(8), pp. 5576-87.
- Grenard, P., Bresson-Hadni, S., El Alaoui, S. d., Chevallier, M., Vuitton, D. A. and Ricard-Blum, S. (2001) 'Transglutaminase-mediated cross-linking is involved in the stabilization of extracellular matrix in human liver fibrosis', *Journal of Hepatology*, 35(3), pp. 367-375.
- Griffin, M., Casadio, R. and Bergamini, C. M. (2002) 'Transglutaminases: nature's biological glues', *Biochemical Journal*, 368(Pt 2), pp. 377-396.
- Griffin, M., Mongeot, A., Collighan, R., Saint, R. E., Jones, R. A., Coutts, I. G. and Rathbone, D. L. (2008) 'Synthesis of potent water-soluble tissue transglutaminase inhibitors', *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 18(20), pp. 5559-62.
- Hadjimichael, C., Chanoumidou, K., Papadopoulou, N., Arampatzi, P., Papamatheakis, J. and Kretsovali, A. (2015) 'Common stemness regulators of embryonic and cancer stem cells', *World J Stem Cells*, 7(9), pp. 1150-84.
- Han, X.-Y., Wei, B., Fang, J.-F., Zhang, S., Zhang, F.-C., Zhang, H.-B., Lan, T.-Y., Lu, H.-Q. and Wei, H.-B. (2013) 'Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Associates with Maintenance of Stemness in Spheroid-Derived Stem-Like Colon Cancer Cells', *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), pp. e73341.
- Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2011) 'Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation', *Cell*, 144(5), pp. 646-74.
- Haroon, Z. A., Hettasch, J. M., Lai, T. S., Dewhirst, M. W. and Greenberg, C. S. (1999) 'Tissue transglutaminase is expressed, active, and directly involved in rat dermal wound healing and angiogenesis', *FASEB J*, 13(13), pp. 1787-95.
- Hasegawa, G., Suwa, M., Ichikawa, Y., Ohtsuka, T., Kumagai, S., Kikuchi, M., Sato, Y. and Saito, Y. (2003) 'A novel function of tissue-type transglutaminase: protein disulphide isomerase', *Biochemical Journal*, 373(Pt 3), pp. 793-803.
- He, Z., Yu, L., Luo, S., Li, M., Li, J., Li, Q., Sun, Y. and Wang, C. 2017. miR-296 inhibits the metastasis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition of colorectal cancer by targeting S100A4. BMC Cancer.
- Heerboth, S., Housman, G., Leary, M., Longacre, M., Byler, S., Lapinska, K., Willbanks, A. and Sarkar, S. (2015) 'EMT and tumor metastasis', *Clin Transl Med*, 4, pp. 6.
- Herman, J. F., Mangala, L. S. and Mehta, K. (2006a) 'Implications of increased tissue transglutaminase (TG2) expression in drug-resistant breast cancer (MCF-7) cells', *Oncogene*, 25(21), pp. 3049-58.

- Herman, J. F., Mangala, L. S. and Mehta, K. (2006b) 'Implications of increased tissue transglutaminase (TG2) expression in drug-resistant breast cancer (MCF-7) cells', *Oncogene*, 25(21), pp. 3049-3058.
- Hewitt, R. E., McMarlin, A., Kleiner, D., Wersto, R., Martin, P., Tsokos, M., Stamp, G. W. and Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. (2000) 'Validation of a model of colon cancer progression', *J Pathol*, 192(4), pp. 446-54.
- Hiiragi, T., Sasaki, H., Nagafuchi, A., Sabe, H., Shen, S. C., Matsuki, M., Yamanishi, K. and Tsukita, S. (1999) 'Transglutaminase type 1 and its cross-linking activity are concentrated at adherens junctions in simple epithelial cells', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(48), pp. 34148-34154.
- Hillen, F. and Griffioen, A. W. (2007) 'Tumour vascularization: sprouting angiogenesis and beyond', *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, 26(3-4), pp. 489-502.
- Hori, S., Wadhwa, K., Pisupati, V., Zecchini, V., Ramos-Montoya, A., Warren, A. Y., Neal, D. E. and Gnanapragasam, V. J. (2017) 'Loss of hSef promotes metastasis through upregulation of EMT in prostate cancer', *International Journal of Cancer*, 140(8), pp. 1881-1887.
- Horst, D., Chen, J., Morikawa, T., Ogino, S., Kirchner, T. and Shivdasani, R. A. (2012) 'Differential WNT activity in colorectal cancer confers limited tumorigenic potential and is regulated by MAPK signaling', *Cancer research*, 72(6), pp. 1547-1556.
- Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N. and Sarkar, S. (2014) 'Drug resistance in cancer: an overview', *Cancers (Basel)*, 6(3), pp. 1769-92.
- Hu, Y. and Fu, L. (2012) 'Targeting cancer stem cells: a new therapy to cure cancer patients', *Am J Cancer Res*, 2(3), pp. 340-56.
- Huang, T. H., Wu, S. Y., Huang, Y. J., Wei, P. L., Wu, A. T. and Chao, T. Y. (2017) 'The identification and validation of Trichosstatin A as a potential inhibitor of colon tumorigenesis and colon cancer stem-like cells', *Am J Cancer Res*, 7(5), pp. 1227-1237.
- Hwang, J. Y., Mangala, L. S., Fok, J. Y., Lin, Y. G., Merritt, W. M., Spannuth, W. A., Nick, A. M., Fiterman, D. J., Vivas-Mejia, P. E., Deavers, M. T., Coleman, R. L., Lopez-Berestein, G., Mehta, K. and Sood, A. K. (2008) 'Clinical and Biological Significance of Tissue Transglutaminase in Ovarian Carcinoma', *Cancer research*, 68(14), pp. 5849-5858.
- Hwang, K. C., Gray, C. D., Sivasubramanian, N. and Im, M. J. (1995) 'Interaction site of GTP binding Gh (transglutaminase II) with phospholipase C', *J Biol Chem*, 270(45), pp. 27058-62.
- Iismaa, S. E. (2016) 'The prostate-specific protein, transglutaminase 4 (TG4), is an autoantigen associated with male subfertility', *Ann Transl Med*, 4(Suppl 1), pp. S35.
- Iismaa, S. E., Mearns, B. M., Lorand, L. and Graham, R. M. (2009) 'Transglutaminases and Disease: Lessons From Genetically Engineered Mouse Models and Inherited Disorders', *Physiological Reviews*, 89(3), pp. 991-1023.
- Ilyas, M., Tomlinson, I. P. M., Rowan, A., Pignatelli, M. and Bodmer, W. F. (1997) 'β-Catenin mutations in cell lines established from human colorectal cancers', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(19), pp. 10330-10334.
- Islam, F., Gopalan, V., Smith, R. A. and Lam, A. K. (2015) 'Translational potential of cancer stem cells: A review of the detection of cancer stem cells and their roles in cancer recurrence and cancer treatment', *Exp Cell Res*, 335(1), pp. 135-47.
- Itoh, M., Tatsukawa, H., Eun-Seo, L., Yamanishi, K., Kojima, S. and Hitomi, K. (2013) 'Variations in Both TG1 and TG2 Isozyme-specific In Situ Activities and Protein Expressions during Mouse Embryonic Development', *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 61(11), pp. 793-801.
- Jang, T.-H., Lee, D.-S., Choi, K., Jeong, E. M., Kim, I.-G., Kim, Y. W., Chun, J. N., Jeon, J.-H. and Park, H. H. (2014) 'Crystal Structure of Transglutaminase 2 with GTP Complex and Amino Acid Sequence Evidence of Evolution of GTP Binding Site', *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), pp. e107005.
- Johnson, K. A. and Terkeltaub, R. A. (2005) 'External GTP-bound Transglutaminase 2 Is a Molecular Switch for Chondrocyte Hypertrophic Differentiation and Calcification', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(15), pp. 15004-15012.
- Jones, R. A., Kotsakis, P., Johnson, T. S., Chau, D. Y. S., Ali, S., Melino, G. and Griffin, M. (2006) 'Matrix changes induced by transglutaminase 2 lead to inhibition of angiogenesis and tumor growth', *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 13(9), pp. 1442-1453.
- Jones, R. A., Wang, Z., Dookie, S. and Griffin, M. (2013) 'The role of TG2 in ECV304-related vasculogenic mimicry', *Amino Acids*, 44(1), pp. 89-101.
- Jonson, T., Albrechtsson, E., Axelson, J., Heidenblad, M., Gorunova, L., Johansson, B. and Höglund, M. (2001) 'Altered expression of TGFB receptors and mitogenic effects of TGFB in pancreatic carcinomas', *Int J Oncol*, 19(1), pp. 71-81.
- Jordan, V. C. (2016) 'A Retrospective: On Clinical Studies with 5-Fluorouracil', *Cancer Research*, 76(4), pp. 767-768.
- Kafri, P., Hasenson, S. E., Kanter, I., Sheinberger, J., Kinor, N., Yunger, S. and Shav-Tal, Y. (2016) 'Quantifying β -catenin subcellular dynamics and cyclin D1 mRNA transcription during Wnt signaling in single living cells', *Elife*, 5.
- Kalluri, R. (2009) 'EMT: when epithelial cells decide to become mesenchymal-like cells', *J Clin Invest*, 119.
- Kalluri, R. and Weinberg, R. A. (2009) 'The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition', *J Clin Invest*, 119.
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., Sato, Y. and Morishima, K. (2017) 'KEGG: new perspectives on genomes, pathways, diseases and drugs', *Nucleic Acids Res*, 45(D1), pp. D353-D361.
- Kang, S. K., Kim, D. K., Damron, D. S., Baek, K. J. and Im, M. J. (2002) 'Modulation of intracellular Ca(2+) via alpha(1B)-adrenoreceptor signaling molecules, G alpha(h) (transglutaminase II) and phospholipase C-delta 1', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 293(1), pp. 383-90.
- Keillor, J. W., Apperley, K. Y. P. and Akbar, A. (2015) 'Inhibitors of tissue transglutaminase', *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 36(1), pp. 32-40.
- Kessenbrock, K., Plaks, V. and Werb, Z. (2010) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment', *Cell*, 141(1), pp. 52-67.
- Kim, Y., Eom, S., Kim, K., Lee, Y. S., Choe, J., Hahn, J. H., Lee, H., Kim, Y. M., Ha, K. S., Ro, J. Y. and Jeoung, D. (2010) 'Transglutaminase II interacts with rac1, regulates production of reactive oxygen species, expression of snail, secretion of Th2 cytokines and mediates in vitro and in vivo allergic inflammation', *Mol Immunol*, 47(5), pp. 1010-22.
- Kiyonari, H., Kaneko, M., Abe, S.-i. and Aizawa, S. (2010) 'Three inhibitors of FGF receptor, ERK, and GSK3 establishes germline-competent embryonic stem cells of C57BL/6N mouse strain with high efficiency and stability', *genesis*, 48(5), pp. 317-327.
- Klöck, C. and Khosla, C. (2012) 'Regulation of the activities of the mammalian transglutaminase family of enzymes', *Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society*, 21(12), pp. 1781-1791.
- Kotsakis, P. and Griffin, M. (2007) 'Tissue transglutaminase in tumour progression: friend or foe?', *Amino Acids*, 33(2), pp. 373-384.
- Kotsakis, P., Wang, Z., Collighan, R. and Griffin, M. (2011) 'The role of tissue transglutaminase (TG2) in regulating the tumour progression of the mouse colon carcinoma CT26', *Amino Acids*, 41(4), pp. 909-921.
- Ku, B. M., Kim, S. J., Kim, N., Hong, D., Choi, Y. B., Lee, S. H., Gong, Y. D. and Kim, S. Y. (2014) 'Transglutaminase 2 inhibitor abrogates renal cell carcinoma in xenograft models', *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 140(5), pp. 757-767.
- Kubens, B. S. and Zänker, K. S. (1998) 'Differences in the migration capacity of primary human colon carcinoma cells (SW480) and their lymph node metastatic derivatives (SW620)', *Cancer Lett*, 131(1), pp. 55-64.
- Kumar, A., Xu, J., Brady, S., Gao, H., Yu, D. H., Reuben, J. and Mehta, K. (2010) 'Tissue Transglutaminase Promotes Drug Resistance and Invasion by Inducing Mesenchymal Transition in Mammary Epithelial Cells', *Plos One*, 5(10).
- Kumar, A., Xu, J., Sung, B., Kumar, S., Yu, D., Aggarwal, B. B. and Mehta, K. (2012) 'Evidence that GTP-binding domain but not catalytic domain of transglutaminase 2 is essential for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells', *Breast Cancer Research*, 14(1), pp. 1-15.
- Kumar, A., Hu, J., LaVoie, H. A., Walsh, K. B., DiPette, D. J. and Singh, U. S. (2014a) 'Conformational changes and translocation of tissue-transglutaminase to the plasma membranes: role in cancer cell migration', *BMC Cancer*, 14, pp. 256.

- Kumar, S., Donti, T. R., Agnihotri, N. and Mehta, K. (2014b) 'Transglutaminase 2 reprogramming of glucose metabolism in mammary epithelial cells via activation of inflammatory signaling pathways', *International Journal of Cancer*, 134(12), pp. 2798-2807.
- Kumar, S. and Mehta, K. (2012) 'Tissue Transglutaminase Constitutively Activates HIF-1α Promoter and Nuclear Factor-κB via a Non-Canonical Pathway', *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), pp. e49321.
- Kumar, S. and Mehta, K. (2013) 'Tissue transglutaminase, inflammation, and cancer: how intimate is the relationship?', *Amino Acids*, 44(1), pp. 81-88.
- Lai, T.-S., Slaughter, T. F., Peoples, K. A., Hettasch, J. M. and Greenberg, C. S. (1998) 'Regulation of Human Tissue Transglutaminase Function by Magnesium-Nucleotide Complexes: IDENTIFICATION OF DISTINCT BINDING SITES FOR Mg-GTP AND Mg-ATP', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(3), pp. 1776-1781.
- Lamouille, S., Xu, J. and Derynck, R. (2014) 'Molecular mechanisms of epithelial–mesenchymal transition', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 15(3), pp. 178-196.
- Landegren, N., Sharon, D., Shum, A. K., Khan, I. S., Fasano, K. J., Hallgren, Å., Kampf, C., Freyhult, E., Ardesjö-Lundgren, B., Alimohammadi, M., Rathsman, S., Ludvigsson, J. F., Lundh, D., Motrich, R., Rivero, V., Fong, L., Giwercman, A., Gustafsson, J., Perheentupa, J., Husebye, E. S., Anderson, M. S., Snyder, M. and Kämpe, O. (2015) 'Transglutaminase 4 as a prostate autoantigen in male subfertility', *Sci Transl Med*, 7(292), pp. 292ra101.
- Le, P. N., McDermott, J. D. and Jimeno, A. (2015) 'Targeting the Wnt pathway in human cancers: therapeutic targeting with a focus on OMP-54F28', *Pharmacol Ther*, 146, pp. 1-11.
- Lee, J.-H., Jang, S.-I., Yang, J.-M., Markova, N. G. and Steinert, P. M. (1996) 'The Proximal Promoter of the Human Transglutaminase 3 Gene: STRATIFIED SQUAMOUS EPITHELIAL-SPECIFIC EXPRESSION IN CULTURED CELLS IS MEDIATED BY BINDING OF Sp1 AND ets TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS TO A PROXIMAL PROMOTER ELEMENT', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(8), pp. 4561-4568.
- Lee, M. K., Pardoux, C., Hall, M. C., Lee, P. S., Warburton, D., Qing, J., Smith, S. M. and Derynck, R. (2007) 'TGF-beta activates Erk MAP kinase signalling through direct phosphorylation of ShcA', *Embo Journal*, 26(17), pp. 3957-3967.
- Lee, S. H., Koo, B. S., Kim, J. M., Huang, S., Rho, Y. S., Bae, W. J., Kang, H. J., Kim, Y. S., Moon, J. H. and Lim, Y. C. (2014) 'Wnt/β-catenin signalling maintains self-renewal and tumourigenicity of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma stem-like cells by activating Oct4', *The Journal of Pathology*, 234(1), pp. 99-107.
- Leibovitz, A., Stinson, J. C., McCombs, W. B., McCoy, C. E., Mazur, K. C. and Mabry, N. D. (1976) 'Classification of human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell lines', *Cancer Res*, 36(12), pp. 4562-9.
- Lemieux, E., Cagnol, S., Beaudry, K., Carrier, J. and Rivard, N. (2015) 'Oncogenic KRAS signalling promotes the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway through LRP6 in colorectal cancer', *Oncogene*, 34(38), pp. 4914-4927.
- Leng, Z., Tao, K., Xia, Q., Tan, J., Yue, Z., Chen, J., Xi, H., Li, J. and Zheng, H. (2013) 'Kruppel-like factor 4 acts as an oncogene in colon cancer stem cell-enriched spheroid cells', *PLoS One*, 8(2), pp. e56082.
- Leppa, S., Saffrich, R., Ansorge, W. and Bohmann, D. (1998) 'Differential regulation of c-Jun by ERK and JNK during PC12 cell differentiation', *Embo Journal*, 17(15), pp. 4404-4413.
- Lewis, T. E., Milam, T. D., Klingler, D. W., Rao, P. S., Jaggi, M., Smith, D. J., Hemstreet, G. P. and Balaji, K. C. (2005) 'Tissue transglutaminase interacts with protein kinase A anchor protein 13 in prostate cancer', *Urol Oncol*, 23(6), pp. 407-12.
- Li, Z., Xu, X., Bai, L., Chen, W. and Lin, Y. (2011) 'Epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated tissue transglutaminase overexpression couples acquired tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand resistance and migration through c-FLIP and MMP-9 proteins in lung cancer cells', *J Biol Chem*, 286(24), pp. 21164-72.
- Liu, X., Zhang, Z., Sun, L., Chai, N., Tang, S., Jin, J., Hu, H., Nie, Y., Wang, X., Wu, K., Jin, H. and Fan, D. (2011) 'microRNA-499-5p promotes cellular invasion and tumor metastasis in colorectal cancer by targeting FOXO4 and PDCD4', *Carcinogenesis*, 32(12), pp. 1798-1805.
- Longley, D. B., Harkin, D. P. and Johnston, P. G. (2003) '5-Fluorouracil: Mechanisms of action and clinical strategies', *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3(5), pp. 330-338.

- Lortat-Jacob, H., Burhan, I., Scarpellini, A., Thomas, A., Imberty, A., Vivès, R. R., Johnson, T., Gutierrez, A. and Verderio, E. A. (2012) 'Transglutaminase-2 interaction with heparin: identification of a heparin binding site that regulates cell adhesion to fibronectintransglutaminase-2 matrix', *J Biol Chem*, 287(22), pp. 18005-17.
- LOWRY, O. H., ROSEBROUGH, N. J., FARR, A. L. and RANDALL, R. J. (1951) 'Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent', *J Biol Chem*, 193(1), pp. 265-75.
- Lu, S. and Davies, P. J. A. (1997) 'Regulation of the expression of the tissue transglutaminase gene by DNA methylation', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 94(9), pp. 4692-4697.
- Lugassy, C. and Escande, J. P. (1997) 'The haematogenous theory of metastasis: Récamier did not propose it', *Virchows Arch*, 431(5), pp. 431.
- Mani, S. A., Guo, W., Liao, M. J., Eaton, E. N., Ayyanan, A., Zhou, A. Y., Brooks, M., Reinhard, F., Zhang, C. C., Shipitsin, M., Campbell, L. L., Polyak, K., Brisken, C., Yang, J. and Weinberg, R. A. (2008) 'The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells', *Cell*, 133.
- Mann, A. P., Verma, A., Sethi, G., Manavathi, B., Wang, H., Fok, J. Y., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Kumar, R., Aggarwal, B. B. and Mehta, K. (2006) 'Overexpression of tissue transglutaminase leads to constitutive activation of nuclear factor-κB in cancer cells: delineation of a novel pathway', *Cancer Res*, 66.
- Martinet, N., Bonnard, L., Regnault, V., Picard, E., Burke, L., Siat, J., Grosdidier, G., Martinet, Y. and Vignaud, J. M. (2003) 'In vivo transglutaminase type 1 expression in normal lung, preinvasive bronchial lesions, and lung cancer', *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 28(4), pp. 428-435.
- Meguerditchian, A. N. and Bullard Dunn, K. (2013) 'Biomarkers and targeted therapeutics in colorectal cancer', *Surg Oncol Clin N Am*, 22(4), pp. 841-55.
- Mehta, K. and Han, A. (2011) 'Tissue Transglutaminase (TG2)-Induced Inflammation in Initiation, Progression, and Pathogenesis of Pancreatic Cancer', *Cancers (Basel)*, 3(1), pp. 897-912.
- Mehta, K., Kumar, A. and Kim, H. I. (2010) 'Transglutaminase 2: A multi-tasking protein in the complex circuitry of inflammation and cancer', *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 80(12), pp. 1921-1929.
- Mehta, K., McQueen, T., Neamati, N., Collins, S. and Andreeff, M. (1996) 'Activation of retinoid receptors RAR alpha and RXR alpha induces differentiation and apoptosis, respectively, in HL-60 cells', *Cell Growth Differ*, 7(2), pp. 179-186.
- Mendez, M. G., Kojima, S. and Goldman, R. D. (2010) 'Vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition', *FASEB J*, 24(6), pp. 1838-51.
- Miki, T., Yasuda, S. Y. and Kahn, M. (2011) 'Wnt/beta-catenin Signaling in Embryonic Stem Cell Self-renewal and Somatic Cell Reprogramming', *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports*, 7(4), pp. 836-846.
- Mima, K., Hayashi, H., Kuroki, H., Nakagawa, S., Okabe, H., Chikamoto, A., Watanabe, M., Beppu, T. and Baba, H. (2013) 'Epithelial-mesenchymal transition expression profiles as a prognostic factor for disease-free survival in hepatocellular carcinoma: Clinical significance of transforming growth factor-β signaling', *Oncology Letters*, 5(1), pp. 149-154.
- Miyoshi, N., Ishii, H., Mimori, K., Tanaka, F., Hitora, T., Tei, M., Sekimoto, M., Doki, Y. and Mori, M. (2010) 'TGM2 Is a Novel Marker for Prognosis and Therapeutic Target in Colorectal Cancer', Annals of Surgical Oncology, 17(4), pp. 967-972.
- Montagnani, F., Chiriatti, A., Turrisi, G., Francini, G. and Fiorentini, G. (2011) 'A systematic review of FOLFOXIRI chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: improved efficacy at the cost of increased toxicity', *Colorectal Dis*, 13(8), pp. 846-52.
- Morin, P. J., Sparks, A. B., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B. and Kinzler, K. W. (1997) 'Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC', *Science*, 275(5307), pp. 1787-1790.
- Morris, J. C., Tan, A. R., Olencki, T. E., Shapiro, G. I., Dezube, B. J., Reiss, M., Hsu, F. J., Berzofsky, J. A. and Lawrence, D. P. (2014) 'Phase I study of GC1008 (fresolimumab): a

human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGF β) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma', *PLoS One*, 9(3), pp. e90353.

- Morris, J. P., Wang, S. C. and Hebrok, M. (2010) 'KRAS, Hedgehog, Wnt and the twisted developmental biology of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma', *Nat Rev Cancer*, 10(10), pp. 683-95.
- Munger, J. S., Harpel, J. G., Gleizes, P. E., Mazzieri, R., Nunes, I. and Rifkin, D. B. (1997) 'Latent transforming growth factor-beta: structural features and mechanisms of activation', *Kidney Int*, 51(5), pp. 1376-82.
- Murphy, D. A. and Courtneidge, S. A. (2011) 'The 'ins' and 'outs' of podosomes and invadopodia: characteristics, formation and function', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 12(7), pp. 413-426.
- Muzny, D. M. and Bainbridge, M. N. and Chang, K. and Dinh, H. H. and Drummond, J. A. and Fowler, G. and Kovar, C. L. and Lewis, L. R. and Morgan, M. B. and Newsham, I. F. and Reid, J. G. and Santibanez, J. and Shinbrot, E. and Trevino, L. R. and Wu, Y. Q. and Wang, M. and Gunaratne, P. and Donehower, L. A. and Creighton, C. J. and Wheeler, D. A. and Gibbs, R. A. and Lawrence, M. S. and Voet, D. and Jing, R. and Cibulskis, K. and Sivachenko, A. and Stojanov, P. and McKenna, A. and Lander, E. S. and Gabriel, S. and Getz, G. and Ding, L. and Fulton, R. S. and Koboldt, D. C. and Wylie, T. and Walker, J. and Dooling, D. J. and Fulton, L. and Delehaunty, K. D. and Fronick, C. C. and Demeter, R. and Mardis, E. R. and Wilson, R. K. and Chu, A. and Chun, H. J. E. and Mungall, A. J. and Pleasance, E. and Robertson, A. G. and Stoll, D. and Balasundaram, M. and Birol, I. and Butterfield, Y. S. N. and Chuah, E. and Coope, R. J. N. and Dhalla, N. and Guin, R. and Hirst, C. and Hirst, M. and Holt, R. A. and Lee, D. and Li, H. I. and Mayo, M. and Moore, R. A. and Schein, J. E. and Slobodan, J. R. and Tam, A. and Thiessen, N. and Varhol, R. and Zeng, T. and Zhao, Y. and Jones, S. J. M. and Marra, M. A. and Bass, A. J. and Ramos, A. H. and Saksena, G. and Cherniack, A. D. and Schumacher, S. E. and Tabak, B. and Carter, S. L. and Pho, N. H. and Nguyen, H. and Onofrio, R. C. and Crenshaw, A. and Ardlie, K. and Beroukhim, R. and Winckler, W. and Getz, G. and Meyerson, M. and Protopopov, A. and Zhang, J. and Hadjipanayis, A. and Lee, E. and Xi, R. and Yang, L. and Ren, X. and Zhang, H. and Sathiamoorthy, N. and Shukla, S. and Chen, P. C. and Haseley, P. and Xiao, Y. and Lee, S. and Seidman, J. and Chin, L. and Park, P. J. and Kucherlapati, R. and Auman, J. T. and Hoadley, K. A. and Du, Y. and Wilkerson, M. D. and Shi, Y. and Liquori, C. and Meng, S. and Li, L. and Turman, Y. J. and Topal, M. D. and Tan, D. and Waring, S. and Buda, E. and Walsh, J. and Jones, C. D. and Mieczkowski, P. A. and Singh, D. and Wu, J. and Gulabani, A. and Dolina, P. and Bodenheimer, T. and Hoyle, A. P. and Simons, J. V. and Soloway, M. and Mose, L. E. and Jefferys, S. R. and Balu, S. and O'Connor, B. D. and Prins, J. F. and Chiang, D. Y. and Haves, D. N. and Perou, C. M. and Hinoue, T. and Weisenberger, D. J. and Maglinte, D. T. and Pan, F. and Berman, B. P. and Van den Berg, D. J. and Shen, H. and Jr, T. T. and Baylin, S. B. and Laird, P. W. and Getz, G. and Noble, M. and Voet, D. and Saksena, G. and Gehlenborg, N. and DiCara, D. and Zhang, J. and Zhang, H. and Wu, C. J. and Liu, S. Y. and Shukla, S. and Lawrence, M. S. and Zhou, L. and Sivachenko, A. and Lin, P. and Stojanov, P. and Jing, R. and Park, R. W. and Nazaire, M. D. and Robinson, J. and Thorvaldsdottir, H. and Mesirov, J. and Park, P. J. and Chin, L. and Thorsson, V. and Reynolds, S. M. and Bernard, B. and Kreisberg, R. and Lin, J. and Iype, L. and Bressler, R. and Erkkila, T. and Gundapuneni, M. and Liu, Y. and Norberg, A. and Robinson, T. and Yang, D. and Zhang, W. and Shmulevich, I. and De Ronde, J. J. and Schultz, N. and Cerami, E. and Ciriello, G. and Goldberg, A. P. and Gross, B. and Jacobsen, A. and Gao, J. and Kaczkowski, B. and Sinha, R. and Aksoy, B. A. and Antipin, Y. and Reva, B. and Shen, R. and Taylor, B. S. and Chan, T. A. and Ladanyi, M. and Sander, C. and Akbani, R. and Zhang, N. and Broom, B. M. and Casasent, T. and Unruh, A. and Wakefield, C. and Hamilton, S. R. and Cason, R. C. and Baggerly, K. A. and Weinstein, J. N. and Haussler, D. and Benz, C. C. and Stuart, J. M. and Benz, S. C. and Sanborn, J. Z. and Vaske, C. J. and Zhu, J. and Szeto, C. and Scott, G. K. and Yau, C. and Ng, S. and Goldstein, T. and Ellrott, K. and Collisson, E. and Cozen, A. E. and Zerbino, D. and Wilks, C. and Craft, B. and Spellman, P. and Penny, R. and Shelton, T. and Hatfield, M. and Morris, S. and Yena, P. and Shelton, C. and Sherman, M. and Paulauskis, J. and Gastier-Foster, J. M. and Bowen, J. and Ramirez, N. C. and Black,

A. and Pyatt, R. and Wise, L. and White, P. and Bertagnolli, M. and Brown, J. and Chan, T. A. and Chu, G. C. and Czerwinski, C. and Denstman, F. and Dhir, R. and Doerner, A. and Fuchs, C. S. and Guillem, J. G. and Iacocca, M. and Juhl, H. and Kaufman, A. and Kohl, B. and Van Le, X. and Mariano, M. C. and Medina, E. N. and Meyers, M. and Nash, G. M. and Paty, P. B. and Petrelli, N. and Rabeno, B. and Richards, W. G. and Solit, D. and Swanson, P. and Temple, L. and Tepper, J. E. and Thorp, R. and Vakiani, E. and Weiser, M. R. and Willis, J. E. and Witkin, G. and Zeng, Z. and Zinner, M. J. and Zornig, C. and Jensen, M. A. and Sfeir, R. and Kahn, A. B. and Chu, A. L. and Kothiyal, P. and Wang, Z. and Snyder, E. E. and Pontius, J. and Pihl, T. D. and Ayala, B. and Backus, M. and Walton, J. and Whitmore, J. and Baboud, J. and Berton, D. L. and Nicholls, M. C. and Srinivasan, D. and Raman, R. and Girshik, S. and Kigonya, P. A. and Alonso, S. and Sanbhadti, R. N. and Barletta, S. P. and Greene, J. M. and Pot, D. A. and Shaw, K. R. M. and Dillon, L. A. L. and Buetow, K. and Davidsen, T. and Demchok, J. A. and Eley, G. and Ferguson, M. and Fielding, P. and Schaefer, C. and Sheth, M. and Yang, L. and Guyer, M. S. and Ozenberger, B. A. and Palchik, J. D. and Peterson, J. and Sofia, H. J. and Thomson, E. (2012) 'Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer', Nature, 487(7407), pp. 330-337.

- Myneni, V. D., Melino, G. and Kaartinen, M. T. (2015) 'Transglutaminase 2--a novel inhibitor of adipogenesis', *Cell Death Dis*, 6, pp. e1868.
- Nadalutti, C., Viiri, K. M., Kaukinen, K., Mäki, M. and Lindfors, K. (2011) 'Extracellular transglutaminase 2 has a role in cell adhesion, whereas intracellular transglutaminase 2 is involved in regulation of endothelial cell proliferation and apoptosis', *Cell Proliferation*, 44(1), pp. 49-58.
- Nagaraj, A. B., Joseph, P., Kovalenko, O., Singh, S., Armstrong, A., Redline, R., Resnick, K., Zanotti, K., Waggoner, S. and DiFeo, A. (2015) 'Critical role of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in driving epithelial ovarian cancer platinum resistance', *Oncotarget*, 6(27), pp. 23720-34.
- Nakaoka, H., Perez, D. M., Baek, K. J., Das, T., Husain, A., Misono, K., Im, M. J. and Graham, R. M. (1994) 'Gh: a GTP-binding protein with transglutaminase activity and receptor signaling function', *Science*, 264(5165), pp. 1593-6.
- Nawshad, A., Medici, D., Liu, C. C. and Hay, E. D. (2007) 'TGFbeta3 inhibits E-cadherin gene expression in palate medial-edge epithelial cells through a Smad2-Smad4-LEF1 transcription complex', *J Cell Sci*, 120(Pt 9), pp. 1646-53.
- Neuzillet, C., Tijeras-Raballand, A., Cohen, R., Cros, J., Faivre, S., Raymond, E. and de Gramont, A. (2015) 'Targeting the TGFβ pathway for cancer therapy', *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 147, pp. 22-31.
- Nicholas, B., Smethurst, P., Verderio, E., Jones, R. and Griffin, M. (2003) 'Cross-linking of cellular proteins by tissue transglutaminase during necrotic cell death: a mechanism for maintaining tissue integrity', *Biochem J*, 371(Pt 2), pp. 413-22.
- Novellasdemunt, L., Antas, P. and Li, V. S. (2015) 'Targeting Wnt signaling in colorectal cancer. A Review in the Theme: Cell Signaling: Proteins, Pathways and Mechanisms', *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 309(8), pp. C511-21.
- Nunes, I., Munger, J., Harpel, J. G., Nagano, Y., Shapiro, R., Gleizes, P. E. and Rifkin, D. B. (1998) 'Structure and activation of the large latent transforming growth factor-Beta complex', *J Am Optom Assoc*, 69(10), pp. 643-8.
- Nurminskaya, M. V. and Belkin, A. M. (2012) 'Cellular Functions of Tissue Transglutaminase', International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, Vol 294, 294, pp. 1-97.
- Nyabam, S., Wang, Z., Thibault, T., Oluseyi, A., Basar, R., Marshall, L. and Griffin, M. (2016) 'A novel regulatory role for tissue transglutaminase in epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cystic fibrosis', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1863(9), pp. 2234-44.
- O/'Brien, C. A., Pollett, A., Gallinger, S. and Dick, J. E. (2007) 'A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice', *Nature*, 445(7123), pp. 106-110.
- Oh, K., Ko, E., Kim, H. S., Park, A. K., Moon, H.-G., Noh, D.-Y. and Lee, D.-S. (2011)
 'Transglutaminase 2 facilitates the distant hematogenous metastasis of breast cancer by modulating interleukin-6 in cancer cells', *Breast Cancer Research : BCR*, 13(5), pp. R96-R96.

- Olsen, K. C., Epa, A. P., Kulkarni, A. A., Kottmann, R. M., McCarthy, C. E., Johnson, G. V., Thatcher, T. H., Phipps, R. P. and Sime, P. J. (2014) 'Inhibition of transglutaminase 2, a novel target for pulmonary fibrosis, by two small electrophilic molecules', *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 50(4), pp. 737-47.
- Papageorgis, P. and Stylianopoulos, T. 2015. Role of TGFβ in regulation of the tumor microenvironment and drug delivery (Review). International Journal of Oncology: Spandidos Punblication.
- Park, K. S., Kim, H. K., Lee, J. H., Choi, Y. B., Park, S. Y., Yang, S. H., Kim, S. Y. and Hong, K. M. (2010) 'Transglutaminase 2 as a cisplatin resistance marker in non-small cell lung cancer', *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 136(4), pp. 493-502.
- Parsons, J. T., Horwitz, A. R. and Schwartz, M. A. (2010) 'Cell adhesion: integrating cytoskeletal dynamics and cellular tension', *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 11(9), pp. 633-643.
- Pasche, B., Mulcahy, M. and Benson, A. B. (2002) 'Molecular markers in prognosis of colorectal cancer and prediction of response to treatment', *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Gastroenterology*, 16(2), pp. 331-345.
- Peters, G. J. and Vangroeningen, C. J. (1991) 'Clinical Relevance of Biochemical Modulation of 5-Fluorouracil', *Annals of Oncology*, 2(7), pp. 469-480.
- Piacentini, M., D'Eletto, M., Farrace, M. G., Rodolfo, C., Del Nonno, F., Ippolito, G. and Falasca, L. (2014) 'Characterization of distinct sub-cellular location of transglutaminase type II: changes in intracellular distribution in physiological and pathological states', *Cell and Tissue Research*, 358(3), pp. 793-805.
- Piacentini, M., Fesus, L., Farrace, M. G., Ghibelli, L., Piredda, L. and Melino, G. (1991) 'The Expression of Tissue Transglutaminase in 2 Human Cancer Cell-Lines Is Related with the Programmed Cell-Death (Apoptosis)', *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 54(2), pp. 246-254.
- Pinkas, D. M., Strop, P., Brunger, A. T. and Khosla, C. (2007) 'Transglutaminase 2 undergoes a large conformational change upon activation', *Plos Biology*, 5(12), pp. 2788-2796.
- Polyak, K. and Hahn, W. C. (2006) 'Roots and stems: stem cells in cancer', *Nat Med*, 12(3), pp. 296-300.
- Polyak, K. and Weinberg, R. A. (2009) 'Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits', *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 9(4), pp. 265-273.
- Ranganathan, P., Agrawal, A., Bhushan, R., Chavalmane, A. K., Kalathur, R. K. R., Takahashi, T. and Kondaiah, P. (2007) 'Expression profiling of genes regulated by TGF-beta: Differential regulation in normal and tumour cells', *Bmc Genomics*, 8.
- Rhim, A. D., Mirek, E. T., Aiello, N. M., Maitra, A., Bailey, J. M., McCallister, F., Reichert, M., Beatty, G. L., Rustgi, A. K., Vonderheide, R. H., Leach, S. D. and Stanger, B. Z. (2012)
 'EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation', *Cell*, 148(1-2), pp. 349-361.
- Rio, D. C., Ares, M., Hannon, G. J. and Nilsen, T. W. (2010) 'Purification of RNA using TRIzol (TRI reagent)', *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*, 2010(6), pp. pdb.prot5439.
- Robitaille, K., Daviau, A., Lachance, G., Couture, J. P. and Blouin, R. (2008) 'Calphostin C-induced apoptosis is mediated by a tissue transglutaminase-dependent mechanism involving the DLK/JNK signaling pathway', *Cell Death Differ*, 15(9), pp. 1522-31.
- Rodón, J., Carducci, M., Sepulveda-Sánchez, J. M., Azaro, A., Calvo, E., Seoane, J., Braña, I., Sicart, E., Gueorguieva, I., Cleverly, A., Pillay, N. S., Desaiah, D., Estrem, S. T., Paz-Ares, L., Holdhoff, M., Blakeley, J., Lahn, M. M. and Baselga, J. (2015) 'Pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic and biomarker evaluation of transforming growth factor-β receptor I kinase inhibitor, galunisertib, in phase 1 study in patients with advanced cancer', *Invest New Drugs*, 33(2), pp. 357-70.
- Rosty, C., Williamson, E. J., Clendenning, M., Walters, R. J., Win, A. K., Jenkins, M. A., Hopper, J. L., Winship, I. M., Southey, M. C., Giles, G. G., English, D. R. and Buchanan, D. D. (2014) 'Should the grading of colorectal adenocarcinoma include microsatellite instability status?', *Hum Pathol*, 45(10), pp. 2077-84.
- Sayan, A. E., Griffiths, T. R., Pal, R., Browne, G. J., Ruddick, A., Yagci, T., Edwards, R., Mayer, N. J., Qazi, H., Goyal, S., Fernandez, S., Straatman, K., Jones, G. D., Bowman, K. J., Colquhoun, A., Mellon, J. K., Kriajevska, M. and Tulchinsky, E. (2009) 'SIP1 protein

protects cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis and has independent prognostic value in bladder cancer', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(35), pp. 14884-9.

- Scanlon, C. S., Van Tubergen, E. A., Inglehart, R. C. and D'Silva, N. J. (2013) 'Biomarkers of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in squamous cell carcinoma', *J Dent Res*, 92(2), pp. 114-21.
- Scarpellini, A., Huang, L. H., Burhan, I., Schroeder, N., Funck, M., Johnson, T. S. and Verderio, E. A. M. (2014) 'Syndecan-4 Knockout Leads to Reduced Extracellular Transglutaminase-2 and Protects against Tubulointerstitial Fibrosis', *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 25(5), pp. 1013-1027.
- Senzer, N., Barve, M., Kuhn, J., Melnyk, A., Beitsch, P., Lazar, M., Lifshitz, S., Magee, M., Oh, J., Mill, S. W., Bedell, C., Higgs, C., Kumar, P., Yu, Y., Norvell, F., Phalon, C., Taquet, N., Rao, D. D., Wang, Z., Jay, C. M., Pappen, B. O., Wallraven, G., Brunicardi, F. C., Shanahan, D. M., Maples, P. B. and Nemunaitis, J. (2012) 'Phase I Trial of "bi-shRNAi(furin)/GMCSF DNA/Autologous Tumor Cell" Vaccine (FANG) in Advanced Cancer', *Mol Ther*, 20(3), pp. 679-686.
- Sheikh, A., Niazi, A. K., Ahmed, M. Z., Iqbal, B., Anwer, S. M. and Khan, H. H. (2014) 'The role of Wnt signaling pathway in carcinogenesis and implications for anticancer therapeutics', *Hered Cancer Clin Pract*, 12(1), pp. 13.
- Shioiri, M., Shida, T., Koda, K., Oda, K., Seike, K., Nishimura, M., Takano, S. and Miyazaki, M. (2006) 'Slug expression is an independent prognostic parameter for poor survival in colorectal carcinoma patients', *Br J Cancer*, 94(12), pp. 1816-22.
- Shtutman, M., Zhurinsky, J., Simcha, I., Albanese, C., D'Amico, M., Pestell, R. and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1999) 'The cyclin D1 gene is a target of the beta-catenin/LEF-1 pathway', *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 96(10), pp. 5522-7.
- Simonelli, M., Zucali, P., Santoro, A., Thomas, M. B., de Braud, F. G., Borghaei, H., Berlin, J., Denlinger, C. S., Noberasco, C., Rimassa, L., Kim, T. Y., English, P. A., Abbattista, A., Gallo Stampino, C., Carpentieri, M. and Williams, J. A. (2016) 'Phase I study of PF-03446962, a fully human monoclonal antibody against activin receptor-like kinase-1, in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma', *Ann Oncol*, 27(9), pp. 1782-7.
- Singh, S. K., Clarke, I. D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V. E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J. and Dirks, P. (2003a) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors', *Cancer Res*, 63.
- Singh, U. S., Pan, J., Kao, Y. L., Joshi, S., Young, K. L. and Baker, K. M. (2003b) 'Tissue transglutaminase mediates activation of RhoA and MAP kinase pathways during retinoic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of SH-SY5Y cells', *J Biol Chem*, 278(1), pp. 391-9.
- Slattery, M. L. and Fitzpatrick, F. A. (2009) 'Convergence of Hormones, Inflammation, and Energy-Related Factors: A Novel Pathway of Cancer Etiology', *Cancer Prevention Research*, 2(11), pp. 922-930.
- Smethurst, P. A. and Griffin, M. (1996) 'Measurement of tissue transglutaminase activity in a permeabilized cell system: its regulation by Ca2+ and nucleotides', *Biochemical Journal*, 313(Pt 3), pp. 803-808.
- Son, H. and Moon, A. (2010) 'Epithelial-mesenchymal Transition and Cell Invasion', *Toxicological Research*, 26(4), pp. 245-252.
- Stein, U., Arlt, F., Walther, W., Smith, J., Waldman, T., Harris, E. D., Mertins, S. D., Heizmann, C. W., Allard, D., Birchmeier, W., Schlag, P. M. and Shoemaker, R. H. (2006) 'The metastasis-associated gene S100A4 is a novel target of beta-catenin/T-cell factor signaling in colon cancer', *Gastroenterology*, 131(5), pp. 1486-500.
- Steinert, P. M., Parry, D. A. D. and Marekov, L. N. (2003) 'Trichohyalin Mechanically Strengthens the Hair Follicle: MULTIPLE CROSS-BRIDGING ROLES IN THE INNER ROOT SHEATH', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(42), pp. 41409-41419.
- Stevenson, J. P., Kindler, H. L., Papasavvas, E., Sun, J., Jacobs-Small, M., Hull, J., Schwed, D., Ranganathan, A., Newick, K., Heitjan, D. F., Langer, C. J., McPherson, J. M., Montaner, L. J. and Albelda, S. M. (2013) 'Immunological effects of the TGFβ-blocking antibody GC1008 in malignant pleural mesothelioma patients', *Oncoimmunology*, 2(8), pp. e26218.
- Sung, B. H., Ketova, T., Hoshino, D., Zijlstra, A. and Weaver, A. M. (2015) 'Directional cell movement through tissues is controlled by exosome secretion', *Nat Commun*, 6, pp. 7164.

- Takayama, T., Miyanishi, K., Hayashi, T., Sato, Y. and Niitsu, Y. (2006) 'Colorectal cancer: genetics of development and metastasis', *J Gastroenterol*, 41(3), pp. 185-92.
- Takayama, T., Ohi, M., Hayashi, T., Miyanishi, K., Nobuoka, A., Nakajima, T., Satoh, T., Takimoto, R., Kato, J., Sakamaki, S. and Niitsu, Y. (2001) 'Analysis of K-ras, APC, and beta-catenin in aberrant crypt foci in sporadic adenoma, cancer, and familial adenomatous polyposis', *Gastroenterology*, 121(3), pp. 599-611.
- Tanaka, K., Yokosaki, Y., Higashikawa, F., Saito, Y., Eboshida, A. and Ochi, M. (2007) 'The integrin alpha5beta1 regulates chondrocyte hypertrophic differentiation induced by GTP-bound transglutaminase 2', *Matrix Biol*, 26(6), pp. 409-18.
- Telci, D., Collighan, R. J., Basaga, H. and Griffin, M. (2009) 'Increased TG2 Expression Can Result in Induction of Transforming Growth Factor beta 1, Causing Increased Synthesis and Deposition of Matrix Proteins, Which Can Be Regulated by Nitric Oxide', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(43), pp. 29547-29558.
- Telci, D., Wang, Z., Li, X., Verderio, E. A., Humphries, M. J., Baccarini, M., Basaga, H. and Griffin, M. (2008) 'Fibronectin-tissue transglutaminase matrix rescues RGD-impaired cell adhesion through syndecan-4 and beta1 integrin co-signaling', *J Biol Chem*, 283(30), pp. 20937-47.
- Thibaut, S., Cavusoglu, N., de Becker, E., Zerbib, F., Bednarczyk, A., Schaeffer, C., van Dorsselaer, A. and Bernard, B. A. (2009) 'Transglutaminase-3 Enzyme: A Putative Actor in Human Hair Shaft Scaffolding?', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 129(2), pp. 449-459.
- Thorn, C. F., Oshiro, C., Marsh, S., Hernandez-Boussard, T., McLeod, H., Klein, T. E. and Altman, R. B. (2011) 'Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects', *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, 21(7), pp. 440-6.
- Tien, L. T., Ito, M., Nakao, M., Niino, D., Serik, M., Nakashima, M., Wen, C. Y., Yatsuhashi, H. and Ishibashi, H. (2005) 'Expression of beta-catenin in hepatocellular carcinoma', *World J Gastroenterol*, 11(16), pp. 2398-401.
- Todaro, M., Alea, M. P., Di Stefano, A. B., Cammareri, P., Vermeulen, L., Iovino, F., Tripodo, C., Russo, A., Gulotta, G., Medema, J. P. and Stassi, G. (2007) 'Colon cancer stem cells dictate tumor growth and resist cell death by production of interleukin-4', *Cell Stem Cell*, 1(4), pp. 389-402.
- Tolcher, A. W., Berlin, J. D., Cosaert, J., Kauh, J., Chan, E., Piha-Paul, S. A., Amaya, A., Tang, S., Driscoll, K., Kimbung, R., Kambhampati, S. R., Gueorguieva, I. and Hong, D. S. (2017) 'A phase 1 study of anti-TGFβ receptor type-II monoclonal antibody LY3022859 in patients with advanced solid tumors', *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 79(4), pp. 673-680.
- Torricelli, P., Caraglia, M., Abbruzzese, A. and Beninati, S. (2013) 'gamma-Tocopherol inhibits human prostate cancer cell proliferation by up-regulation of transglutaminase 2 and down-regulation of cyclins', *Amino Acids*, 44(1), pp. 45-51.
- Tsai, Jeff H., Donaher, Joana L., Murphy, Danielle A., Chau, S. and Yang, J. (2012) 'Spatiotemporal Regulation of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Is Essential for Squamous Cell Carcinoma Metastasis', *Cancer Cell*, 22(6), pp. 725-736.
- van der Flier, L. G. and Clevers, H. (2009) 'Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium', *Annu Rev Physiol*, 71, pp. 241-60.
- Verderio, E., Gaudry, C., Gross, S., Smith, C., Downes, S. and Griffin, M. (1999) 'Regulation of cell surface tissue transglutaminase: effects on matrix storage of latent transforming growth factor-beta binding protein-1', *J Histochem Cytochem*, 47(11), pp. 1417-32.
- Verderio, E. A., Telci, D., Okoye, A., Melino, G. and Griffin, M. (2003) 'A novel RGD-independent cel adhesion pathway mediated by fibronectin-bound tissue transglutaminase rescues cells from anoikis', *J Biol Chem*, 278(43), pp. 42604-14.
- Verderio, E. A. M., Johnson, T. and Griffin, M. (2004) 'Tissue transglutaminase in normal and abnormal wound healing: Review article', *Amino Acids*, 26(4), pp. 387-404.
- Verma, A. and Mehta, K. (2007) 'Tissue transglutaminase-mediated chemoresistance in cancer cells', *Drug Resistance Updates*, 10(4-5), pp. 144-151.
- Vilar, E. and Tabernero, J. (2013) 'Molecular dissection of microsatellite instable colorectal cancer', *Cancer Discov*, 3(5), pp. 502-11.
- Visvader, J. E. and Lindeman, G. J. (2008) 'Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions', *Nat Rev Cancer*, 8(10), pp. 755-768.

- Volmer, M. W., Radacz, Y., Hahn, S. A., Klein-Scory, S., Stuhler, K., Zapatka, M., Schmiegel, W., Meyer, H. E. and Schwarte-Waldhoff, I. (2004) 'Tumor suppressor Smad4 mediates downregulation of the anti-adhesive invasion-promoting matricellular protein SPARC: Landscaping activity of Smad4 as revealed by a "secretome" analysis', *Proteomics*, 4(5), pp. 1324-1334.
- Voulgari, A. and Pintzas, A. (2009) 'Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer metastasis: mechanisms, markers and strategies to overcome drug resistance in the clinic', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1796(2), pp. 75-90.
- Wang, X., Yu, Z., Zhou, Q., Wu, X., Chen, X., Li, J., Zhu, Z., Liu, B. and Su, L. (2016) 'Tissue transglutaminase-2 promotes gastric cancer progression via the ERK1/2 pathway', *Oncotarget*, 7(6), pp. 7066-7079.
- Wang, Z., Collighan, R. J., Pytel, K., Rathbone, D. L., Li, X. L. and Griffin, M. (2012) 'Characterization of Heparin-binding Site of Tissue Transglutaminase ITS IMPORTANCE IN CELL SURFACE TARGETING, MATRIX DEPOSITION, AND CELL SIGNALING', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(16), pp. 13063-13083.
- Wang, Z. and Griffin, M. (2013) 'The role of TG2 in regulating S100A4-mediated mammary tumour cell migration', *PLoS One*, 8(3), pp. e57017.
- Wang, Z., Perez, M., Caja, S., Melino, G., Johnson, T. S., Lindfors, K. and Griffin, M. (2013) 'A novel extracellular role for tissue transglutaminase in matrix-bound VEGF-mediated angiogenesis', *Cell Death Dis*, 4, pp. e808.
- Wang, Z., Perez, M., Lee, E.-S., Kojima, S. and Griffin, M. (2017) 'The functional relationship between transglutaminase 2 and transforming growth factor [beta]1 in the regulation of angiogenesis and endothelial-mesenchymal transition', *Cell Death Dis*, 8, pp. e3032.
- Wei, B., Han, X.-Y., Qi, C.-L., Zhang, S., Zheng, Z.-H., Huang, Y., Chen, T.-F. and Wei, H.-B. (2012) 'Coaction of Spheroid-Derived Stem-Like Cells and Endothelial Progenitor Cells Promotes Development of Colon Cancer', *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), pp. e39069.
- Wheatley-Price, P., Chu, Q., Bonomi, M., Seely, J., Gupta, A., Goss, G., Hilton, J., Feld, R., Lee, C.
 W., Goffin, J. R., Maksymiuk, A., Murray, N., Hagerman, L. and Bradbury, P. A. (2016) 'A
 Phase II Study of PF-03446962 in Patients with Advanced Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma.
 CCTG Trial IND.207', *J Thorac Oncol*, 11(11), pp. 2018-2021.
- Wheeler, J. M., Bodmer, W. F. and Mortensen, N. J. (2000) 'DNA mismatch repair genes and colorectal cancer', *Gut*, 47(1), pp. 148-53.
- Wheelock, M. J., Shintani, Y., Maeda, M., Fukumoto, Y. and Johnson, K. R. (2008) 'Cadherin switching', *J Cell Sci*, 121(Pt 6), pp. 727-35.
- Wilson, B. J., Schatton, T., Frank, M. H. and Frank, N. Y. (2011) 'Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells: Biology and Therapeutic Implications', *Current colorectal cancer reports*, 7(2), pp. 128-135.
- Xu, Y. and Pasche, B. (2007) 'TGF-beta signaling alterations and susceptibility to colorectal cancer', *Hum Mol Genet*, 16 Spec No 1, pp. R14-20.
- Yang, L. Q., Friedland, S., Corson, N. and Xu, L. (2014) 'GPR56 Inhibits Melanoma Growth by Internalizing and Degrading Its Ligand TG2', *Cancer Research*, 74(4), pp. 1022-1031.
- Yoo, J.-O., Lim, Y.-C., Kim, Y.-M. and Ha, K.-S. (2012) 'Transglutaminase 2 Promotes Both Caspase-dependent and Caspase-independent Apoptotic Cell Death via the Calpain/Bax Protein Signaling Pathway', *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(18), pp. 14377-14388.
- Young, S. J., Sang, S. I., Sun, B. C., Sang, C. E. and Hee, Y. W. 1995. Metastatic Potential of Human Colon Cancer Cell Lines, LoVo and SW480. Cancer Research and Treatment: J Korean Cancer Assoc.
- Zhang, X., Gaspard, J. P. and Chung, D. C. (2001) 'Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by the Wnt and K-ras pathways in colonic neoplasia', *Cancer Res*, 61(16), pp. 6050-4.
- Zhao, L., Liu, L., Wang, S., Zhang, Y. F., Yu, L. and Ding, Y. Q. (2007) 'Differential proteomic analysis of human colorectal carcinoma cell lines metastasis-associated proteins', *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 133(10), pp. 771-82.
- Zonca, S., Pinton, G., Wang, Z., Soluri, M. F., Tavian, D., Griffin, M., Sblattero, D. and Moro, L. (2017) 'Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) enables survival of human malignant pleural mesothelioma cells in hypoxia', *Cell Death Dis*, 8(2), pp. e2592.